
Annual Report and Accounts 2011/12

J1086 Christie Annual Report 2012 V17 edit.indd   1 19/06/2012   14:24





Presented to Parliament pursuant to Schedule 7,  
paragraph 25(4) of the National Health Service Act 2006 
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Report and Accounts 2011/12 





Contents

About us  6

Chairman and Chief Executive statement 7

Directors’ report

Composition of the board 8
Business review 9
Financial performance 2011/12 11
Quality accounts 16
Improving patient care 41
Patient and public involvement  42
Enhancing and expanding our research 44
Building our education 47
Sustainability 49
Christie staff 53
Christie values 56
Awards, accolades and accreditations 59
Key charity highlights 60

Governance

Membership 62
Council of governors 65
Board of directors 70
Code of governance 78
Remuneration report 80
Statement of accounting officer’s responsibilities 83
Annual governance statement 84
Independent auditor’s report to the council of  
governors of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 89

Accounts 2011/12

Foreword to the accounts 91
Financial statements 2011/12 92
Notes to the accounts 96

Appendices 130

Appendix one 131



6

About us Our story so far

The Christie’s story began many years ago – 1901, to be 
precise. We’ve achieved a huge amount in the time since 
then, each year bringing new faces, new challenges, and  
of course, new opportunities and possibilities. This report  
is the story of what we’ve achieved in the last 12 months 
and our plans for the year ahead.

As a leading cancer centre specialising 
in excellent patient care and world-
renowned research, we are proud to 
serve a population of 3.2 million across 
Greater Manchester and Cheshire. 
Based in Manchester, with radiotherapy 
centres in Oldham and now in Salford, 
we treat 40,000 patients every year - a 
quarter of which are referred to us 
from other parts of the country.

July 2011 was a special moment for us, 
as we opened our new radiotherapy 
centre in Salford. This centre now 
provides much-needed care, treatment 
and support for patients much closer 
to home. It is also equipped to deliver 
stereotactic radiosurgery, a highly 
specialised neurosurgical technique for 
brain cancers – one of only a handful 
of centres to do so in the UK.

We are renowned for our treatment, 
with one of the world’s largest 
radiotherapy departments, but we are 
proud to be a lot more than that. We 
offer support to patients and their 
families through palliative care and a 
wide range of support services, such as 
our wig room and complementary 
therapies. Thanks to our ongoing 
progress we continually receive strong 
recognition for our consistently high 
quality of care. In addition, our School 
of Oncology continues to offer 
expertise and attract additional 
income, enhancing our reputation as a 
leader in cancer education. We have a 
strong research programme and are 
proud of our numerous world-firsts 
throughout our 100 year history. 

As well as our 22,514 members, whose 
input is invaluable, we are fortunate 
enough to have more than 24,000 
active fundraisers, who help us 
continuously develop and fundraise an 
impressive £13 million a year. Not only 
is this a result of hard work from across 
our local communities and beyond, but 
also from larger supporters, such as 
Manchester United and more recently, 
JD Sports. We simply could not 
manage without the generous 
fundraising, donations and legacies. 
We see the positive impact it has on 
our patients every single day.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Statement Chairman and  
Chief Executive Statement

This annual report for 2011/12 echoes our achievements 
and the many challenges we have overcome. We have 
made significant steps forward in our areas of treatment, 
research and education, thanks to a collaborative and 
diligent effort from our staff.

As well as celebrating the progress so 
far, we have our sights on the future 
and with our 20:20 Vision engagement 
exercise completed we are now 
developing a strategy to deliver what 
our patients would like to see at The 
Christie. We will also be expanding  
our research potential following the 
approval of the Manchester Cancer 
Research Centre and increasing our 
educational facilities at the School of 
Oncology – two crucial elements in 
striving towards our vision of becoming 
a world leading cancer centre.    

We would like to take this opportunity 
to thank our partners, staff, governors, 
members, volunteers, patients, 
fundraisers and so many other groups 
we work with across both the Greater 
Manchester community and the UK.  

With the current economic 
environment and changes to the NHS, 
2012/13 will no doubt present its own 
challenges. However, with continued 
close working partnerships and loyal 
supporters, we are in a strong position 
to move forward into the next financial 
year.

We would also like to say a very 
special thank you to Jim Martin for 
his dedication during his time as 
chairman. 

His expertise and unfaltering 
commitment brought fresh, 
valuable insight to our board.    

We wish you all the best and thank 
you for your continued support. 

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley
Chairman

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
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Composition of the board Our organisation

The Directors’ report is presented on behalf of the directors 
who served on the board during the year. The composition 
of the board of directors during 2011/12 was as follows:
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Jim Martin (to 31st May 2011) 
Chairman

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley  
(from 1st June 2011) 
Chairman

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 

Executive directors

Dr Chris Harrison
Medical Director 

Roger Spencer
Chief Operating Officer and  
Deputy Chief Executive 

Ian Moston
Director of Finance and  
Business Development 

Jane Sykes (to 31st May 2011)
Acting Director of Nursing and 
Governance

Jackie Bird (from 1st June 2011)
Director of Nursing and Quality

Signed on behalf of  
the board of directors

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
28th May 2012

Non-executive directors  
(all considered by the board  
to be independent)

Lee Childs

Bill Farndon 
(Senior Non-executive Director)

Dame Jenni Murray 

Sir Duncan Nichol 
(Deputy Chairman)

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley  
(to 31st May 2011) 

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley

Dr Chris Harrison

Ian Moston

Lee Childs

Dame Jenni Murray

Caroline Shaw

Roger Spencer

Jackie Bird

Bill Farndon

Sir Duncan Nichol
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The following provides an overview of 
our achievements and the 
improvements we made for our 
patients during 2011/12:

Strategic objectives and milestones 
for 2011/12

 – improve clinical effectiveness to: 
further improve survival rates 
following radiotherapy and 
chemotherapy

 – improve inpatient survey experience 
by: further reducing on-the-day 
waiting times in outpatients, 
pharmacy and for chemotherapy

 – improve patient safety by: further 
improving door to needle times and 
maintaining our venous thrombo-
embolism assessment rates

Key achievements in 2011/12

 – achievement of more than 85% of 
our outpatients being seen within 
20 minutes of their appointment 
time

 – achievement of more than 45% of 
patients being treated with 
chemotherapy within 30 minutes

 – achievement of more than 80% of 
patients waiting no more than 20 
minutes for their prescriptions in 
pharmacy

 – we achieved excellent results in the 
Care Quality Commission national 
inpatient survey 2011 with 77% of 
answers in the top performing trusts 

category, we had no responses in 
the worst performing trusts 
category

 – admission of over 99.4% of 
appropriate emergency patients 
every month

 – achievement of 100% of patients 
no longer share mixed sex 
accommodation without justified 
reason

 – achievement of our quality goals 
agreed with our commissioners

 – achievement of all national cancer 
waiting times standards including 
the 62-day waiting times standard 
for Q3 and Q4 of 2011/12. In this 
pathway all patients come to us 
from other hospitals in the cancer 
network 

Managing effectively and quality 
of services

 – we achieved “excellent” or “good” 
ratings for over 93% of questions 
month on month in our monthly 
patient satisfaction survey

 – in 2011/12 we had no cases of 
MRSA bacteraemia

 – we have very low rates of infection 
for our patients while maintaining 
screening for MRSA to 100% of our 
inpatients

 – we achieved consistently low rates 
of clostridium difficile infection for 
our patients – with just three 
attributable cases compared with a 
maximum permitted number for the 
year of 22 attributable cases

Change is essential in any business, but it’s vital in our line  
of work. We all strive day in and day out to improve on 
every aspect of what we do, learning, understanding, 
changing and delivering. The more we improve, the better  
it is for our patients. 

Business review Our performance
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Access to treatments

 – we achieved all the national targets 
in 2011/12 including the 62-day 
target where we achieved full 
compliance in Q3 and Q4

 – we consistently achieved the target 
thresholds for patients to spend no 
longer than 18 weeks from referral 
to treatment

 – waiting times for routine 
computerised tomography (CT) and 
magnetic resonance (MR) diagnostic 
imaging have been consistently no 
more than two weeks throughout 
the year

Efficiency

 – reconfiguration of treatments to 
provide more appropriate care for 
outpatients in day case or outpatient 
settings, rather than in inpatient beds

 – maintaining an excellent financial 
risk rating

 – reducing drug wastage

Regulatory ratings

When assessing our performance for 
the period 2011/12 the independent 
regulator Monitor uses a risk rating 
scorecard for financial performance, 
governance and mandatory services:

 – Governance 
Monitor’s assessment of governance 
risk takes account of service 
performance, clinical quality and 
patient safety, risk and performance 
management arrangements, 
co-operation with partner 
organisation, membership and 
compliance with the statutory 
framework. Governance ratings are 
allocated on a traffic light system of 
green, amber green, amber red or 
red, where red is a high risk

 – Finance 
The financial indicators used to 
assess financial risk look at our 
achievement of plan, underlying 
performance, financial efficiency 
and liquidity. A scale of 1 – 5 is used 
for each ratio with 5 indicating the 
lowest risk and 1 the highest

The summary table shows the 
performance rating throughout the 
year and comparison to the prior year, 
with the expectation in our annual 
plan. 

In both 2010/11 and 2011/12 we 
declared a risk associated with 
achieving the national 62-day cancer 
target. Our performance in treating 
patients in a timely manner has not 
altered since Q1 of 2008/09 and the 
changes of rating reflect changes 
nationally to the method of 
measurement which adversely affect 
our performance. We have provided 
substantial evidence to support this 
position which has been accepted. 
Based on the adjustments with the 
implemented breach allocation policy 
commenced in Q3 of 2011/12, our 
rating from Q3 shows full compliance.

Risks declared in 2011/12

Financial 
risk rating

Governance risk 
rating

Annual plan 2011/12 4 Amber Green

Q1 2011/12 4 Amber Green

Q2 2011/12 4 Amber Green

Q3 2011/12 4 Green

Q4 2011/12 4 Green

Business review
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Financial highlights

Metric Actual Monitor rating

*EBITDA margin 8.0% 3

Achievement of 
EBITDA plan

121.1% 5

Return on assets 3.3% 3

I & E surplus margin 5.7% 5

Liquidity 81.2 days 5

Weighted average 4.1

A Monitor rating of 4 is a strong risk rating
* EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

Performance

This financial review analyses our performance for the financial year ended 31st 
March 2012.

For 2011/12, HM Treasury and Monitor applied a new accounting treatment to 
donated assets. NHS Foundation Trusts are required to apply the new policy 
retrospectively. The accounting change means that the income received towards 
the cost of donated or granted asset is recognised in income and that the 
donation reserve has been removed. 

The change in accounting treatment does not impact on our underlying financial 
performance, to reflect this we have represented our finances in the format in 
which we are assessed by Monitor for 2011/12.

It is important to remember that The Christie is essentially a 
business, and the success of that business has a direct impact 
on the wellbeing of our patients and staff. Every investment 
we make and every partnership we build needs to be 
carefully monitored, to ensure we take care of our business 
as well as we do our patients.

Our spendingFinancial performance 2011/12
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Financial performance 2011/12

£ million 2011/12  
actual

2010/11  
actual

Year on  
year change

Total income* 188.78 181.24 7.54

Total operating expenditure (excluding 
depreciation)

(169.90) (163.99) (5.91)

EBITDA 18.88 17.25 1.63

Profit or loss on disposal 0.34 (0.21) 0.55

Depreciation (9.00) (8.15) (0.85)

Dividend (2.14) (2.28) 0.14

Interest (0.78) (0.38) (0.40)

Share of Loss of Joint Ventures 
accounted for using the equity method 

3.58 (0.75) 4.33

Retained surplus (before 
exceptional item) 

10.88 5.48 5.40

Exceptional items** (9.91) (5.04) (4.87)

Retained surplus (before change in 
accounting policy)

0.97 0.44 0.53

Change in accounting treatment*** (4.26) 7.46 (11.72)

Retained (deficit) surplus (3.29) 7.90 (11.19)

The figures above are extracted from the audited annual accounts 
Figures differ on a line by line basis but agree in total

* Income excludes impact of change in accounting treatment i.e. includes  
 transfer donation reserve, excludes income from purchase of charity assets

** Exceptional items present building asset impairment for NHS and donated assets

*** Net impact of change in accounting treatment 
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Financial performance 2011/12

In line with previous years we have 
again achieved strong financial results 
for 2011/12. These results reflect 
increasing levels of activity and good 
cost control across all areas of the 
organisation. The results deliver an 
overall finance risk rating of 4.

A 4.4% increase in total revenues has 
been delivered with improved 
productivity and efficiency. This has 
meant we were able to generate a 
surplus of £10.88m before impairments 
and the change in accounting 
treatment, for reinvestment back into 
local facilities. 

Activity and income

Total clinical income increased by 
£3.6m over the last 12 months. This 
represents significant investment by 
our commissioners in additional cancer 
treatment for the population we serve 
and the safety and quality of care.

Value for money and improved 
efficiency

Our total operating expenses (excluding 
depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment) rose during the year to 
£169.9m. Of this £92.6m was spent on 
staffing, ensuring we continued to 
attract and retain over 201 doctors, 
621 nurses, 524 scientific, technical 
and therapeutic staff and 175 other 
health professionals, as well as 712 
support staff. 

Over 22.5% of our total operating 
expenses (excluding depreciation) was 
spent on chemotherapy and other 
cancer treatment drugs and has helped 
ensure our patients continue to have 
access to the latest treatments. 

The £9.9m surplus was achieved by 
delivering £6.15m of efficiency savings. 
These have been achieved through a 
combination of quality led service 
change, improved productivity, 
reduction in corporate overheads, 
improved procurement and a reduction 
in wastage.

In delivering our key services we have a 
number of material contracts with the 
Department of Health and 
organisations for which it is the parent 
body, and The University of 
Manchester. 

Joint Venture

The Christie Clinic LLP was formed on 
the 15 September 2010, and is a joint 
venture partnership with HCA 
(Healthcare America) for the provision 
of private oncology activity.

The in year profit reported of £3.578m 
is an accumulation of the 2011/12 
annual profits plus arrears from the 
previous period (as per the terms of the 
LLP membership agreement). This is a 
significant movement from the position 
reported in the 2010/11 accounts 
where due to one off set up costs The 
Christie Clinic reported a loss of which 
the Trust took 49% (as per the terms 
of the LLP) into its accounts.

The improvement in position is due to 
increased activity and case mix 
together with improved tariff from 
private medical insurers.

Commercial income and private 
patient CAP

In accordance with our terms of 
authorisation, private patient income is 
capped at 9.4% of our total patient 
related income. In assessing compliance 
we have to consider the income 
received from The Christie Clinic for 
services the Trust has provided via 
service level agreements. We have 
remained compliant for 2011/12 with 
private patient income of 7.6%.

Charitable funding

We are fortunate to be supported in 
our activities by The Christie Charitable 
Fund. These funds are administered by 
a separate charity and are reported in 
its separate annual report.

Over the past 12 months we spent 
£306k on capital projects from 
charitable grants and we received a 
charitable revenue contribution of 
£6.4m to enable us to enhance our 
services. Further information on 
contributions from the charity is 
provided on page 60.

Prudential borrowing limit

Monitor sets an annual prudential 
borrowing limit by reference to a 
number of key financial ratios. This is 
the maximum amount we can borrow. 
This year we have utilised £21.2m 
borrowing which is in line with our 
plans at the start of the year. 
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Financial performance 2011/12

Capital investment

Over the past year we invested £9.1m 
in maintaining and improving our 
services and facilities. 

This includes completing work on our 
new radiotherapy centre in Salford, 
completion of our expansion to theatre 
capacity, and investment in our existing 
equipment and facilities to ensure they 
remain safe and up to date.

Investment NHS Funded £m Donated £m Total £m

Land 0.00 0.00 0.00

Building 4.06 -0.66 3.40

Dwellings 0.00 0.00 0.00

Asset under construction 3.26 0.00 3.26

Plant and machinery 1.09 0.66 1.75

IT Equipment 0.36 0.31 0.67

Total 8.78 0.31 9.08

Cashflow and balance sheet

We ended the year with a cash and 
investments balance of £39.4m. This is 
an increase on the previous year end of 
£18.2m and in line with our cashflow 
plan and continued capital investment.

Trading environment and financial 
risks

Whilst we have continued to maintain 
a healthy financial position during 
2011/12, there have continued to be 
significant changes over the last 12 
months in the external economic and 
political environment, which have 
significantly impacted on our plans for 
2012/13 and beyond.

The implications for lower growth in 

health spending are continuing to be 
seen with a tariff deflator of 1.5% for 
2012/13. Although pay increases are 
frozen for a further year we continue 
to feel the impact of rising prices 
particularly for new drugs and energy. 
Plans for future years are taking this 
into account.

There has again been changes 
introduced nationally into the pricing 
structure for our patient treatment 
income. Our commissioners are all 
experiencing a greater degree of 
financial pressure and uncertainty as 
the full impact of the NHS White Paper 
‘Equity and excellence – liberating the 
NHS’ takes affect and we move to a 
new commissioning regime. Using the 
principle of fair balance of risk and 

reward, we have sought to establish 
solutions which mitigate this risk for all 
parties. This enables us to manage the 
impact on services and agree contracts 
ahead of national deadlines.

Having agreed contracts with all our 
main commissioners before 31st March 
2012, our key risks for next year link 
directly to our ability to control our cost 
base and deliver agreed activity. 

Beyond April 2013 possible changes to 
national tariffs for chemotherapy and 
radiotherapy treatments, signalled in 
the 2012/13 operating framework, 
brings significant uncertainties to a 
large proportion of our future 
revenues. Our ambitious three year 
efficiency programme is a key 
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Financial performance 2011/12

mechanism for mitigating these and 
other risks. To ensure we deliver 
effectively against this we have 
invested in a programme management 
office which will support the entire 
organisation.

Our partnership with HCA International 
Ltd in The Christie Clinic LLP continues 
to achieve our initial planning 
assumptions and our forward plans 
anticipate further growth, our share of 
which will allow greater support for 
NHS services. We have also been 
successful in our bid to become one of 
two national providers of proton beam 
therapy. This will bring significant 
additional investment into the local 
health system and significantly expand 
our service base.

Going concern

After making enquiries the directors 
have a reasonable expectation that the 
Trust has adequate resources to 
continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason they 
continue to adopt the going concern 
basis in preparing the accounts.

External audit services

The council of governors approved the 
appointment of the Audit Commission 
as the Trust’s external auditors from 1st 
April 2010 for a period of three years. 
We incurred £64,000 in audit service 
fees in relation to the statutory audit of 
our accounts for the period ending 

31st March 2011. Due to the 
disolvement of the Audit Commission 
we are in the process of appointing 
new external auditors with effect from 
the 1st of October 2012.

Non-audit services provided by the 
auditor

The Audit Commission provides 
non-audit services in limited 
circumstances in accordance with a 
policy recommended by the audit 
committee and approved by the 
council of governors. Auditor 
objectivity and independence is 
safeguarded for any non-audit services 
provided by the auditor by limiting the 
fees arising from such work in any one 
year to £30,000 and ensuring that 
different auditors carry out the work. 

Countering fraud and corruption

The board of directors attaches 
significant importance to the issue of 
fraud and corruption and has 
continued its increased investment 
during the year. Reported concerns 
have been investigated by our local 
counter fraud specialists in liaison with 
the NHS Counter Fraud and Security 
Management Service and the police as 
necessary.

We work hard to maintain an anti-
fraud culture and have a range of 
policies and procedures to minimise 
risk in this area. A number of events 
were held over the year to highlight 

how staff can raise concerns and 
suspicions and over 800 staff, including 
all staff recruited during the year, have 
received an appropriate fraud 
awareness session.

Statutory framework 

This is the fifth set of annual financial 
results prepared since we became a 
foundation trust on 1st April 2007. 
Consistent with our statutory status, 
these accounts have been prepared 
under a direction issued by the 
independent regulator Monitor. In 
producing our financial statements 
there is no relevant information which 
has not been brought to the auditor’s 
attention so far as the directors are 
aware.

In undertaking NHS business 
transaction the Trust has complied with 
the cost allocation and charging 
requirement set out in HM Treasury 
and Office of Public Sector Information 
Guidance.
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Quality accounts

Statement of directors’ 
responsibilities

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) 
Regulations 2010 as amended to 
prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. 

Monitor has issued guidance to NHS 
foundation trust boards on the form 
and content of annual quality reports 
(which incorporate the above legal 
requirements) and on the 
arrangements that foundation trust 
boards should put in place to support 
the data quality for the preparation of 
the quality report. 

In preparing the quality report, 
directors are required to take steps to 
satisfy themselves that: 
 – the content of the quality report 

meets the requirements set out in 
the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual 2011/12; 

 – the content of the quality report is 
not inconsistent with internal and 
external sources of information 
including: 
 – board minutes and papers for the 
period April 2011 to May 2012 

 – papers relating to quality reported 
to the board over the period April 
2011 to May 2012 

 – feedback from the NHS Greater 
Manchester PCT cluster dated 
May 2012

 – feedback from governors dated 
April 2012 

 – feedback from LINks dated May 
2012 

 – the Trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 of 

the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 
2009, dated April 2012; 

 – the national patient survey April 
2011 

 – the national staff survey March 
2011

 – the Head of Internal Audit’s 
annual opinion over the Trust’s 
control environment dated April 
2012 

 – CQC quality and risk profiles 
dated April 2012 

 – the quality report presents a 
balanced picture of the NHS 
foundation trust’s performance over 
the period covered; 

 – the performance information 
reported in the quality report is 
reliable and accurate; 

 – there are proper internal controls 
over the collection and reporting of 
the measures of performance 
included in the quality report, and 
these controls are subject to review 
to confirm that they are working 
effectively in practice; 

 – the data underpinning the measures 
of performance reported in the 
quality report is robust and reliable, 
conforms to specified data quality 
standards and prescribed definitions, 
is subject to appropriate scrutiny and 
review; and the quality report has 
been prepared in accordance with 
Monitor’s annual reporting guidance 
(which incorporates the quality 
accounts regulations) (published at 
www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual) as well as 
the standards to support data 
quality for the preparation of the 
quality report (available at www.
monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/
annualreportingmanual). 

We’re constantly doing our best to improve life at The 
Christie. Day to day, month to month, year to year. By 
monitoring what we do and how we do it, patients can be 
sure their best interests are always being looked after and 
confident that there’s nothing standard about our standards.
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Quality accounts

The directors confirm to the best of 
their knowledge and belief they have 
complied with the above requirements 
in preparing the quality report. 

By order of the board 

Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley
Chairman 
28th May 2012

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2012

Independent auditor’s report to 
the council of governors of The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust on 
the annual quality report 

I have been engaged by the council of 
governors of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust to perform an 
independent assurance engagement in 
respect of The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality report for the year ended 
31st March 2012 (the “quality report”) 
and certain performance indicators 
contained therein. 

Scope and subject matter 

The indicators for the year ended 31st 
March 2012 subject to limited 
assurance consist of the national 
priority indicators as mandated by 
Monitor: 
 – clostridium difficile; and 
 – maximum waiting times of 62 days 

from urgent GP referral to first 
treatment for all cancers

I refer to these national priority indicators 
collectively as the “indicators”. 

Respective responsibilities of the 
directors and auditors 

The directors are responsible for the 
content and the preparation of the 
quality report in accordance with the 
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued 
by the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

My responsibility is to form a 
conclusion, based on limited assurance 
procedures, on whether anything has 
come to my attention that causes me 
to believe that: 
 – the quality report is not prepared in 

all material respects in line with the 
criteria set out in the NHS 

Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual; 

 – the quality report is not consistent in 
all material respects with the sources 
specified in section 2.1 of Monitor’s 
Detailed Guidance for External 
Assurance on Quality Reports 
2011/12

 – the indicators in the quality report 
identified as having been the subject 
of limited assurance in the quality 
report are not reasonably stated in 
all material respects in accordance 
with the NHS Foundation Trust 
Annual Reporting Manual and the 
six dimensions of data quality set out 
in the Detailed Guidance for External 
Assurance on Quality Reports

I read the quality report and consider 
whether it addresses the content 
requirements of the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual, and 
considered the implications for my 
report if I became aware of any 
material omissions.

I read the other information contained 
in the quality report and consider 
whether it is materially inconsistent 
with: 
 – board minutes for the period April 

2011 to April 2012; 
 – papers relating to quality reported 

to the board over the period April 
2011 to April 2012; 

 – feedback from the commissioners 
dated May 2012; 

 – feedback from governors dated 
April 2012

 – feedback from LINks dated May 
2012

 – the Trust’s complaints report 
published under regulation 18 of 
the Local Authority Social Services 
and NHS Complaints Regulations 
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Quality accounts

2009 dated April 2012; 
 – the national patient survey dated 

April 2011; 
 – the national staff survey dated 

March 2011; 
 – Care Quality Commission quality 

and risk profiles dated April 2012; 
 – the Head of Internal Audit’s annual 

opinion over the trust’s control 
environment dated April 2012; and 

 – any other information included in 
our review

I consider the implications for my 
report if I become aware of any 
apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with those documents 
(collectively the “documents”). My 
responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information. 

I am in compliance with the applicable 
independence and competency 
requirements of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics. My 
team comprised assurance practitioners 
and relevant subject matter experts.

This report, including the conclusion, 
has been prepared solely for the 
council of governors of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to 
assist the council of governors in 
reporting The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust’s quality agenda, performance 
and activities. I permit the disclosure of 
this report within the Annual Report 
for the year ended 31st March 2012, to 
enable the council of governors to 
demonstrate that it has discharged its 
governance responsibilities by 
commissioning an independent 
assurance report in connection with 
the indicators. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, I do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other 

than the council of governors as a 
body and The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust for my work or this report save 
where terms are expressly agreed and 
with my prior consent in writing.

Assurance work performed 

I conducted this limited assurance 
engagement in accordance with 
International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 (Revised) – 
‘Assurance Engagements other than 
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information’ issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards 
Board (‘ISAE 3000’). My limited 
assurance procedures included: 
 – evaluating the design and 

implementation of the key processes 
and controls for managing and 
reporting the indicators; 

 – making enquiries of management; 
 – testing key management controls; 
 – limited testing, on a selective basis, 

of the data used to calculate the 
indicator back to supporting 
documentation; 

 – comparing the content requirements 
of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual to the categories 
reported in the Quality Report; and 

 – reading the documents listed above

A limited assurance engagement is less 
in scope than a reasonable assurance 
engagement. The nature, timing and 
extent of procedures for gathering 
sufficient appropriate evidence are 
deliberately limited relative to a 
reasonable assurance engagement.

Julian Farmer
Officer of the Audit Commission
28th May 2012
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Quality report 

Part 1: Statement on quality from 
the Chief Executive 

Everything we do at The Christie is 
directed at providing the best quality 
care that we possibly can. I am 
therefore delighted to introduce our 
quality accounts, building on the 
document that we produced last year. 

We have a strong track record of 
publishing data on quality through our 
monthly integrated quality and 
performance report, which contains 
information on each of the three 
components of quality: patient 
experience, safety and effectiveness of 
services. This annual account shows 
the progress we have made over the 
past 12 months and our aspirations for 
the future. 

Through the hard work of all our staff 
we achieved all the national targets in 
2011/12 other than the 62-day target 
for which we have declared partial 
compliance for Q1 and Q2 and full 
compliance for Q3 and Q4, following 
agreement of a Greater Manchester 
and Cheshire Cancer Network 
(GMCCN) automatic reallocation 
policy. During the year we reported our 
rating by the Care Quality Commission, 
as excellent for both quality of care and 
use of resources. We were once again 
one of the top scoring trusts for quality 
of care achieving excellent results and 
performing even better than last year 
in the National Inpatient Survey. 

In addition to the national targets, we 
set ourselves some extremely 
challenging local objectives including 
changing our outpatients service so 
that 9 out of 10 patients wait less than 

20 minutes from their appointment 
time to being seen, 45% of patients 
will wait no longer than 30 minutes for 
their chemotherapy and 80% of 
patients will wait less than 20 minutes 
in pharmacy for simple prescriptions. 
We have achieved these local targets, 
although over the coming year we 
want to reduce these waiting times 
further. 

We have been reporting information 
on the effectiveness and clinical 
outcomes of our care in our monthly 
performance reports for over two 
years. This is a developing area in 
which we believe that we are leading 
in the cancer field by making data 
public. We intend to continue these 
developments, demonstrating the role 
of The Christie in providing effective 
therapy against the background of 
poor general health and a higher 
incidence of cancer across the network 
of communities that we serve. Last 
year saw the publication of the 
national cancer outcomes framework 
and we are collecting data within this 
framework. This outcome data has 
been published during 2011/12 in our 
monthly reports and quality accounts 
for the full year. 

After the successful opening of our 
radiotherapy centre in Oldham in 
March 2010, giving people specialist 
care much closer to home, we opened 
our second centre in Salford in July 
2011. This addressed one of our quality 
objectives by making services available 
more locally. 

Our statistics show that we provide 
high quality care and we want to 
maintain this position. However, it is 
the voices of patients that really make 

the difference both in assuring us that 
we get it right most of the time, but 
more importantly letting us know 
when we get it wrong and allowing us 
to make changes. We are extremely 
grateful to the many people who as 
governors, members, patient 
representatives or as patients take the 
time to support and advise us. 

The board of directors is strongly 
committed to building on our existing 
high standards of quality. We aim to 
maintain our reputation for excellence 
throughout the coming years, 
especially when the additional 
resources available to the NHS next 
year will be very limited. The board has 
a quality assurance committee which 
scrutinises and monitors our quality 
programmes. Further assurance is 
given by our governors’ quality 
committee through which our council 
of governors supports and advises on 
current quality and priorities for the 
future. 

We are continually striving to improve 
our care and welcome feedback. The 
support and commitment of all of our 
stakeholders is vital to us in 
maintaining and building on our 
current achievements. 

I have great pleasure in presenting this 
report to you and to certify the 
accuracy of the data it contains. 

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
28th May 2012



20

Quality accounts

Part 2: Priorities for improvement 
and statements of assurance from 
the board 

Our quality priorities for 2011/12 
and 2012/13

In 2011/12 we set ourselves three 
priorities for quality improvement: 

1. Improve clinical effectiveness to: 
further improve survival rates 
following radiotherapy and 
chemotherapy

2. Improve inpatient survey 
experience by: further reducing 
on-the-day waiting times in 
outpatient, pharmacy and for 
chemotherapy

3. Improve patient safety by: further 
improving door to needle times and 
maintaining our venous thrombo-
embolism assessment rates

Our priorities for improving quality in 
2012/13 have been agreed by the 
board of directors as part of our 
corporate objectives for the year, within 
the overarching context of our quality 
framework. They will be monitored by 
the board of directors through the 
board assurance framework. 

These objectives are based on the 
milestones set out in our five year 
strategy and bring together national 
policy with internal clinical priorities, as 
well as the feedback from stakeholders 
(clinicians, commissioners, local 
authorities, universities, cancer network) 
obtained in our regular external 
stakeholder audit. They also reflect 
discussions held with our governors at 
the council meetings, sub-group 
meetings and a seminar during 
preparation of the five year strategy. 

Our key quality objectives for 2012/13 
are as follows:

1. Improve the quality of clinical 
correspondence to all stakeholders, 
(GPs, A&E departments) promoting 
the use of the clinical portal 

2. Reducing patient harm by 
reducing preventable grade 2 
pressure ulcers developed in hospital 
by 50% and implementing full root 
cause analysis for grade 2, 3 and 4 
pressure ulcers

3. Working towards implementation 
and embedding the gold standards 
framework (GSF) for end of life

Statements of assurance from the 
board

Review of services

During 2011/12 The Christie provided 
12 NHS clinical services:

1. Critical care
2. Haematology and transplantation
3. Surgery
4. Endocrinology
5. Clinical oncology
6. Medical oncology
7. Chemotherapy
8. Radiotherapy including IMRT  

and IGRT
9. Young oncology
10. Radiology
11. Pathology
12. Christie medical physics engineers

The Christie has reviewed all the data 
available to them on the quality of care 
in 12 of these NHS services. This takes 
place through monthly performance 
reviews and at our management risk 
committee. The board of directors 
review the information each month 

and annually spends a day undertaking 
an in-depth review of all services. 

The income generated by the NHS 
services reviewed in 2011/12 represents 
100% of the total income generated 
from the provision of NHS services by 
The Christie for 2011/12.

Participation in clinical audits and 
confidential enquiries

During 2011/12, ten national clinical 
audits and two national confidential 
enquiries covered NHS services that 
The Christie provides.

During that period The Christie 
participated in 10/10 (100%) national 
clinical audits and 100% national 
confidential enquiries of the national 
clinical audits and national confidential 
enquiries which it was eligible to 
participate in. 

The national clinical audits and national 
confidential enquiries that The Christie 
participated in, and for which data 
collection was completed during 
2011/12, are listed below alongside the 
number of cases submitted to each 
audit or enquiry as a percentage of the 
number of registered cases required by 
the terms of that audit or enquiry. 
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1. NBOCAP - National bowel cancer 
audit 
2. LUCADA – National lung cancer 
data audit 
3. DAHNO - National head and neck 
cancer audit 
4. NOCA – National oesophageal 
cancer audit (AUGIS)
5. ICNARC - Intensive care national 
audit and research centre case mix 
programme 
6. NCAA – National cardiac arrest audit
7. NCABT (BTP) – National comparative 
audit blood transfusion – bedside 
transfusion practice
8. NCABT (UPH) – National 
comparative audit blood transfusion 
– use of platelets in haematology
9. NCABT (MURBC) – National 
comparative audit blood transfusion 
– medical use of red blood cells
10. BTS (EUO) – British thoracic society 
- emergency use of oxygen
11. NCDAH - Care of dying in hospital
12. NCEPOD (PC) - Perioperative care 
13. NCEPOD (CA) – Cardiac arrest

Outcomes of completed reports

The Christie clinical audit team has 
carried out a total of 102 audits in 
2011/12, these are outlined below: 

Action plans have been developed for 
two of the above audits where 
recommendations were given. See 
appendix one. The complete list of 
audits is available from the head of 
performance at:  
marie.hosey@christie.nhs.uk

Eligible Participated 
2011/12

Numbers 
submitted 
(eligible)

Percentage 
of eligible 
submitted

NBOCAP Yes Yes 49 (49) 100%

LUCADA Yes Yes 267 (267) 100%

DAHNO Yes Yes 125 (125) 100%

NOCA Yes Yes 17 (17) 100%

ICNARC Yes Yes 533 (533) 100%

NCAA Yes Yes 7 (7) 100%

NCABT (BTP) Yes Yes 50 (50) 100%

NCABT (UPH) Yes Yes 40 (40) 100%

NCABT (MURBC) Yes Yes 44 (44) 100%

BTS (EUO) Yes Yes 103 (103) 100%

NCDAH Yes Yes 46 (46) 100%

NCEPOD (PC) Yes Yes 32 (32) 100%

NCEPOD (CA) Yes Yes 0 (0) 100%

National audits required for quality reports 8

National audits (outside the National clinical audit patient outcomes 
programme)

4

Audits required for NHSLA risk management standards (CQC) 23

Audits required for commissioning for quality and innovation schemes 
(CQUINS)

3

Audits required to address key risks 2

Audits required to address local risks 15

Audits around quality and patient experience 8

Outcomes and involvement across disease groups, specialties and disciplines 21

Clinical and process effectiveness projects without standards to measure 18
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Participation in clinical research

The Christie has a long history of 
supporting research; this was 
recognised in 2007 with the creation of 
the research division. The Christie hosts 
the Greater Manchester and Cheshire 
Cancer Research Network (GMCCRN), 
which serves a population of 3.2 
million. This is the largest cancer 
research network in the country; the 
success of research is demonstrated by 
the growth of the number of patients 
in clinical trials. 

The number of patients receiving NHS 
services provided or sub-contracted by 
The Christie that were recruited during 
2011/12 to participate in research 
approved by a research ethics 
committee was 2,800. In addition, the 
GMCCRN is the highest recruiting 
cancer network.

Quality goals agreed with 
commissioners

A proportion of The Christie’s income 
in 2011/12 was conditional on 
achieving quality improvement and 

innovation goals agreed between The 
Christie and any person or body The 
Christie entered into a contract, 
agreement or arrangement with for 
the provision of NHS services, through 
the Commissioning for Quality and 
Innovation payment framework. 
Further details of the agreed goals for 
2011/12 and for the following 12 
month period are available online at: 
http://www.monitor-nhsft.gov.uk/sites/
all/modules/fckeditor/plugins/
ktbrowser/_openTKFile.php?id=3275. 
The total monetary amount received at 
the end of 2011/12 was £1,785,340.00. 

Goal 
Number

Indicator 
Number

Indicator Name Tolerance % Reporting 
Frequency

Performance

1 1 VTE assessment >=90 Monthly *96.8%

2 2 Patient experience - personal needs >=81.7 Annual pass

3 3 GP and community service engagement 100 Quarterly pass

3 4 GP and community evaluation >=60 Annual pass

4 5 Improved information flows 100 Quarterly pass

5 6 30 day mortality 100 Quarterly pass

5 7 Pelvic radiotherapy 100 Bi-annual pass

5 8 IMRT 100 Quarterly pass

5 15 Clinical outcome measures 100 Quarterly pass

6 9 Directory of care - audit 100 Annual pass

6 10 Directory of care - implementation 100 Bi-annual pass

7 11 BMT - transplant related mortality 100 Annual

pass
7 12 BMT - overall patient survival 100 Annual

7 13 BMT - patient questionnaires 100 Annual

7 14 BMT - quality of life assessment 100 Annual

8 16 Malnutrician - patient experience 100 Quarterly pass

8 16 Malnutrician - screening 100 Quarterly pass
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The Care Quality Commission’s 
view of The Christie

The Christie is required to register with 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
and its current registration status is 
registered to provide diagnostic and 
screening procedures, surgical 
procedures, and treatment of disease, 
disorder or injury. The Christie has no 
conditions on registration.

The Care Quality Commission has not 
taken any enforcement action against 
The Christie during 2011/12.  

The Christie is subject to periodic 
reviews by the Care Quality 
Commission and the last review was 
on 5th October 2011. The CQC’s 
assessment of The Christie following 
that review was that on inspection the 
CQC found that the Trust was 
compliant with the five standards it 
reviewed which were:
 – outcome 1: respecting and involving 

people who use services
 – outcome 4: care and welfare of 

people who use services
 – outcome 7: safeguarding people 

who use services from abuse
 – outcome 14: supporting services
 – outcome 16: assessing and 

monitoring the quality of service 
provision

The Christie has not participated in any 
special reviews or investigations by the 
CQC during the reporting period.

Data quality 

The Christie submitted records during 
2011/12 to the secondary uses service 
for inclusion in the hospital episode 
statistics which are included in the 
latest published data. 

Percentage of records in 
published data with 
patients valid NHS 
number

Percentage of records in 
published data with 
patients valid general 
medical practice code

Admitted patient care 99.9% 100%

Outpatient care 99.9% 100%

Accident and 
emergency care

Not applicable Not applicable

The Christie will be taking the 
following actions to improve data 
quality:
 – data quality reports for low level 

actions, which is sent twice weekly 
to all service managers. This is 
monitored and actioned by the 
weekly access meeting 

 – clinical outcomes group initiative – 
clinicians input and validate their 
own data 

 – EPR specification is worked up for 
full EPR provision to enable 
improvement of data quality 
throughout the Trust  

Information governance

The Christie achieved level 2 
compliance at 74% which is green and 
satisfactory for information governance 
and was submitted in March 2012. This 
also had an external quality assurance 
review for which we gained significant 
assurance.

In 2011/12 The Christie was subject to 
the Payment by Results clinical coding 
audit by the Audit Commission for 
admitted patients and outpatients. The 
error rates reported in the latest audit 
of 200 random cases from all services 
for admitted patient episodes for 
diagnosis and treatment coding (clinical 
coding) were 8.2% compared to 
national average error rate of 11.0% 
for 2009/10.
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Part 3: Review of quality 
performance in 2011/12

In February 2009 The Christie adopted 
a framework for quality reporting (see 
diagram) which provides for monthly 
quality accounts as part of our regular 
performance reports, as well as this 
annual document. The board of 
directors believes that quality of care, 
where possible, should be reported 
and scrutinised frequently so that 
adverse trends can be identified early. 

The monthly quality accounts for the 
Trust as a whole are reviewed at the 
management board with key senior 
clinical leaders, as well as the directors 
of research and education. Quality 
accounts for individual divisions are 
reviewed as part of the regular 
performance review meetings with the 
executive team. Any matters of 
concern are followed up either through 
the divisional meetings or through the 
risk committee chaired by the Chief 
Executive. 

The board’s Quality Assurance 
Committee is responsible for providing 
board assurance on these issues. 

Reports on quality of care are made to 
the council of governors meetings and 
a governor sub-committee on quality 
receives reports. The executive team 
regularly reviews the quality of care 
within the hospital through visits to 
clinical areas. Non-executives and 
governors also undertake regular visits 
to clinical areas to see at first hand the 
quality of care and environment and to 
hear directly from patients about their 
experience of the hospital. 
 
This section of our quality accounts 
draws on monthly performance reports 
and includes additional annual 
indicators for which annual reporting is 
appropriate. The data is drawn from 
regular surveys, audits or routine data 
systems that have been established to 
provide a focus on and assurance 
about quality of care. 

Patient experience

Satisfaction levels with care provided at 
The Christie are extremely high and all 
our efforts are directed towards 
ensuring the best possible experience 
for patients at a time of enormous 
stress and worry for them and their 
families. In 2011/12 we were one of the 
top rated trusts nationally for overall 
quality of care in the national patient 
survey. 

We take enormous pride in our 
environment and have received 
excellent ratings in the 2011/12 annual 
PEAT environmental inspection. We are 
highly rated in surveys for respecting 
our patients’ privacy and dignity. We 
have, for example, eliminated mixed 
sex accommodation with sharing of 
accommodation with members of the 
opposite sex only happening by 
exception based on clinical need (for 
example where patients need specialist 
care and intervention such as in the 
critical care unit).
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We place particular emphasis on the 
feedback received directly from 
patients and their families whether that 
be through our own patient surveys, 
complaints, the results of national 
surveys or other mechanisms. 

Against the general background of 
demonstrable high standards of patient 
experience we have included three 
indicators of patient experience: 
satisfaction as assessed through 

monthly patient surveys, complaints 
and on-the-day waiting times as these 
are key areas that we wish to monitor 
and improve on. These indicators have 
been selected as they monitor our 
number one objective of providing the 
best possible care and reflect the key 
concerns of the staff, the board of 
directors, our governors and members. 

Indicator 1 - Patient satisfaction 

We undertake monthly face-to-face 
surveys of 200 patients to assess 
satisfaction with their care. Each month 
throughout the year more than 91% of 
patients have assessed their experience 
as either excellent or good.
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Indicator 2 – Complaints

In 2010/11 The Christie received  
236 individual complaints. 
In 2011/12 The Christie received  
160 individual complaints.

The graphs and tables show the 
number of complaints received by each 
division on a monthly basis, (some 
complaints will cover more than one 
division and are therefore counted 
more than once).

2010/11: Complaints by division

Division Level 2 
complaints

Level 3 
complaints

Total

Network services 89 61 150

Clinical support services 36 17 53

Cancer centre services 19 16 35

Facilities 18 1 19
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2011/12: Complaints by division

Division Level 2 
complaints

Level 3 
complaints

Total

Network services 68 42 110

*Clinical support services 21 7 28

Cancer centre services 8 23 31

Facilities 6 2 8

*Information from April – December 2011 
This division merged with cancer centre  
services 01/01/2012
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2010/11: Complaints by type 

2011/12: Complaints by type
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Care and treatment were the most 
common issues raised. These have 
been reviewed and no trends have 
been identified. Responsiveness, 
including on-the-day waiting times, 
was the next most common concern 
raised. One area of the Trust where 
people experienced prolonged waits 
was the Oak Road Patient Treatment 
Centre. Work is ongoing to manage 
the issues and these waiting times are 
reducing.  

In 2011/12 we responded to 52 level 3 
complaints within the timescales 

agreed with the complainant. 

In 2011/12 two complaints were 
referred to the Parliamentary and 
Health Service Ombudsman (PHSO), 
but the PHSO was satisfied that the 
Trust had managed these complaints 
appropriately.

Indicator 3 – On-the-day  
waiting times

In 2011/12 we set ourselves a 
challenging target of ensuring that 
80% of outpatients were seen within 

20 minutes of their appointment time 
when attending The Christie. This 
would ensure a significantly better 
patient experience.   

The graphs show that we have 
achieved this target for waiting in the 
outpatient department. In 2011/12  
we set a quality objective to reduced 
pharmacy and chemotherapy waiting 
times. These targets have been met 
and are outlined below.
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Clinical effectiveness  
and outcomes

National and local clinical audits show 
that the care provided by The Christie 
is effective in prolonging life, and 
reducing the pain and distress 
associated with cancer and its 
treatment.

As described in our 2009/10 quality 
accounts outcomes such as mortality 
and complication rates after complex 
urological surgery, complex 
gynaecological surgery and complex 
colorectal surgery at The Christie have 
been reported to the board of directors 
and when published have set 
international benchmarks for standards 
of care. Similarly, outcomes of 
radiotherapy and chemotherapy for 
specific cancer types have shown care 
at The Christie to be of international 
standard. These results are published in 
professional journals and discussed at 

the Trust’s regular mortality and 
morbidity meetings. 

The board of directors receives a 
monthly presentation from a clinician 
describing the outcomes and 
effectiveness of the care that they 
provide. The board of directors also 
receives summary reports on the 
outcome measures. Reports are 
discussed at the quarterly morbidity 
and mortality meetings with the 
technical reports available to board 
members if required. 

Nationally published data shows that 
whilst one year survival rates (proxy for 
stage at presentation) in Greater 
Manchester are slightly lower than the 
national average five year survival rates 
(proxy for treatment quality) are not 
statistically different from the national 
average. 

We work in a part of the country 
where many people have poor general 
health including, for example, a higher 
rate of smoking related diseases such 
as cancer. In some parts of our cancer 
network, general practitioner and 
diagnostic services have been weak 
and it is only in the last five years that 
the type of specialist diagnostic and 
initial treatment teams that are needed 
for effective, early treatment have been 
formed. We therefore tend to see 
patients for treatment whose cancer is 
at a more advanced stage or who have 
other illnesses such as heart disease 
which prevents them from receiving 
the most effective, but potentially 
dangerous treatment. 

These factors show up in the one year 
survival rates published nationally and 
summarised in the table. They are a 
recognised proxy for timeliness of 
presentation and diagnosis.
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One year relative survival rates for 
all malignant neoplasms excluding 
non-melanoma skin cancer, 2004-
2008

Men 
(%)

Women 
(%)

All 
(%)

England 67.7 71.9 69.8

Greater 
Manchester 
and 
Cheshire

66.1 70.7 68.4

Lancashire 
and South 
Cumbria

66.8 70.0 68.4

Merseyside 
and 
Cheshire

66.7 69.8 68.2

Source: UKCIS, 2011

This shows that the difference between 
England and Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire Cancer Network is now only 
1.5% compared with 2.5% previously 
suggested and that differences within 
England have reduced. However, there 
is local evidence that the proportion of 
patients presenting with late stage 
disease in England is higher than in 
many other countries and so any 
measures that result in earlier diagnosis 
remain important. 

Our aim is to provide leadership within 
the cancer network to improve 
awareness of cancer symptoms and to 
support earlier local diagnosis, for 
example through supporting screening 
programmes. We are also hosting a 
project funded by Macmillan to 
promote early detection.

Five year relative survival – 
common causes

Cancer Site
Persons (%)

England GMCCN

Prostate 82.7 81.4

Bladder 55.7 54.2

Female Breast 83.7 83.8

Ovary 41.0 47.0

Cervix 68.7 66.5

Oesophagus 11.7 11.1

Stomach 16.3 16.2

Colorectal 53.0 52.2

Pancreas 3.5 5.1

Lung 8.0 8.4

Melanoma 87.0 85.8

Source: UKCIS, 2011

A similar picture is shown by looking at 
five year survival rates which are proxy 
for the effectiveness of treatment and 
an indicator of long term outcome. The 
table shows that for all cancer types 
the five year survival figures in Greater 
Manchester are similar to those for 
England as a whole. Differences 
between the figures do not reach 
statistical significance.

Our aim here is to work with the 
cancer network to ensure effective 
diagnostic, treatment and referral 
pathways to The Christie and to 
ensure, through our clinical audit and 
other mechanisms, that the treatment 
we provide meets best evidence based 
practice guidelines. 

As the cancer centre we have a 
responsibility to lead improvements in 
cancer services across the network and 
whilst both one year and five year 
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survival rates are the result of many 
factors other than the services provided 
by The Christie they are influenced by 
our services. We have the opportunity 
to support efforts at cancer prevention 
and earlier detection, as well as 
ensuring rapid diagnosis and referral 
when needed. 

It should be noted that the five year 
survival data shown in the table is the 
most recently available and shows an 
improvement on the data published in 
2010. In future years, we will show a 
trend over time.

Demonstrating that our treatments are 
effective is very important, as is 
demonstrating our contribution to 
improvements in cancer care across the 
cancer network. We have selected 
three indicators: the coverage of our 
clinical audit programme and two 
examples of outcome data available. 

Summary of core quality Indicators

NHS Outcomes 
Framework

Indicator The Christie 
performance 

2011/12

National 
average 

comparison

Helping people 
to recover from 
episodes of ill 
health or 
following injury

Emergency readmissions to 
hospital within 28 days of 
discharge

8% n/a

Ensuring that 
people have a 
positive 
experience of 
care

Percentage of staff who 
would recommend the 
provider to friends or family 
needing care

79% 70%

Treating and 
caring for people 
in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them 
from avoidable 
harm

Percentage of admitted 
patients risk-assessed for 
venous thromboembolism

96% 89%

Treating and 
caring for people 
in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them 
from avoidable 
harm

Rate of clostridium difficile 3 n/a

Treating and 
caring or people 
in a safe 
environment and 
protecting them 
from avoidable 
harm

Rate of patient safety 
incidents and percentage  
resulting in severe harm  
or death

2.2% n/a
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Indicator 1 – Clinical audit 
programme

Clinical audit of our services provides 
data on the effectiveness and 
outcomes of care directly provided by 
The Christie. The audit programme is 
approved by the quality committee and 
the outcomes of individual audits 
monitored by the clinical audit 
committee. 

In 2011/12 76 audits were completed 
across the divisions as shown in the 
table.

Division Number of 
completed 
audits in 2011/12

Cancer centre 
services

40

Networked 
services

25

Nursing and 
governance

8

Total 76

The results of these audits are 
described in the annual clinical audit 
report with data from some of these 
audits being reported to the board of 
directors. During the year we have 
improved our approach to clinical audit 
following an internal audit review. The 
clinical audit programme will in future 
provide data for publishing in our 
quality accounts.

Indicator 2 – Venous thrombo-
embolism assessment

Our aim is to increase the number of 
patients receiving a 
thromboprophylaxis assessment on 
admission to over 90%. By the end of 
2011/12 we had achieved above 90% 
for 11 consecutive months. This is 
presented monthly in the integrated 
performance report and is also 
uploaded nationally. 
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assessed admissions 659 654 339 585 432 737 773 773 854 789 836 852 736 863 783 846

total admissions 830 857 507 649 479 817 851 857 926 854 857 911 766 887 815 863

compliance 79.4% 76.3% 66.9% 90.1% 90.2% 90.2% 90.8% 90.2% 92.2% 92.4% 97.5% 93.5% 96.1% 97.3% 96.1% 98.0%

target 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90%

VTE assessment of admitted patients

Quality accounts
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Indicator 3 – Door to needle times

This was a new indicator introduced 
during 2010/11 to provide a baseline 
assessment of the management of 
neutropenic septicaemia accuracy to 
the Trust’s protocols. Patients who 
have had treatment for cancer may 
develop this complication and require 
urgent treatment with antibiotics. 
During 2010/11 the aim was to 
establish the current position so that 
improvements can be made in 2011/12. 
Of the patients fitting the clinical 
criterion in 2010/11 audits show that 
80% receive antibiotics within two 
hours. Our aim is to increase the 
proportion of patients receiving 
antibiotics to within one hour. 

Safety

To demonstrate the safety of our 
services we have selected three 
indicators of patient safety: 
1. MRSA infections
2. Clostridium difficile infections
3. Untoward incidents report
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Indicator 1 – Healthcare acquired 
infections: MRSA

We have low levels of healthcare 
acquired infections despite the 
particular vulnerability of many of our 
patients to infections as a result of their 
disease and treatment. Low rates of 
healthcare acquired infections indicate 
high standards of cleanliness, hygiene, 
antibiotic use and other measures to 
prevent cross-infection. 

Indicator 1 – MRSA bacteraemia

In 2010/11 we had zero cases of MRSA 
bacteraemia as compared with an 
acceptable maximum threshold of 6. 
In 2011/12 we had zero cases of MRSA 
bacteraemia as compared with an 
acceptable maximum threshold of 1.

Indicator 1 – MRSA % appropriate 
elective patients screened

In 2011/12 we screened 100% of 
appropriate elective patients for MRSA.
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Indicator 2 – Healthcare acquired 
infections: Clostridium Difficile

In 2011/12 we had three attributable 
cases of clostridium difficile infection 
(CDI) compared with an acceptable 
maximum threshold of 22 attributable 
cases (i.e. cases considered to have 
developed while an inpatient).  

There were a further nine attributable 
cases that upon full root cause analysis 
were deemed as not attributable to 

The Christie which has been agreed by 
our commissioners. There were 33 
cases that were identified on admission 
or pre 72 hours of admission and are 
therefore not attributable. The 
maximum impact of infection is an 
outbreak of clostridium difficile of 
which the Trust has had none. All cases 
of CDI are sent for ribotyping which 
has demonstrated that there have been 
no instances of cross infection 
indicating high standards of infection 
prevention and control in the hospital.

Each case of CDI is subjected to a 
rigorous review and root cause 
analysis. This has demonstrated that 
each attributable case of CDI was 
induced by the specialist treatment 
provided at The Christie. These 
treatments make our patients 
extremely susceptible to CDI. In order 
to reduce the number of infections 
further we would need to change our 
cancer treatments, making successful 
treatment less likely.
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Indicator 3 – Untoward incidents

We have a strong system of untoward 
incident reporting and review, which 
enables us to identify underlying 
problems and to learn from events, 
thereby preventing recurrence. 

In addition to our internal system we 
report patient safety events to the 
National Patient Safety Agency. 
Comparison of our reporting practices 
with those of trusts in the same cluster 
shows that we have high levels of 
reporting but low levels of patient 
harm, indicating appropriate culture of 
reporting and learning within the 
organisation. 

Our reporting rate is approximately one 
per ten hospital admissions which 
indicates appropriate levels when 
compared with similar trusts. This 
indicates particularly good reporting 
and learning from near misses.

All reported incidents are investigated 
with the level of investigation 
commensurate with the incident grade. 
All incidents with an impact grade of 3 
and above, out of a maximum of 5, are 
reported on a weekly basis to the 
executive team. These incidents are 
triaged by an executive review team 
consisting of the executive director of 
nursing, the deputy medical director, 

the deputy director of nursing and  
the head of safety and risk, and a  
root cause analysis is then presented  
to this review group. The same process 
is followed for complaints and any 
concerning ongoing trend of incidents 
of any grade.

We also review our systems and 
processes in the light of incidents that 
have happened at other trusts as well 
as learning from national reports in 
order to ensure that a similar incident 
will not happen at The Christie.
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Performance against key national 
priorities

In 2011/12 The Christie achieved all 
national targets as set out in the 
compliance framework with the 
exception of the 62-day target,  
in which we achieved compliance  
from Q3 onwards. 

Compliance for the 62-day target was 
achieved from Q3 due to an agreed 
automatic breach reallocation policy 
across GMCCN. 

The Christie internal target in line with 
the 62-day target continues to ensure 
that our own internal performance 

improves, regardless of which day the 
patient arrives to us on the pathway. 
The target has been increased to 85% 
of all referrals received to treatment 
within 31 days from receipt of the 
referral form. The charts demonstrate 
that The Christie continually meets 
these targets.
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Improving patient care Our no.1 priority

Patient care is our number one priority. We’re incredibly 
proud of our world-class treatment, and giving patients the 
personal care and attention they deserve makes a massive 
difference. We’re delighted at the high praise we receive 
from nearly everyone who steps through our doors, but we 
know there’s always room for improvement.

The Salford centre is one way we have 
carried out such improvements, by 
bringing treatment closer to our 
patients’ homes. Opened in July 2011, 
it not only treats common cancers like 
prostate and breast, but is also a 
specialist centre of excellence for brain 
conditions which includes stereotactic 
radiosurgery.

We want to get our quality of care just 
right and talking to our patients is 
integral to doing just that. Despite 
consistently receiving high scores from 
national surveys on patient care, we 
decided to find out for ourselves so 
had the first Christie ‘One Day Every 
Patient’ event earlier this year. This 
involved the nurses going round the 
hospital interviewing every patient who 
was well enough to be interviewed. 
Questions included ‘what could we do 
better?’ and ‘what did we do well?’ 

Based on the success of the first one, 
this is to be repeated this summer. 

Another new initiative we have 
introduced is our senior nurse walk 
rounds, which happen on a monthly 
basis. Instead of meeting in a board 
room with agendas and papers, we go 
onto the wards, observe practice and 
get direct feedback. For each walk 
round we focus on a different aspect 
of care, for example, privacy and 
dignity.  

Last month’s senior nurse walk round 
started at 4am. It focused on noise 
levels at night and our responsibility to 
promote sleep. We investigated 
everything from the footwear, to 
phone volume and door hinges, and 
we also talked to the night staff for 
their thoughts. So many elements 
make up excellent quality of care and 
we always aim to address every single 
one of them.
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We are committed to involving and 
informing both patients and the public 
on every aspect of our service. As part 
of this commitment, we promise to do 
the following:
 – provide an extensive range of 

information to patients
 – recruit, inform and engage with our 

members
 – have a council of governors which 

has representatives from our public 
members

 – hold quarterly council of governors 
meetings in public

 – keep interested members of the 
public well informed of 
developments and news through 
our website, the media and other 
communication channels

 – have a Freedom of Information (FOI) 
lead officer for all enquiries under 
the Freedom of Information Act

 – hold our regular board of directors 
meetings in public

 – publicise our complaints procedure 
on our website and ensure that 
investigation of any complaint is 
thorough and prompt

 – pursue an open and positive 
relationship with the media

20:20 Vision

We launched the public engagement 
element of 20:20 Vision strategy 
development at our Annual Members’ 
Meeting in September 2011. Since then 
we have received over 2,500 responses 
from stakeholders such as staff, 
patients and members of the public. 
Through questionnaires, via the web  
or by attending public engagement 
meetings, interested parties have 
voiced their opinions on how they 
would like The Christie to be in the 
year 2020. As a result of these views, 
we are currently developing the 
strategy that will guide everything we 
do between now and 2020. We are 
confident that this will help us to 
achieve our vision of becoming a  
world leading cancer centre. The  
new strategy will be announced at  
the Annual Members’ Meeting on 
September 13th 2012.

We know that standing still is not an 
option, and our public engagement 
process has been partly in response to 
proposed NHS changes. We want to 
further develop and improve Christie 
services in order to remain strong in 
this present difficult economic climate 
and beyond. We know the future will 
be challenging, and we want to ensure 
that we are prepared and can respond 
to any challenges in the interests of our 
patients, staff and members of the 
public.

We know that the proposed Health 
and Social Care Bill recommends that 
the NHS should be even more 
accountable to patients and the public. 
We also know that as the NHS 
landscape changes, there will be 

We go to great lengths to protect the privacy of our patients 
at The Christie, but we also do our best to publicise what 
we’re trying to achieve. Through an open relationship with 
stakeholders, staff, patients and members of the public we 
can help them understand what we’re doing, and they can 
help us devise new strategies to take us forward.

Our engagementPatient and public involvement
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increased competition leading to wider 
patient choice and new entrants into 
the provider market. We therefore 
need to ensure that we continue to 
strengthen and develop as an 
organisation in order to maximise the 
opportunities brought by the NHS 
changes.

Our public engagement exercise has 
reflected the importance we attach to 
securing the best possible services for 
our patients.

It has involved governor public 
engagement meetings in each 
constituency, a programme of visits  
to shopping centres around The 
Christie region, meetings with 
stakeholders, and questionnaires  
via our website. Our key stakeholders 
include MPs, local councillors, our  
NHS colleagues in a wide range  
of NHS organisations as well our 
research and education partners.

Freedom of information and  
data protection

Whilst we actively encourage openness 
and transparency about our services 
and developments, we also employ 
rigorous methods of ensuring patient 
confidentiality and data protection. 
Fortunately, independent audits have 
confirmed that we have clear systems 
and processes in place to manage data 
protection and all Freedom of 
Information requests. During the  
year there were no serious incidents 
involving data loss or a breach of 
confidentiality.
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This has been a very productive year 
for cancer research in Manchester;  
the early phase unit is enabling more 
patients than ever to participate in 
clinical trials. The new inpatient unit 
was opened in September 2011 and 
houses six overnight beds allowing 
trials that require an overnight stay  
to be carried out in the same location. 
During this year the Trust recruited  
over 2,800 patients into trials and 
other clinical studies. This is the first 
time that so many patients have had 
the opportunity to contribute to our 
research and the development of  
new and improved therapies. 

The Trust leads the cancer theme 
within the Manchester Academic 
Health Science Centre (MAHSC) and 
continues to work well with the 
Manchester Cancer Research Centre 
(MCRC), which is our research 
partnership with The University of 
Manchester and Cancer Research UK. 
The MCRC has continued to develop 
its world-class research programme 
and plans to develop a state-of-the-art 
research building to increase laboratory 
research accommodation, and research 
administration accommodation, so that 
we can employ more cancer 
researchers on The Christie site in  
the future.

The research division is responsible for 
the development and implementation 
of the research strategy, and the 
management of all staff and facilities 
associated with research. The division is 
staffed by a broad range of disciplines 
which include clinical research nurses, 
radiographers, statisticians and 
administrators. The research facilities 

include a Phase I clinical trials unit, a 
clinical trials co-ordination unit and a 
dedicated radiotherapy research centre. 
The Greater Manchester and Cheshire 
Research Network and the Manchester 
Cancer Research Centre Biobank also 
report into the division.

Clinical trials coordination 

It is often necessary to recruit patients 
from a number of hospitals in order for 
the study to be completed in a timely 
manner. The trials coordination unit is 
responsible for the coordination of 
these studies which are usually led  
by researchers from The Christie.  
The trials centre is responsible for  
the coordination and management  
of these studies and ensures that the  
data collected is robust before being 
analysed by statisticians. 

Current activity of the clinical trials 
coordination unit (CTCU) can be 
summarised as follows:
 – securing core funding of over  

£1.2 million for infrastructure  
in the CTCU

 – achieved full UK Clinical Research 
Collaboration trial unit registration in 
November 2007: a pre-requisite to 
enable Department of Health/
National Institute for Health 
Research grant funding 
opportunities and is the only 
registered unit in the Greater 
Manchester region

 – current trial portfolio of 26 CTCU-
managed trials includes major 
national and international multi-
centre trials covering over 150 
clinical research sites investigating 
treatment for patients with a range 
of cancers

The past 12 months have been an incredibly busy time  
for us. Working closely with some of the world’s leading 
scientists and technicians, our groundbreaking research  
has helped us take some significant steps into discovering 
new treatments.

Our incredible journey  
of discovery

Enhancing and expanding our research
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 – current trial specific funding awards 
from the Health Technology 
Assessment, Cancer Research UK 
and Breakthrough Breast Cancer 
totalling over £2.5 million with 
additional pump priming 
infrastructure funding awarded from 
The Christie charity in 2010 to 
facilitate future expansion

 – support provided for 45 National 
Institute for Health Research and 
associated grant applications within 
the last 12 months

Phase I clinical trials unit

The development of new cancer 
treatments is dependent on the testing 
of new drugs in cancer patients, these 
tests are undertaken in clinical trials. 
Any new drug product is initially 
evaluated in a small number of patients 
in Phase I trials. These trials evaluate 
different dosages. The Trust supports a 
significant number of these trials which 
are located within the Oak Road 
Patient Treatment Centre and these 
facilities enable us to support more 
patients in trials than ever before. The 
new unit provides increased clinic and 
treatment delivery accommodation, a 
clinical trials laboratory area (for the 
processing and short term storage of 
trial samples), aseptic preparation and 
clinical trials pharmacy space together 
with accommodation for early phase 
clinical teams and the early phase 
research nurse team. 

Radiotherapy research 

Radiotherapy is used in the treatment 
of over 50% of our cancer patients, 
therefore research in this area is 
important if the treatments offered to 
patients are to improve. We have 
recently appointed two senior lecturers, 
these posts have enabled us to develop 
new trials in this area. The Trust has a 
dedicated radiotherapy research facility; 
the Wade Centre. This centre has been 
successful in galvanising radiotherapy 
research within the Trust and ensures 
new techniques from research are 
transferred into the clinical care of our 
patients. 

Tissue banking

The MCRC biobank was established in 
2007 with the aim of co-ordinating the 
collection of human material from 
major cancer treatment centres across 
the Greater Manchester area. To target 
all cancer disease groups, the biobank 
collects samples from across the region 
at five collaborating trusts. The Trusts 
involved are The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust, Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust, University Hospital of 
South Manchester NHS Foundation 
Trust, Central Manchester University 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and 
Pennine Acute Hospital NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

A biobank technician is assigned to 
each trust and they are responsible for 
taking informed consent and then 
collecting samples from patients 
undergoing operations for cancer. For 
each surgery, the technician aims to 
collect a ‘six-pack’ consisting of frozen 
normal and tumour tissue, fixed 
normal and tumour tissue, and 
pre-operative blood and urine.
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All biobank staff ensure that sample 
collection is done in a uniform manner 
and is of the highest standard. The aim 
is for there to be an abundance of 
quality samples which the researchers 
can access with ease.

The biobank has an access policy for 
use of samples and something called 
“generic ethical approval” which 
allows researchers to apply to use 
samples from the bank without 
applying for further ethics. The 
biobank has been releasing samples for 
cancer research since summer 2009 
and it has to date approved over 40 
projects.

Research and development core 
services

The research and development office 
helps facilitate research through the 
Trust’s approval processes ensuring 
compliance with all relevant 
governance standards. The office 
works very closely with the disease 
based research teams to ensure studies 
and their amendments are approved, 
and any issues are resolved in a timely 
manner. The office supports the 
research teams with research 
governance and regulatory queries and 
also ensures any national changes to 
regulatory and governance 
arrangements are implemented on site.

All research which takes place on The 
Christie site must have Trust research 
and development approval. All relevant 
documentation is coordinated through 
the research and development office; 
the office has managed on average  
12-15 studies per month. Study set-up 
metrics have improved significantly this 
year:
 – taking all types of studies together 

the median time has fallen from 
91.5 working days in 2008/09 to 46 
working days in 2010/11; this is a 
50% reduction over a two year 
period

 – for investigator-led studies the 
improvement has been even more 
marked with a median of 106 days 
in 2008/09 down to 30 days in 
2010/11

These improvements are encouraging 
especially as they occur at a time when 
our overall activity (i.e. no. of studies 
and recruitment) and complexity of 
studies (e.g. no. of phase I studies) has 
increased.

An industry contact has commented 
on The Christie trials set-up times:
“this is quite simply a superb standard 
and one that the research and 
development team at The Christie 
should be rightfully proud”.

They went on to say that the data:
“demonstrate clear water between  
The Christie and other alliance sites”.
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Building our education Our legacy

With the huge amount of cutting-edge research conducted 
here, rarely a day goes by without us learning something 
new. So we need to make every effort to keep our staff 
educated as well, developing their skills and improving their 
knowledge. The more they know and understand, the 
better care they can give.

Since the launch of the School of 
Oncology in 2010, education has come 
a long way at The Christie. The School 
of Oncology board is strengthened by 
representation from our educational 
partners including the universities of 
Manchester, Salford and Liverpool, and 
the Manchester Academic Health 
Science Centre (MAHSC). 

We are committed to our three primary 
goals: 
 – to provide the highest quality 

educational opportunities to our 
staff

 – to share our expertise in cancer and 
related areas with our colleagues in 
health organisations across the 
North West

 – to become an educational institute 
of national and international 
standing

These goals have the fundamental 
objective of improving the care for 
cancer patients at The Christie and 
beyond. One unique feature of the 
School of Oncology is the commitment 
to educational endeavour across all 
spheres of cancer care from medical 
physics to complementary therapy.

Key highlights

The provision of high quality 
education to our staff 

We received commendation from the 
North West Deanery and the National 
Midwifery Council for our training of 
doctors and nurses in 2011.

Sharing our expertise with our 
colleagues in health organisations 
across the North West

For the second year we shall be 
running an invitational event for school 
leavers from our neighbouring 
secondary schools “an introduction to 
a career in medicine”. This is coupled 
with a formal work experience 
programme. 

We continue to increase our 
contribution to Manchester Medical 
School student teaching and will be 
running university clinical examinations 
in our new clinical skills unit during 
2012.

The Maguire Communication Skills Unit 
continues its commitment to improving 
patient experience by developing and 
delivering communication skills training 
at all levels for healthcare professionals 
locally, nationally and internationally. 
Successes this year include:
 – delivery of approximately 40 courses 

at intermediate and advanced levels
 – provision of an additional 130 days, 

teaching, mentoring and supervising 
novice trainers

 – development of training packages 
for CALL, a local cancer support 
charity, Macmillan Cancer 
Awareness Project, a regional 
initiative and end of life national 
programme to enable them to train 
their staff and volunteers to support 
cancer patients and their families
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National and international 
activities

In partnership with The University of 
Manchester, we have embarked on the 
second year of our highly successful 
Masters in Research degree course in 
oncology with a threefold increase in 
student numbers and attracting our 
first international students.

We are about to embark on a new 
Masters course in psych oncology with 
Salford University and we and our 
higher education partners recognise 
the potential for more exciting 
collaborations in the years ahead.

We continue to expand our portfolio of 
national education events, attracting 
increasing numbers of delegates from 
across the country. This year we have 
furthered our plans in international 
education. We have welcomed visitors 
on educational fellowships from 
Europe and the Far East and plan to 
embark on an educational alliance with 
the European Society of Medical 
Oncology (ESMO).

The School of Oncology deputy 
director Cathy Heaven was 
commissioned to set up a new 
communication educational 
programme in New Zealand in  
the early part of 2012.

The changing health environment 

It is important that we respond to the 
changing and diverse nature of future 
service and workforce needs. One such 
example is the national initiative in 
acute oncology. We have taken the 
lead in the provision of acute oncology 
education and training across the 
North West region. We have launched 
a collaborative Christie/Primary Care 
Education Project in recognition of the 
increasing delivery of cancer care closer 
to the patients’ home.

New building

As a result of our success, we have 
now outgrown our educational 
facilities at The Christie. In response to 
this we secured over £1.5m to embark 
on an exciting expansion project which 
will dramatically enhance the current 
education centre.
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We like to do our bit when it comes to helping the 
environment. Sustainable development, carbon 
management and waste control are all areas that are very 
important to us and as a result they remain a priority to 
ensure the place that we work is better for everyone.

The government has a commitment to 
sustainability and carbon reduction, 
which the Trust has embraced within 
the existing strategic and corporate 
objectives.

All of the elements detailed within the 
NHS sustainable development unit 
guidance on sustainable development 
management plans (SDMP) and carbon 
reduction are embraced. A SDMP is 
intended to clarify all of the related 
objectives as a whole, and monitor 
progress and performance of 
sustainable development and carbon 
reduction. 

Continual assessment to indicate and 
measure performance is made from a 
number of monitors, including 
BREAAM, the good corporate 
citizenship assessment tool, monitoring 
and reporting on government carbon 
reduction commitment (CRC) process.

The Trust’s sustainable services are 
continually reviewed and enforced. 
Reports to the Trust commissioners, 
the executive team and the corporate 
citizenship committee demonstrate 
continuing progress made to address 
sustainable development and provide 
clear evidence of the Trust’s 
commitment. 

Sustainable development 
management plan (SDMP)

The SDMP will address relevant 
legislation, regulatory requirements, 
associated risks, mitigation and 
adaption of the Trust strategies.

The following areas have been detailed 
for action in the NHS carbon reduction 
strategy and are used as a method to 
assist the Trust to achieve carbon 
reduction targets:
 – energy and carbon management 
 – water 
 – waste
 – low carbon travel, transport and 

access
 – designing the built environment
 – procurement
 – organisational and workforce 

development
 – role of partnerships and networks
 – finance
 – governance and corporate 

citizenship

Energy and carbon management

Carbon emissions are produced from 
the burning of fossil fuels, whether that 
be for the Trust’s heating needs or the 
ever increasing reliance on electricity 
based equipment and systems. The 
Trust is constantly monitoring energy 
consumption and looking for 
opportunities to counteract the 
growing demand by way of 
introducing efficient and sustainable 
energy technologies. 

Our bit
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All trusts are required to display an 
energy certificate (DEC) rating. This 
shows the total carbon dioxide 
emissions from the buildings in tonnes 
per year. The Trust has positively 
reduced this rating over the last three 
years due mainly to the new more 
efficient buildings constructed on the 
site.

The Trust has established realistic 
targets for reductions in energy and 
must ensure financial effectiveness and 
efficiency is achieved in energy 
resources, specifically with regard to 
satisfying the government (local and 
national) targets and NHS series of 
measures.

The government CRC carbon reduction 
programme is now fully underway and 
the Trust is measuring the carbon used 
from all related meters. Detailed 
evidence packs have been constructed 
and are continually updated. The Trust 
is required to buy carbon based on 
past usage from June 2012. 

In the last year the Trust has undergone 
a complete detailed energy survey. 
Areas have been identified where 
considerable savings could be made by 
updating of the existing infrastructure 
to incorporate the latest efficiency 
based technologies. If the 
recommended scope of work is 
approved the Trust could reduce its 
carbon footprint by up to 3000 tonnes 
of CO

2
 per year. 

Water

Water use is monitored and corporate 
citizenship objectives applied and kept 
under continual review. Every 
opportunity is taken to maximise the 
use of water saving technology, while 
maintaining the high standard of water 
quality required for the site.

Water saving awareness will be raised 
by means of communication 
campaigns and via energy champions. 
The Trust will progress, develop and 
implement water strategies, particularly 
when refurbishing and during building 
developments at the design stage. 

Waste management

As the site and patient activity increase, 
so too do waste and related costs. As a 
result, new waste stream controls, their 
management and most importantly 
implementation are crucial to 
continuing to achieve the ongoing 
target and ultimately CO

2
 emissions. 

Targets are continually achieved by 
adopting the waste management 
strategy of prevention, reduce, reuse, 
recycle and rethink. Recycling of 
remaining waste stream continues to 
be a challenge without associating 
more costs. Food waste targets 
continue to be achieved. 

We must comply with the waste 
regulations which will satisfy assurers in 
having systems to ensure that the 
prevention, segregation, handling, 
transport and disposal of waste is 
properly managed, so as to minimise 
the risks to the health and safety of 
staff, patients, the public and the 
safety of the environment. Evidence-
based assessments are recorded in the 

performance scorecard reports on a 
monthly basis.

The Trust is committed to reorganising 
the waste segregation process (cradle 
to grave) in line with legislation. Waste 
areas in the main have been 
reconfigured and a rigorous training 
programme undertaken. New waste 
streams are being instigated across the 
site and will ultimately produce data, to 
allow further target setting to 
segregate, reduce and recycle. 

Sustainable travel 

The Trust aims to provide methods of 
travel, which do not have a significant 
adverse impact on the environment or 
add to problems of congestion, while 
at the same time endeavoring to 
reduce carbon emissions in line with 
relevant government legislation.

In association with the capital strategy, 
a new sustainable travel policy and 
green travel plan outlines the Trust’s 
position on improving travel choices for 
staff, patients and visitors. The policy is 
to ensure all future capital projects take 
into account sustainable travel and the 
implications to the Trust and 
stakeholders. 

The travel plan, developed with 
stakeholder requirements, is committed 
to reducing the number of staff 
travelling to the Trust by single 
occupancy vehicles, thereby reducing 
demand for on-road parking. Measures 
have been instigated to reduce 
transport related emissions, traffic 
congestion and protecting the 
environment. 

Independent consultants were 
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commissioned by the Trust in 2012 to 
provide a review of the travel policy, 
travel plan and data gathered since the 
original travel plan in 2005. The report 
has substantiated past modal shift data, 
and given assurances of significant 
modal shift improvements and 
achievements over the past six years.

The independent Picker Institute now 
carries out the sustainable travel survey 
to ensure a fair, consistent, 
representative measured result as part 
of the annual staff survey. The 
sustainable travel section was released 
in February 2012. The survey results 
will formulate the Trust’s new baseline 
for target setting from 2012.

The Trust will continue to promote and 
implement sustainable travel choices.
 
Designing the built environment 

All new buildings, above a capital cost 
of £5 million, must undergo an 
environmental assessment (BREEAM), 
and incorporate plans for sustainable 
energy and resource use. New 
buildings for the NHS are expected to 
achieve an ‘excellence’ status as a 
minimum (‘outstanding’ status being 
the highest level).

Procurement 

The Trust continues to encourage the 
use of local suppliers within the 
procurement process. The wider 
sustainable implications are under 
review. One of the biggest impacts in 
the sustainable development guidance 
relates to understanding the 
sustainable requirements we demand 
of our suppliers. An additional 
performance measurement with regard 
to their commitments will be needed 
to ensure that they meet their 
commitments and targets. This is under 
review by procurement management.

Organisational and workforce 
development

The Trust has an active 
communications strategy for every level 
of the organisation; this includes raising 
awareness of sustainability with the 
aim to include all staff, visitors and 
patients.

Role of partnerships and networks 

The NHS should be an example of a 
low carbon sustainable organisation. 
We therefore identify and work 
effectively in partnership with all 
relevant stakeholders.

Finance 

The Trust needs to be able to 
demonstrate that carbon reduction is 
embedded within the financial 
mechanisms, with involvement in local 
and regional economic forums, and 
that the Trust takes advantage of 
efficiency schemes, such as CRC.

Governance 

The NHS Sustainable Development 
Unit’s (SDU) objectives are being 
embraced. Furthermore, carbon 
reduction and sustainable development 
have been established as a corporate 
responsibility of the Trust.

Corporate citizenship 

The Trust is taking actions to be a good 
corporate citizen monitoring itself 
against the reconfigured NHS 
sustainable development unit corporate 
citizenship assessment toolkit.

On a monthly basis, each area presents 
its current status and intended actions 
to the corporate citizenship group. 
Actions are continually being discussed 
and developed, both within the group 
members and at all opportunities 
during new projects.
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Greenhouse gas emissions Non-financial data 2010/11 Non-financial data 2011/12

Scope 1 (direct) GHG emissions Gas consumption  
54,815,471 KWh

Gas consumption  
43,901,397 KWh

Scope 2 (energy indirect) emissions Electricity consumption 
16,700,087 KWh

Electricity consumption 
16,234,658 KWh

Scope 3 official business travel 
emissions

111 tonnes - total CO
2
  

emissions
117 tonnes - total CO

2
  

emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions Financial data 2010/11 Financial data 2011/12

Scope 1 (direct) GHG emissions N/A Liability £150,000*

Waste minimisation  
and management

Non-financial data (tonnes) 
2010/11

Non-financial data (tonnes) 
2011/12

Waste sent to landfill 341.16 307.44

Waste recycled/reused 209.10 252.56

Waste incinerated 221.07 227.75

Total amount of waste produced 
by the Trust

771,33 787.75

Expenditure on waste disposal Financial data £k 2010/11 Financial data £k 2011/12

Waste sent to landfill 58,440.00 55,817.72

Waste recycled/reused 18,106.00 20,893.60

Waste incinerated 88,408.64 101,646.08

Total expenditure on waste 
disposal 

164,954.63 178,357.40

Non-disposal waste related purchases 18,857.76 5,825.90

Total 183,812.39 184,183.30

Finite resources Non-financial data 2010/11 Non-financial data 2011/12

Water 75,660 m3 71,795 m3

Electricity 60,120.31 Gj 58,444.87 Gj

Gas 185,593.34 Gj 158,044.96 Gj

Other energy consumption 240 litres (gas oil) Nil

Financial data £k 2010/11 Financial data £k 2011/12

Water £249,602.00 £275,107.89

Electricity/gas £1,683,923.00 £1,807,243.94

Other energy consumption £50.00

* Estimated based on carbon emissions from 2010/11
Data unavailable until June 2012
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Christie Staff Our staff

The Christie is only as good as the staff we employ, so we 
spend a great deal of time attracting, retaining and 
developing the very best workforce possible. By making them 
feel valued and supporting their wellbeing, it’s easier for them 
to make our patients feel valued and supported too.

Involving our staff

There are a variety of methods used to 
communicate with our staff which are 
developed and reviewed on a regular 
basis.

We have a quarterly staff magazine 
and a monthly team briefing system. 
The briefing system is face-to-face 
delivered by the Chief Executive as well 
as written cascade. The purpose of the 
briefing is to ensure that staff are 
aware of our financial position, plans 
and performance.

All of our staff are issued with a staff 
handbook on appointment and have 
access to the intranet which provides a 
wide range of information ranging 
from charity events to policies and 
procedures.

Approach to staff engagement

Regular presentations, e-mail cascades 
and seminars take place to ensure that 
staff are kept up to date with 
developments.

We have a staff suggestion scheme 
that enables employees to share their 
thoughts, suggestions and opinions. 
The annual staff satisfaction survey also 
provides every employee with a 
mechanism to feedback. 

There are clear policies and procedures 
available to staff who wish to report on 
a more formal basis. 

Our monthly board of directors and 
council of governors meetings are 
public.

We run an employee of the month 
scheme which recognises employees 
who demonstrate that little bit extra in 
supporting our values. Each month 
employees are nominated by staff and 
patients, a panel then selects the 
winner based on who has 
demonstrated outstanding behaviour 
linked to The Christie values.

Occupational health

Occupational health aims to help 
employees maintain and improve their 
health and wellbeing, ensuring that 
everyone experiences a working 
environment in which they are 
physically and emotionally suited. 

The department will advise on 
occupational health matters to 
employees and managers. They will 
survey workers health in relation to 
ability and suitability for work, both pre 
and during employment, support 
operational and human resource 
managers with management of 
sickness absence and health related 
performance issues, survey working 
environments and practices that may 
affect workers health and wellbeing 
according to health and safety 
legislation.

They have provided a comprehensive 
flu vaccination programme throughout 
the year which saw the Trust vaccinate 
76.4% of the workforce, the highest 
number ever achieved at The Christie. 
The team support the Trust with the 
promotion of healthy working 
environments and highlights how work 
can positively affect health and 
wellbeing thereby increasing the 
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effectiveness of the organisation. This 
is undertaken in a number of different 
ways. For example a pedometer 
challenge was undertaken which saw 
over 150 employees make a personal 
pledge of individual steps taken in one 
week which would contribute to the 
overall challenge of the achievement of 
steps from Lands End to John 
O’Groats, 1,748,000 in total. Other 
wellbeing activities include weight 
management classes and ‘MOT’ days.

Following the success of the wellbeing 
event in 2011, a second event was 
undertaken in March 2012. The event 
consisted of a number of stalls from 
external organisations and internal 
departments who could provide 
services to aid wellbeing. The event 
saw many staff suggestions 
implemented, for example, discounted 
Zumba classes being offered on and 
off site, and the relaunch of the cycle 
to work scheme.   

Staff satisfaction survey

The Care Quality Commission requires 
this annual survey to be carried out by 
all NHS Trusts in England. Once again, 
despite a difficult economic climate the 
Trust had excellent results from the 
national staff survey. A total of 800 
staff were surveyed and the response 
rates are shown in the table:

2010/11 2011/12 Trust 
improvement/
deterioration

Response rate Trust National 
average

Trust National 
average

54.6% 53% 54.4% 49.6% 0.2% decrease

Areas of improvement and 
deterioration

We have seen improvements in a 
number of areas that directly relate to 
the objectives set following last year’s 
survey. Close monitoring and auditing 
of working patterns has resulted in a 
reduction of our staff working extra 
hours – we will continue to review this 
as part of our commitment to improve 
in this area. Better communication, 
increased patient feedback and more 
discussion with employees during their 
personal development reviews has 
resulted in an increase in those who 
feel satisfied with the quality of their 
work and the patient care they deliver 
as well as the number of our staff who 
feel supported by their manager.

Areas where we have seen 
deterioration in our scores in 
comparison to last year’s survey include 
work life balance, the number of staff 
who feel valued by their colleagues and 
the percentage of staff experiencing 
discrimination. We have formulated an 
improvement plan for this financial year 
which will include implementation of 
specific objectives to address these 
areas.
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Our four top and bottom rating scores 
are shown in the following tables.

2010/11 2011/12 Trust improvement 
/deterioration

Top 4 ranking 
scores

Trust National 
average

Trust National 
average

Effective team 
working

3.87 3.75 3.85 3.73 0.2% increase

Percentage of staff 
agreeing that their 
role makes a 
difference to patients

93% 90% 93% 90% No change

Percentage of staff 
feeling valued by 
their work colleagues

87% 78% 80% 76% 7% reduction

Percentage of staff 
able to contribute 
towards 
improvements at 
work

70% 66% 69% 66% 1% reduction

2010/11 2011/12 Trust improvement 
/deterioration

Bottom 4 ranking 
scores

Trust National 
average

Trust National 
average

Percentage of staff 
working extra hours

71% 65% 70% 67% 1% reduction

Percentage of staff 
experiencing physical 
violence from staff in 
last 12 months

2% 1% 2% 1% No change

Impact of health and 
wellbeing on ability 
to perform work or 
daily activities

1.51 1.57 1.58 1.55 0.7 increase

Percentage of staff 
having well 
structured appraisals 
in the last 12 months

36% 36% 31% 40% 5% reduction

Future priorities and targets

An action plan has been developed  
to look at the areas in which the Trust 
scored either worse than average,  
has worsened significantly from the 
previous year or has not changed 
significantly. Each division has 
produced a proposal to implement 
these changes including working to 
increase survey response rates for 
2012/13.  

Our key priority moving forward is to 
ensure that we work across all 
departments of the Trust to improve 
our performance with a consistent 
approach to development and change.

We will continue to closely monitor 
and audit staff working hours, provide 
improved support mechanisms and 
offer additional training, coaching and 
counseling.

We will ensure that work policies are 
shared and communicated and that 
methods of feedback remain open to 
all, with staff encouraged to give their 
views and opinions via a number of 
different channels. 

The monthly performance review 
meetings will be the forum where 
actions are monitored and evidence of 
implementation is provided. The Trust 
will also publicise the action plan to 
ensure that staff are involved and 
engaged moving forward. Systems to 
monitor and review the working 
environment, with a view to develop 
initiatives with a longer term view, are 
also in place.
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We’re extremely proud of the progressive and inclusive 
culture we’ve created at The Christie – it’s testament to the 
spirit of the people who work inside our four walls.

Health and safety performance 

The Trust recognises its legal duty to 
protect patients, staff and visitors from 
the risk of injury or work-related ill 
health. There is an effective executive-
led approach to managing health and 
safety with close co-operation 
between management and staff 
representatives. Managers have access 
to specialist trained advisers in health 
and safety, moving and handling, fire 
and security. In addition, advice and 
support are available from radiation 
protection, infection control and 
occupational health.

There were 190 reported staff 
accidents and ill health in 2011/12, 
compared with 166 in 2010/11. There 
were 11 accidents resulting in 
significant injury in 2011/12, compared 
with seven in the previous year. The 
top three categories of accidents were 
slips, trips and falls (43), inoculation 
incidents (42), and collision with 
objects e.g. shelving, doors, equipment 
(23). Regular reports of all accidents, 
dangerous occurrences and ill health 
are discussed by the Health and Safety 
Committee, which meets four times 
per year. 

Several policies were revised and 
approved during the year; health and 
safety, moving and handling, slips, trips 
and falls, incident reporting and 
investigation, management of stress, 
security, violence and aggression, and 
lone working.

Equality and diversity

a. Summary of approach and 
comment on publication duties

We are determined to ensure that we 
offer equal access to healthcare and 
employment opportunities to everyone 
in the communities we serve. The Trust 
is committed to actively promoting 
equality across all activities with the 
intention of achieving and maintaining 
a fully inclusive organisation. 
 
There is an effective executive-led 
approach to managing equality and 
diversity with close co-operation 
between management and staff 
representatives. The equality and 
diversity group is responsible for 
monitoring and progressing equality 
and diversity issues in respect of service 
delivery and the workforce; the 
committee is chaired by the director of 
nursing and quality, and membership 
includes a diverse representation of 
staff and governors. 

In line with the specific duties of the 
Equality Act 2010, we published 
equality information in relation to our 
patient services and our workforce in 
equality monitoring reports in January 
2012 (www.christie.nhs.uk/about-the-
Christie/equality-and-diversity.aspx).

We continue to actively engage in a 
variety of activities to promote equality 
within our services and our workforce. 
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Key achievements in 2011/12 include:
 – working with colleagues from 

Manchester Learning Disability 
Partnership and Central Manchester 
University Hospitals Foundation 
Trust to produce easy-read guides 
on cancer diagnosis and treatment 
for people with a learning disability

 – officially opening a new day case 
area and suite of chill-out rooms in 
our young oncology unit; this 
further enhances the care we 
provide in an age-appropriate 
setting to meet the different needs 
of teenagers and young adults with 
cancer

 – working closely with Shaw Trust and 
Macmillan Cancer Support in a 
project to help cancer patients who 
want to return to, or remain in, 
work. This vocational rehabilitation 
project ensures patients receive the 
information, advice and support 
they need and has helped over 160 
patients since July 2010

 – ensuring that we are compliant with 
the government’s requirement to 
eliminate mixed-sex 
accommodation, except when it is in 
the patient’s overall best interest, or 
reflects their personal choice

 – providing mandatory equality and 
diversity training for all workforce 
groups to ensure staff are aware of 
their responsibilities   

 – in the NHS Staff Survey, two of the 
key findings for which The Christie 
compared most favourably with 
other acute specialist trusts in 
England were in respect of the very 
low percentages of staff 
experiencing discrimination at work, 
and of staff experiencing 
harassment, bullying or abuse from 
patients, relatives or the public in 

the last 12 months
 – establishing the Rainbow Network 

for Christie lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transsexual staff to help create an 
inclusive, respectful and diverse 
environment for all our staff, 
patients and visitors

 – Using the NHS Equality Delivery 
System as an opportunity to look at 
how well we are doing in our 
endeavours to promote and 
continually improve equality delivery 
for patients and staff

b. Summary of performance – 
workforce statistics

The Trust has a predominantly female 
workforce (approximately 74% 
female). With regard to ethnicity, over 
11% of the Trust workforce comprises 
staff from black and minority ethnic 
backgrounds. 

In 2011/2012, we have continued to 
increase the proportion of our staff for 
which we have equality data in respect 
of protected characteristics, although 
disclosure remains at the individual’s 
discretion. 

c. Future priorities

In line with the specific duties of the 
Equality Act 2010, we published 
equality objectives in relation to our 
patient services and workforce in our 
equality objectives report by 
6 April 2012 (www.christie.nhs.uk/
about-the-Christie/equality-and-
diversity.aspx).

The objectives have been developed 
based on the equality monitoring 
reports in respect of patient services 
and workforce as published in 

December 2011, and from engagement 
with our stakeholders including 
patients, staff and staff representatives. 

Our key priorities include:  
 – to enhance the experience of our 

cancer patients and support their 
ongoing care management in 
community settings by the provision 
of timely and comprehensive 
information to the patient’s general 
practitioner

 – to ensure that the experience of 
cancer patients with dementia is 
personalised and appropriate to 
enhance patient satisfaction

 – to develop understanding of any 
issues relating to recruitment and 
development as raised by black and 
minority ethnic staff and respond 
with specific action plans for 
improvement

 – to introduce the NHS Competency 
Framework for Equality and Diversity 
Leadership for workforce planning 
and for individual performance 
planning and development to 
support strategic leaders to advance 
equality outcomes
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Age 

17-21 21

22-50 1842

51+ 534

Total 2397

Ethnicity 

Asian 117

Black 79

Mixed 33

Not Stated 50

Other 35

White 2083

Total 2397

Gender

Female 1769

Male 628

Total 2397

Recorded disability

No 1606

Yes 73

Undefined/Not 
Declared

718

Total 2397

As at 30th March 2012

Religious belief

Atheism 225

Buddhism 13

Christianity 1077

Hinduism 26

Islam 63

Judaism 5

Other 111

Sikhism 3

Undefined/Not 
Declared

874

Total 2397

Sexual orientation

Bisexual 5

Gay 18

Heterosexual 1525

Lesbian 14

Undefined/Not 
Declared

835

Total 2397

Absentee rate  
(full time equivalent)

Division % Sickness

January 2011 3.89

February 2011 3.94

March 2011 3.05

April 2011 2.92

May 2011 2.95

June 2011 3.45

July 2011 3.29

August 2011 3.57

September 2011 3.34

October 2011 3.73

November 2011 3.84

December 2011 3.54

January 2012 3.38

February 2012 3.35

March 2012 3.29

2010 2011

Average 
sickness 
percentage  
(12 months)

3.69 3.62

Average full 
time equivalent

2059 2107

Workforce statistics
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Awards, accolades and accreditations Our thanks

The heartfelt thanks and gratitude we receive from our 
patients are a huge reward for the commitment and 
dedication of our staff, as are the many cards they receive. 
But we’re fortunate enough to also receive high praise from 
national healthcare bodies and organisations.

Every year across the Trust we receive a 
wide range of awards, accolades and 
accreditations, nationally and 
internationally, recognising our 
knowledge and dedication to cancer 
patients. Such recognition helps raise 
the profile of The Christie and can 
open new doors of opportunity for 
both us and our patients. 

Here are just some of our achievements 
from 2011/12:

Our Chief Executive, Caroline Shaw 
was selected by the Department of 
Health and the North West Strategic 
Health Authority to take the lead on 
the development of provider services, 
which included hospital, ambulance 
and community NHS services across 
the North West and also advised on 
national NHS policy. This was in 
additional to her role here at The 
Christie. 

The Trust has been recognised for its 
commitment to environmental 
improvement and sustainable 
development by receiving a Green 
Apple Award. The award recognises 
our endeavours in environmental best 
practice and shows how seriously we 
take our green credentials.

Our radiography team at Salford Royal 
received the prestigious Society of 
Radiographers North West Team of the 
Year award in November. 

Joanne Fitzpatrick was named Deputy 
Finance Director of the Year at the 
Healthcare Financial Management 
Association award ceremony in 
January. The award acknowledges 
Joanne’s contribution to both the 

Trust’s financial performance, as well as 
improvements to patient care. Joanne, 
who has worked at the Trust for  
19 years, also focuses on engaging 
clinicians across the organisation to 
invest in improved services.

Our Oldham centre received The 
Macmillan Quality Environment Mark, 
scoring the highest possible mark after 
an inspection in January. Patients can 
expect a place that is ‘welcoming and 
accessible to all, respects their privacy 
and dignity, supports their comfort  
and wellbeing, gives them choice and 
personal control, and listens to their 
voice’.

Dr Chris Harrison was appointed to the 
board of the Organisation of European 
Cancer Institutes (OECI) and will chair a 
working group on the prevention and 
early detection of cancer. He was also 
elected to the British Medical 
Association sub-committee.

The Christie was officially presented 
with its Comprehensive Cancer Centre 
accreditation in Amsterdam from the 
OECI, making us the first centre in the 
UK to receive this stamp of excellence. 
Accreditation is awarded to specialist 
centres that offer a wide range of 
cancer treatments, undertake world-
class research and provide high 
standard education.

We have also been accredited as an 
‘ESMO centre of oncology and 
palliative care’. The European Society 
for Medical Oncology (ESMO) 
promotes a multidisciplinary approach 
to cancer treatment and care. This 
award recognises the quality and level 
of integration of our services.
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With tough times all over the world, the generosity of our 
supporters never ceases to amaze us. Thanks to their 
passion, energy and enthusiasm we’ve been able to make 
some life-changing improvements here at The Christie.

Thanks to the contributions of our 
supporters we achieved over £13.4 
million in charitable donations this year 
and received over 100,000 donations. 
This means that, despite some tough 
times, we not only managed to realise 
our fundraising target, but some 
long-held ambitions and goals in care, 
treatment and research into cancer.

These donations, whether given 
through people who fundraise in the 
community, run marathons, donate to 
our appeals or support us through their 
company have gone towards 
worthwhile projects at The Christie. 
This generosity helps us continue 
making a difference to the care we 
provide our patients.

Thanks to our supporters we are taking 
our research to great lengths too 
– leading the way in some of the rarest 
forms of cancer. Funding research into 
rare and uncommon cancers has 
always been a priority for our charity 
with projects designed to find new 
treatments for patients not just at The 
Christie but right across the country. 
These donations to research have 
assisted in significant breakthroughs 
across a range of cancers, including 
world-leading developments in 
melanoma. 

This year we were able to further 
expand our Oak Road Patient 
Treatment Centre by providing 
dedicated overnight accommodation 
for trials patients, housed within the 
world’s largest early phase clinical trials 
unit. This phase was funded through 
charitable gifts and involved re-
modelling an existing ward to create an 
inpatient suite with six single, en-suite 
rooms specifically for clinical trials 
patients. 

The charity was able to equip the 
Salford radiotherapy centre by 
purchasing two linear accelerators 
(treatment machines) costing £1.3 
million each. In addition to these 
treatment machines, the dosimetry 
system and immobilisation aids were 
installed which help ensure patients are 
in the correct position during 
treatment. 

The charity continues to fund services 
which enhance the support 
mechanisms our patients receive at a 
difficult time in their lives, such as 
complementary therapy, counseling 
and information services. Our 
information centre has been providing 
patients with all the support they need 
for over ten years. Funded entirely by 
our charity, the centre has become a 
haven of support and reassurance not 
just for patients, but also their families 
and increasingly the wider community. 

Key charity highlights
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Key charity highlights

A drop-in service is funded by 
donations to The Christie charity, 
enabling patients to meet specialist 
benefit advisors for advice on the 
benefits they are entitled to and 
practical help in completing benefit 
application forms. The advisors also 
provide debt counselling and can assist 
in negotiating reduced payments.

Thanks to donations to The Christie 
charity, our award winning 
complementary therapy service 
continues to be provided free of charge 
for patients and carers. The therapies 
offer a host of benefits to help alleviate 
the symptoms of cancer such as 
nausea, pain and sleep disorders, as 
well as helping to relieve the anxiety 
and stress associated with living with 
cancer.

Further information about our charity 
can be found in our charity impact 
report or via our website  
www.christies.org



62

Membership Our members

Being a member is a way of showing your support of  
The Christie. Members can be patients, friends, relatives, 
staff and general members of the public. We keep our 
members abreast of the latest Trust news and invite them  
to special events, giving them a voice via the ability to  
elect their governor. Through the model of membership, 
people can influence the way we deliver our services and 
future strategies.

The council of governors, through its 
membership committee is responsible 
for ensuring that we have a 
representative, active and engaged 
membership, as set out in the three 
year membership strategy. Our annual 
action plan has been developed and 
updated throughout the year and we 
will implement another action plan in 
2012/13 in order to fulfill the objectives 
of the strategy.

There are two constituencies within the 
membership, as detailed below:

Public membership
This is open to anyone aged 16 or over, 
living in England and Wales. There are 
currently 14 areas within this 
constituency, 12 based on local 
government electoral boundaries 
within our network with the others 
covering the ‘North West’ and ‘rest of 
England and Wales’. There is one 
governor for all public areas except 
Manchester, which has two. 

Staff membership
Our staff membership operates on an 
‘opt out’ basis for staff and volunteers, 
who are contracted to work with us for 
12 months or more. The classes within 
the constituency are medical staff, 
nurses, other clinical professional staff, 
non-clinical staff and volunteers. We 
currently have 2,338 staff members.

Recruitment and representation

By the end of March 2012 our public 
membership of The Christie had 
increased to 22,514 with 1,901 new 
public members joining during the 
year. We met our previous target set 
out in last year’s annual report and 
focused mainly on engagement activity 
throughout the last year. By September 
2012 we expect to have approximately 
30,000 members.

Having a large group of supporters 
providing a wide opinion base will help 
us to maintain a strong position in the 
healthcare arena and ensure we are 
better placed to face the challenges 
ahead. An increased membership will 
further serve to inform cancer service 
delivery and help us maintain a high 
profile for the Trust and develop the 
services we provide.

We use a variety of approaches to 
recruit members, including:
 – recruiting new members via The 

Christie charity
 – inviting patients to become 

members 
 – encouraging governors and existing 

members to recruit more members 
in their local area 

 – our website and newsletter 
 – charity direct mail where people 

have the opportunity to opt in 
 – at the medical physics engagement 

evening 
 – at our junior doctors’ induction 
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As a specialist tertiary centre we feel 
our membership should reflect both 
the size and diversity of the population 
we serve and the activities we 
undertake. We monitor the age, 
gender and ethnic mix of our 
membership and would like to recruit 
more members particularly from 
underrepresented groups.

Public 
Constituencies

Number of 
members

Bolton 1,391

Bury 1,570

Cheshire East 1,644

Manchester 1,940

North West 2,218

Oldham 2,013

Rochdale 1,116

Salford 1,817

Stockport 1,820

Tameside and 
Glossop

1,444

Trafford 1,626

Cheshire West 436

Wigan 1,654

Rest of England 1,825

Total public 
members

22,514

As at 31st March 2012

Age

0-16 4

17-21 99

22-49 3,179

50+ 6,997

Unspecified 12,235

Total 22,514

Ethnicity

White 8,404

Mixed 84

Asian 257

Black 106

Other 142

Unspecified 13,521

Total 22,514

Gender

Male 10,007

Female 11,777

Unspecified 730

Total 22,514
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Communicating and engaging 
with members

We have built our relationship with 
members by encouraging their 
involvement and communicating 
regularly through our interactive 
newsletter, local events, governor 
activity and our website. 

These events included specially 
organised local events, the Annual 
Members’ Meeting and preview tours 
of The Christie’s new radiotherapy 
centre at Salford Royal NHS Foundation 
Trust, The Christie Medical Physics 
Engineering and Engagement event 
and quarterly supporters seminars.

We also involve our members in 
activities. These included approving 
changes to the constitution, 
participation in surveys, and improving 
the patient experience through taking 
part in research exercises, Trust 
committees and events, such as the 
annual patient environment action 
team’s (PEAT) survey of the hospital 
environment. We also have members 
sitting on hospital committees 
including patient information 
committee, transfusion committee,  
and equality and diversity. 

In the past year we undertook public 
engagement meetings in every public 
area to coincide with the Trust’s 20:20 
Vision engagement, where we have 
actively sought the views of our 
members on the planning of the 
direction of the Trust’s future. This is in 
response to the changing health 
economy. This provided members with 
an opportunity to meet with governors 
and directors, and input into our future 
developments. 

A programme of major events for all 
members coupled with increased 
engagement with our core group of 
‘more involved’ members will take 
place through 2012/13. In line with the 
Trust’s aim to keep abreast with 
technological advances and the 
increased use of our website, we aim 
to engage with our members 
electronically, as well as through our 
existing more traditional channels of 
communications.

For further information on membership 
or to contact your governor, please 
contact the membership office.

Membership Office
The Christie NHS Foundation Trust
Wilmslow Road
Manchester, M20 4BX
Tel: 0161 446 8616
Email: members@christie.nhs.uk
Website: www.christie.nhs.uk
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It’s important to keep communication open between our 
members and our management, and our council of 
governors provide a crucial link between the two. It’s made 
up of both elected and partner governors who act on behalf 
of their members or partners, working closely with us to 
support future plans and ensuring we keep pushing our 
standards for the benefit of our patients.

There are 29 governors: 15 
representing the public, patients and 
carers; five representing our staff and 
volunteers and nine appointed by 
partner organisations. The composition 
of the council has not changed during 
the year.

Elections in 2011/12

In January 2011 Chris Hoyle stepped 
down as public governor for Oldham. 
In February 2011 David Bowerman 
stepped down as governor for staff 
non-clinical and Chris Angold stepped 
down as public governor for Salford. 
The three positions were left vacant 
until the planned elections in August 
2011. In addition to the above, Brian 
Magee decided not to stand for 
re-election as staff registered medical 
practitioner when his term ended and 
the terms of office for our public 
governors representing Bolton, Bury 
and Tameside and Glossop came to an 
end. Elections were held for all of these 
constituencies in July 2011. 

The election results are as follows:

Elected:

Donald Hegarty
Oldham

Ann-Gavin Daley
Salford

Mr Paul Fulford
Staff: Registered medical practitioner

Neil Wrathall
Staff: non-clinical

Re-elected:

Abigail Tomkins
Bolton

John Wild
Bury

Chris Byrom
Tameside and Glossop
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In light of the implications of the NHS 
White Paper ‘Equity and excellence – 
liberating the NHS’ all our partner 
governors were re-appointed for a 
period of one year to September 2012, 
while the Trust continues to undertake 
a review of its stakeholders. Councillor 
John Battye, Oldham Council, was 
appointed by the Association of 
Greater Manchester Local Authorities 
to replace Councillor Eileen Hulme.  
The North West Development Agency 
withdrew as a partner governor 
organisation prior to its disbanding, 
therefore Melanie Clare stepped down. 
An alternative partner organisation will 
be identified following a restructure 
resulting from the change. 

In February 2012 Professor Nic Jones 
stepped down as our partner governor 
for The University of Manchester. Roy 
Dudley-Southern stepped down as 
partner governor representing the 
Greater Manchester PCT’s 
Collaborative Commissioning Team in 
March 2012 as he is retiring from the 
NHS and Racheline Garston stepped 
down as our partner governor for The 
Christie charity.

Keeley Hegarty stepped down as staff 
governor: other clinical professional, at 
the end of March 2012, as a change in 
her role meant she was no longer a 
member of that constituency.

Working with our governors

Our governors play a vital role in 
helping us communicate with our 
members and partner organisations 
about our vision, strategy, and 
performance. It is their responsibility to 
maintain and review the membership 
strategy and increase our membership. 
They also have specific responsibilities 

in regards to the appointment and 
remuneration of our Chairman and 
non-executive directors, the 
appointment of the external auditor, 
and in relation to our annual report 
and accounts. The board of directors 
consults them when our annual plan is 
being prepared and also on other 
issues such as revisions to our 
constitution and our declaration for the 
Care Quality Commission’s ‘essential 
standards of quality and safety’. 

The council met formally five times 
during 2011. The council of governors 
has three sub committees focusing 
support into the areas of membership, 
quality, and development and 
sustainability. Members of the board 
have always attended the meetings of 
the council and each director is now 
linked to one of these sub-committees. 
Our governors have provided the board 
with support, as well as an appropriate 
degree of challenge. They have 
contributed to our strategic plans via 
their involvement in council meetings, 
committees and working groups.

Nominations committee

This committee makes 
recommendations to the council on the 
appointment and remuneration of the 
Chairman and non-executive directors 
when required. It met formally three 
times during the year. Our Chairman is 
chair of this committee. Jackie Collins, 
our lead governor and public governor 
for Stockport and Pam Morrison, our 
staff governor for nursing also make 
up the committee. Melanie Clare, 
partner governor representing the 
North West Development Agency left 
the committee when she stepped 
down as governor and did not attend 
any of the three meetings held this 
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year. The Chief Executive attended two 
meetings as an advisor to the 
committee. Our head of human 
resources also attended the meetings 
as an advisor to the committee. 

There have been two appointments of 
non-executive directors during the year 
using an external search consultancy. 
Jim Martin retired as Chairman of the 
Trust on 31st May 2011 after six years 
with the Trust, four as Chairman. Rt 
Hon Lord Keith Bradley was appointed 
as Chairman on 1st June 2011 after 
serving as a non-executive director for 
four years. Patrick Loftus was 
appointed to take his place as non-
executive director from 1st April 2012. 
Bill Farndon’s term of office ended at 
the end of March 2012 after just over 
eight years at The Christie. Barrie 
Bernstein was appointed to take his 
place as non-executive director from 
1st April 2012. 

Membership committee

This committee directs and monitors 
recruitment and engagement activity, 
manages our communication with 
members through our newsletters and 
letters and has overseen the 
organisation of a series of engagement 
events including the governor led 
20:20 Vision engagement sessions in 
each constituency. We invite members 
to regular supporters seminars and 
major events such as Trust open days. 
Through the membership committee 
we are encouraging and developing 
increased local engagement activity 
from governors in their constituencies.

Quality committee

This committee monitors, reports and 
comments upon patient experience 
and quality and standards of service. 
During the year the group has 
continued with a successful initiative to 
meet patients and gather first hand 
feedback on the standard of service 
provided, they have also started work 
on a project to look at patient 
experience on other sites where we 
deliver care. Bill Farndon our non-
executive director champion for 
patients has also taken part in this 
initiative.

Development and sustainability 
committee

This committee monitors activities with 
regard to the quality of the hospital 
environment. It also receives 
information on the achievement of 
access targets, such as the 62-day 
cancer waiting time target and the 
developments at the Trust, such as the 
Oak Road Patient Treatment Centre, 
and our new radiotherapy service at 
Salford. 

The register of interests of our governors 
is available at www.christie.nhs.uk
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Note Elected public / 
Elected staff / 
Appointed

Representing Council 
meetings 
attended 
(out of 5)

Remaining 
terms

Member of 
committee 
(see key)

Year 
term 
ends

Roger Bowman Elected public Trafford 3 2 D&SC 2013

Chris Byrom 2 Elected public Tameside and Glossop 5 1 MC 2014

Jackie Collins 13 Elected public Stockport 4 * Nomco 2012

Alex Davidson Elected public Eastern Cheshire 4 * QC 2012

Neil Harvey 14 Elected public Central Cheshire 1 * MC 2012

Jane Butler Elected public Remainder of England 
and Wales

2 2 QC 2013

Donald Hegarty 2, 3 Elected public Oldham 2 (out of 3) 2 MC 2014

Rada Kemp Elected public Manchester 4 2 MC 2013

Peter Latimer Elected public North West 5 2 D&SC 2013

Christine Mathewson Elected public Rochdale 5 * QC 2012

Carl Sharpe Elected public Wigan 5 * MC 2012

Roger Smith Elected public Manchester 5 2 D&SC 2013

Ann Gavin-Daley 2, 4 Elected public Salford 3 (out of 3) 2 QC 2014

Abigail Tomkins 2 Elected public Bolton 3 (out of 3) 1 MC 2014

Dr John Wild 2 Elected public Bury 5 1 D&SC 2014

Keeley Hegarty 15 Elected staff Other clinical 
professional

3 * D&SC 2012

Neil Wrathall 2, 6 Elected staff Non-clinical staff 2 (out of 3) 2 MC 2014

Thelma Gowenlock Elected staff Volunteers 5 * QC 2012

Dr Brian Magee Elected staff Registered medical 
practitioner

2 (out of 2) 0 QC 2011

Mr Paul Fulford 2, 5 Elected staff Registered medical 
practitioner

1 (out of 3) 2 QC 2014

Pam Morrison Elected staff Registered nurses 5 1 Nomco 2013

Dr Zuber Ahmed Appointed NHS Oldham PCT 0 * QC 2012

Melanie Clare 8 Appointed North West Regional 
Development Agency

0 * Nomco 2012

Roy Dudley Southern 10 Appointed Greater Manchester 
PCT’s Collaborative 
Commissioning Team

4 * D&SC 2012

Racheline Garston 11 Appointed The Christie charity 1 * MC 2012

Prof Nic Jones 9 Appointed The University of 
Manchester

0 * D&SC 2012
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David Makin Appointed Greater Manchester 
and Cheshire Cancer 
Network – patient 
representative

5 * QC 2012

Cllr Eileen Hulme 7 Appointed Local authority 
appointed by AGMA

0 (out of 0) * D&SC 2011

Cllr John Battye 7 Appointed Local authority 
appointed by AGMA

2 (out of 3) * D&SC 2012

Cllr Paul Andrews Appointed Local authority 
appointed by AGMA

0 * D&SC 2012

Marcella Turner Appointed The Black Health 
Agency

1 * QC 2012

Key:

QC Quality Committee

D&SC Development and Sustainability 
 Committee

MC Membership Committee

Nomco Nominations Committee

*  Term ends September 2012

Notes:

1. Terms of office for governors who took up 
post on 1st April 2008 expired at the annual 
members’ meeting on 28th September 2011. 
Terms of office for governors elected in 2009 
and subsequent years will expire at the annual 
members’ meeting three years after the date of 
their election

2. Donald Hegarty (Oldham), Ann-Gavin Daley 
(Salford), Mr Paul Fulford (staff: registered 
medical practitioner) and Neil Wrathall (staff: 
non clinical) were elected from September 2011 
and Abigail Tomkins (Bolton), John Wild (Bury) 
and Chris Byrom (Tameside and Glossop), were 
re-elected from September 2011

3. Elections to replace Chris Hoyle as the 
appointed governor for Oldham after he 
stepped down in January 2011 were held in 
August 2011. Donald Hegarty was appointed for 
a three year term in September 2011

4. Elections to replace Chris Angold as the 
appointed governor for Salford after he stepped 
down in February 2011 were held in August 
2011. Ann Gavin Daley was appointed for a 
three year term in September 2011

5. Mr Paul Fulford was appointed as staff 
governor for medical practitioners in September 
2011 for three years

6. Neil Wrathall was appointed as staff governor 
for non clinical staff in September 2011 for three 
years

7. Councillor John Battye replaced Councillor 
Eileen Hulme as the governor appointed by the 
Association of Greater Manchester Authorities

8. Melanie Clare stepped down as partner 
governor representing the North West 
Development Agency prior to their disbanding

9. Professor Nic Jones stepped down as partner 
governor representing The University of 
Manchester in February 2012

10. Roy Dudley-Southern stepped down as 
partner governor representing the Greater 
Manchester PCT’s Collaborative Commissioning 
Team in March 2012 as he is retiring from the 
NHS

11. Racheline Garston stepped down as our 
partner governor representing The Christie 
Charity in March 2012

12. All our partner governors were re-appointed 
for a period of one year ending in September 
2012

13. Jackie Collins, public governor for Stockport 
continued as our lead governor throughout the 
year

14. Neil Harvey stepped down as public 
governor for Central Cheshire at the end of 
March 2012

15. Keeley Hegarty stepped down as staff 
governor: other clinical professional at the end 
of March 2012 as a change in role meant she 
was no longer a member of that constituency
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The board of directors is responsible for the management 
and governance of the organisation and they work 
continually to ensure the high standards are maintained,  
the organisation runs smoothly and programmes of work 
are on course.

The board’s key responsibilities are as 
follows:
 – to set strategic objectives, taking 

into account views of the council of 
governors and other key 
stakeholders

 – to provide the healthcare required 
under its contracts with 
commissioners and other 
organisations

 – to ensure appropriate governance 
and performance arrangements are 
in place to deliver the Trust’s 
strategic objectives

 – to ensure the quality and safety of 
all healthcare services, research and 
development, education and 
training

 – to ensure that the Trust complies 
with the terms of its authorisation 
by Monitor, its constitution, relevant 
legislation, mandatory guidance and 
other relevant obligations

Our authorisation from our regulator 
Monitor and constitution govern the 
operation of the Trust. The schedule of 
reservation and delegation of powers 
sets out the types of decisions that 
must be taken by the board of 
directors and those which can be 
delegated to management. The 
constitution defines which decisions 
must be taken by the council of 
governors and how disagreements 
between the board and the council 
should be resolved.

Composition of the board

The board consists of five executive 
directors and six non-executive 
directors, one of whom is the non-
executive chairman.

Jim Martin (to 31st May 2011)
Chairman
Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley  
(from 1st June 2011) 
Chairman
Caroline Shaw 
Chief Executive

Executive directors

Dr Chris Harrison 
Medical Director
Roger Spencer 
Chief Operating Officer and  
Deputy Chief Executive
Ian Moston
Director of Finance and Business 
Development
Jane Sykes (to 31st May 2011) 
Acting Director of Nursing and 
Governance
Jackie Bird (from 1st June 2011) 
Director of Nursing and Quality

Non-executive directors

Lee Childs
Bill Farndon 
(Senior Non-executive Director)
Dame Jenni Murray 
Sir Duncan Nichol 
(Deputy Chairman)
Rt Hon Lord Keith Bradley  
(to 31st May 2011)
Patrick Loftus  
(from 1st April 2012)
Barrie Bernstein 
(from 1st April 2012)
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The executive team has delivered 
another outstanding year of financial 
and service performance.

During 2011 the council of governors 
approved the following extensions to 
non-executive director terms of office:
 – extension to Bill Farndon’s post for 

three months from 1st April 2011 
subject to the successful 
appointment of two new non-
executive directors

There were two changes to the board 
of directors during 2011:
 – Jim Martin retired from the Trust as 

Chairman on 31st May 2011 and 
was replaced by Rt Hon Lord Keith 
Bradley on 1st June 2011 leaving a 
vacancy in our non-executive 
directors

 – Jane Sykes was acting director of 
nursing and governance until 31st 
May 2011 when Jackie Bird took  
up her appointment as the new 
director of nursing and quality on  
1st June 2011.

Since 31st March 2012 we have 
appointed two new non-executive 
directors. Patrick Loftus and Barrie 
Bernstein were both appointed from 
1st April for 3 years.

Our board has complied with the 
requirements of the constitution 
relating to board composition. The 
board is satisfied that it has acted 
appropriately and been balanced, 
complete and has contained a suitable 
range of appropriate and 
complementary skills and experience.

The board considers that all the 
non-executive directors are 
independent and the Chairman was 

independent upon appointment. Bill 
Farndon is the senior non-executive 
director with particular responsibility to 
make himself available to members and 
governors who have concerns they do 
not feel they can raise with the 
Chairman or any other executive 
director. He also leads the appraisal 
process of the Chairman.

Evaluation of performance

All directors have an annual 
performance appraisal and a personal 
development plan. The Chief Executive 
is responsible for the performance 
appraisal of the executive directors. 
The performance of the Chief 
Executive is reviewed by the Chairman. 
The results of these appraisals are 
reported to the remuneration 
committee.

The performance of the non-executive 
directors is reviewed by the Chairman 
and reported to the council of 
governors, using a process agreed by 
our council of governors. The 
performance of the Chairman is 
reviewed by the non-executive 
directors led by the senior independent 
director in a process agreed by our 
council of governors.

Board appointments

The expiry of the term of office for 
each non-executive director is stated in 
their biography on pages 73-76. The 
non-executive directors appointed on 
or before 31st March 2007 were 
appointed by the Appointments 
Commission for a term of four years, as 
amended by the transition 
arrangements on becoming a 
foundation trust. All appointments 
made since 1st April 2007 were made 

by the nominations committee and 
approved by our council of governors 
and are for a term of three years. 

The Chairman and any non-executive 
director may be removed by the council 
of governors in accordance with 
paragraph 20 of our constitution. The 
executive directors were appointed 
through an open competition panel 
consisting of the Chairman, Chief 
Executive, a regional representative and 
an external assessor. Their contracts of 
employment do not contain an expiry 
date.

Interests and commitments

The register of interests of directors 
may be viewed at www.christie.nhs.uk. 
Jim Martin was Chairman until 31st 
May 2011 and Rt Hon Lord Keith 
Bradley was Chairman from 1st June 
2011 for the remainder of the year.

Board meetings and committees

The board supports the Nolan 
principles and makes the majority of its 
decisions in meetings open to the 
public. The board met in public ten 
times during the year. It also met in 
private ten times and held four 
informal away days during the year. A 
joint meeting of the board of directors 
and governors was also held. 

The board delegates some of its work 
to committees. There is a standing item 
at each board meeting to receive the 
minutes of the board committees’ 
meetings. Attendance by directors at 
board and committee meetings is 
shown on page 77. At the start of the 
year there were seven board 
committees. The work of the 
committees is described briefly below. 
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Audit committee

The audit committee provides 
independent assurance to the board 
that there are effective systems of 
governance, risk management and 
internal control for all matters relating 
to corporate, financial and investment 
governance and risk management. It is 
chaired by Lee Childs, non-executive 
director with financial experience and 
comprises all the non-executive 
directors except the Chairman.

Key activities during the year were:
 – reviewing the Trust’s annual report, 

financial statements and quality 
accounts (2010/11)

 – receiving and acting upon the 
annual governance report from the 
external auditor

 – monitoring the board assurance 
framework

 – approving the corporate governance 
documents of the Trust

 – receiving reports from the internal 
auditor

 – review of the terms of reference of 
the committee

Quality assurance committee

The quality assurance committee 
provides independent assurance to the 
board that there are effective systems 
of clinical and corporate governance, 
risk management and internal control 
for clinical and research governance 
and risk management. The committee 
is chaired by Bill Farndon and comprises 
all the non-executive directors. 
Following a review it was concluded 
that the Chairman and Chief Executive 
would not be members of the 
committee but would be invited to 
attend meetings if considered 
necessary by the committee.

Key activities during the year were:
 – reviewing the Trust’s declaration of 

compliance with Essential Standards 
and meeting on going compliance 
with registration requirements for 
the Care Quality Commission 

 – receiving reports and action plans 
from internal and external 
assessments

 – monitoring the board assurance 
framework

 – receiving internal audit reports
 – review of the terms of reference of 

the committee

Charitable funds committee

The role of our charitable funds 
committee is to oversee the 
management of The Christie Charitable 
Fund. It is chaired by Rt Hon Lord Keith 
Bradley, Chairman.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee is 
responsible for the appointment, 
remuneration and terms of service of 
the executive directors. It is chaired by 
the Chairman and comprises all the 
non-executive directors.

Management board

The role of the management board is 
to formulate recommendations on 
strategic and operational matters for 
referral to the board of directors for 
approval. The committee also monitors 
the effective and efficient financial, 
performance, quality and safety 
management of The Christie. It takes 
place monthly and is chaired by the 
Chief Executive and comprises the 
executive directors, divisional directors 
and general managers. The terms of 
reference including the membership of 

the management board were revised 
during the year.

Risk and quality governance 
committee

The risk and quality governance 
committee has responsibility for risk 
management of our Trust and meets 
monthly. It reports to the management 
board and is chaired by the chief 
operating officer and comprises the 
executive directors, divisional directors 
and other senior officers.

Finance and investment committee

The finance and investment committee 
provides an independent and objective 
review of the financial and investment 
policy and performance issues of the 
Trust. Reporting to the board of 
directors the committee reviews all 
major business cases above £0.5m and 
provides assurance to the board on 
investment decisions and financial 
policies. The chair of the committee is 
the chair of the board. 

During the year the business of the 
finance and investment committee has 
been considered quarterly as part of 
the private board; where there are 
significant decisions to make. The 
finance and investment committee 
have the option to meet separately to 
the board of directors.

Review of the committee structure 
and roles

Following an initial review in February 
2010 a further review of the quality 
assurance committee was carried out 
in November 2010 to assess the extent 
to which the committee is fulfilling its 
role of providing assurance to the 
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board. This was carried out again in 
2011 and some changes were made 
including the Risk and Quality 
Governance committee now reporting 
to Management board. Following a 
review of the risk management 
strategy, a new committee structure 
was developed and the Risk 
Committee was disbanded to be 
replaced by the Risk and Quality 
Governance Committee.

Board members

Jim Martin
Chairman (to 31st May 2011)
Jim Martin was appointed as a non-
executive director of The Christie on 1st 
December 2005 and was chairman of 
the audit committee until 31st March 
2007. He was appointed as chairman 
on 1st April 2007 for a four year term 
expiring on 31st March 2011. His term 
was extended for a three month period 
(approved by the council of governors) 
pending the appointment of the 
replacement chair. 

Jim is a qualified accountant and was 
chief executive of N Brown Group plc, 
a large home shopping company, for 
18 years and deputy chairman for three 
years until his retirement in December 
2005. He was a non-executive director 
of Redrow plc for ten years until 
September 2007 and was chairman of 
Alexon plc until March 2008. He was 
also previously chairman of Ethel Austin 
Ltd, Roseby Ltd and Stirling Group Plc 
and a governor of Manchester 
Metropolitan University. He is currently 
non-executive chairman of AJ Bell Ltd 
and Styles and Wood Group plc. 

The Rt. Hon the Lord Keith Bradley
Chairman (from 1st June 2011)

Rt Hon Lord Bradley was appointed as 
a non-executive director of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust on 1st 
November 2006 for a four year term 
ending on 31st October 2010. The 
council of governors, at its meeting on 
9th September 2010, approved Lord 
Bradley’s re-appointment for a further 
term from 1st November 2010 to 31st 
October 2013. Lord Bradley is Associate 
Vice-President (Governmental, Political 
and Regional Relationships) at The 
University of Manchester. He is chair of 
MaST LIFTCo and a Council Member of 
the Medical Protection Society. 

Formerly member of parliament for 
Manchester Withington from 1987-
2005 he was parliamentary under 
secretary of state for social security 
(1997-98), deputy chief whip (1998-
2001), minister of state at the home 
office (2001-02) and a member of the 
health select committee (2002-05). He 
was appointed a privy councillor in 
2001 and enobled in 2006. The 
Bradley report on people with mental 
health problems or learning disabilities 
in the criminal justice system was 
published on 30th April 2009. 

Lord Bradley became chairman of the 
charitable funds committee in April 
2008 and became a director of The 
Christie Charity Trading Company on 
24th April 2009. He was appointed as 
chairman on 1st June 2011 for a three 
year term expiring on 31st March 2014.

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
Caroline Shaw became Chief Executive 
of The Christie in September 2005. She 
has strategic, operational, clinical and 
change-management experience and 
an award winning record of improving 

patient care through reform and 
modernisation. Caroline was previously 
deputy chief executive and director of 
operations at the University Hospital of 
South Manchester NHS Foundation 
Trust and prior to that held a number 
of senior posts in the NHS. Caroline 
has recent experience in leading the 
NHS North West provider development 
team which she undertook in 
conjunction with her role as The 
Christie CEO. Caroline was also 
responsible for supporting aspirant 
NHS trusts in their bid to become 
foundation trusts. Caroline also helped 
develop the national policies for future 
provider regimes.

Caroline is patron of the National 
Business Women’s Network. Her awards 
include the national CBI First Woman 
Awards (2010), Crain’s Business Woman 
of the Year Award (2009) and North 
West Inspiring Woman of the Year 
award (2007) for services to the public 
sector. Caroline delivered the prestigious 
Geoff Scaife Memorial Lecture at the 
2006 NHS Confederation conference. 
She was appointed to a non-executive 
director post at The Bright Futures’ 
Educational Trust in January 2012. She 
holds an MSc in Health Policy and 
Management, an honours degree in 
Health Studies, and has previous clinical 
experience as a nurse and a midwife.

Executive directors

Dr Chris Harrison
Medical Director MB ChB MSc DRCOG 
DCH FFPHM
Having worked at The Christie since 
November 2005, Chris Harrison was 
appointed as part time medical director 
in June 2006 and took up the role full 
time from July 2008. In 1992, following 
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training in clinical medicine Chris was 
appointed director of public health for 
The South Lancashire Health Authority 
(Ormskirk, Chorley, South Ribble) and 
then in 1996 director of public health 
for North West Lancashire Health 
Authority (Preston and Blackpool). He 
subsequently held posts as head of the 
regional cancer team at North West 
Regional Office, deputy regional 
director of public health at North West 
Regional Office, director of the Greater 
Manchester Health Protection Unit and 
medical director and director of public 
health at Greater Manchester Strategic 
Health Authority until moving to The 
Christie in 2005. 

He has a long standing interest in the 
development of cancer services and 
improvements in clinical quality. He has 
been involved in numerous national 
and international committees relating 
to cancer care, quality of care and 
standards of clinical practice. Over the 
past 12 months Chris has also been 
working with NHS London to redesign 
cancer care across London. 

Ian Moston
Director of Finance and Business 
Development
Ian Moston was appointed as director 
of finance and business development 
in July 2006. Ian was previously 
director of finance, performance and 
commissioning for Staffordshire 
Moorlands Primary Care Trust. Prior to 
this he held a number of senior finance 
posts within the NHS. He holds an 
honours degree in Management and 
Business Studies and is a qualified 
CIPFA accountant. He became a 
director of The Christie Charity Trading 
Company on 24th April 2009 and is a 
non-executive of Weaver Vale Housing 

Trust and director of The Christie Clinic 
LLP.

Roger Spencer
Chief Operating Officer and Deputy 
Chief Executive
Roger Spencer was appointed as 
director of delivery in April 2006. He is 
also a director of The Christie Clinic LLP. 
Roger was previously general manager 
for emergency and critical care, 
women and children and clinical 
support services at Salford Royal NHS 
Foundation Trust. He has also worked 
for Greater Manchester Strategic 
Health Authority as national imaging 
contract manager and as deputy 
director of operations at Burnley 
Healthcare NHS Trust. 

Roger has been identified as one of the 
NHS Top Leaders, and is a member of 
The National Leadership Council Top 
Leaders programme. He has also 
carried out work providing advice and 
support on Acute Services for the 
Department of Health and Social Care 
Northern Ireland. Roger holds an MBA, 
an honours degree in nursing studies 
and is a registered nurse.

Jane Sykes
Acting Director of Nursing and 
Governance (to 31st May 2011)
Jane Sykes has held the position of 
acting director of nursing and 
governance since 1st August 2010. 
Jane was previously deputy director of 
nursing and governance/lead cancer 
nurse at the Trust with responsibilities 
for clinical governance and patient 
experience in addition to corporate 
nursing issues, professional/practice 
development, quality standards and 
leadership. She has worked in a range 
of managerial roles at The Christie and 

prior to that gained extensive 
experience working at senior nurse 
level in a variety of clinical specialties 
within oncology. One of her key 
interests is professional development 
and she is actively involved in the 
delivery of the National Cancer 
Leadership Programme in collaboration 
with the Royal Marsden.

Jackie Bird
Director of Nursing and Quality (from 
1st June 2011)
Jackie was appointed as director of 
nursing and quality in June 2011, 
joining from The Rotherham NHS 
Foundation Trust where she was chief 
of quality and standards and chief 
nurse. Jackie has worked previously for 
The Christie for 12 years, joining in 
1988 as a staff nurse on ward 12 
where she soon progressed into a 
senior nurse role. Jackie then became 
the first director of the Greater 
Manchester and Cheshire Cancer 
Network and then deputy director of 
nursing and governance at Salford 
Royal NHS Foundation Trust. 

Jackie is currently responsible for the 
professional leadership of nursing and 
other health professionals, such as 
therapists. Her director role allows her 
to develop her long standing interest in 
cancer, while addressing improvements 
in patient safety, patient experience 
and clinical outcomes. Jackie was 
awarded a Florence Nightingale 
Scholarship in 2007 to review 
approaches to patient safety in 
America and Denmark. A registered 
nurse and a mental health trained 
nurse, she holds an honours degree in 
nursing studies and a Masters in 
management and leadership.



75

Board of directors

Non-executive directors

Lee Childs
Lee Childs was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1st August 2007 
for a three year term expiring on 30th 
July 2010. On 10th February the 
council of governors approved his 
reappointment for a second three year 
term expiring on 30th July 2013. Lee is 
a chartered public finance accountant 
and was a partner with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) from 
1990 to 2007. He specialised in the 
public sector and led PWC’s public 
service practice in the North West for 
the majority of this period. He was the 
lead engagement partner for PWC for 
a number of local authorities, NHS 
bodies and higher education 
establishments for both external,  
and internal audit and consultancy 
assignments. He was active in  
CIPFA affairs at a national level as 
vice-chairman of the national audit 
panel and was president of the North 
West and North Wales Society of 
CIPFA. Lee has been chairman of the 
audit committee since 17th December 
2007.

Sir Duncan Nichol
Sir Duncan Nichol was appointed as a 
non-executive director on 1st April 
2008. At its meeting on 9th February 
2011 the council of governors 
approved Sir Duncan’s re-appointment 
for a further three year term from 1st 
April 2011 to 31st March 2014. Sir 
Duncan’s thirty year career in the NHS 
culminated in his being appointed chief 
executive of the NHS for five years until 
1994. The majority of his career was 
spent in the North West during which 
time he held posts at the South 
Manchester Hospitals Management 

Committee (when it had responsibility 
for The Christie) and the Salford Area 
Health Authority before moving to the 
Mersey Regional Health Authority. 
Sir Duncan was awarded an Honorary 
Doctorate by Salford University in 1990 
and for five years until 2004 he was 
Honorary Professor and Director at the 
Manchester Centre for Healthcare 
Management at The University of 
Manchester. Sir Duncan is a former 
chairman of the Queen’s Counsel 
Selection Panel, the Parole Board for 
England and Wales and the ‘not for 
profit’ company Clinical Pathology 
Accreditation (UK) Ltd. He is a former 
commissioner for Judicial 
Appointments and a former non-
executive director of the Home Office 
Correctional Services Strategy Board. 
He is former chairman of HM Courts 
Services Board and a current non-
executive director of two private 
healthcare companies, Deltex Medical 
Group Ltd and Synergy Healthcare Ltd. 
Duncan was appointed chairman of 
the Academy for Healthcare Science in 
January 2012.

Bill Farndon
Senior non-executive director
Bill Farndon was appointed as a 
non-executive director of The Christie 
on 1st January 2004, was reappointed 
on authorisation as a foundation trust 
before being reappointed again from 
1st April 2008 for a three year term 
expiring on 31st March 2011. At its 
meeting on 9th February 2011 the 
council of governors approved Bill’s 
re-appointment for a further one year 
from 1st April 2011 to 31st March 2012. 
He was appointed by the council of 
governors as the senior non-executive 
director on 19th September 2007. 
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Bill previously held senior management 
positions in strategic planning, business 
development, manufacturing, logistics 
and graduate development. These 
included being vice president of global 
supply chain at Elan Pharmaceuticals 
and planning and budgeting 
coordinator at Fisons plc. He has also 
been director of Manchester 
Manufacturing IGDS. Bill has been 
chairman of the charitable funds 
committee and acting chairman of the 
audit committee. He became chairman 
of the quality assurance committee on 
1st April 2008.

Dame Jenni Murray DBE
Dame Jenni Murray DBE was appointed 
as a non-executive director of The 
Christie in December 2010 with an 
expiry date of December 2013. Jenni 
was a patient at The Christie in 2006. 
She is a patron of the Breast Cancer 
Campaign, of the FPA and of Women’s 
Aid. Jenni is also president of the 
Fawcett Society. Since her treatment 
she has made a significant contribution 
to raising funds for The Christie charity. 

As a journalist and writer Jenni has 
published a number of books and 
numerous newspaper articles. She has 
presented Newsnight, Today and 
continues to present Woman’s Hour  
on Radio 4. Jenni was made a Dame  
in the Queen’s Birthday Honours list  
in 2011.

Patrick Loftus
Patrick Loftus was appointed as a 
non-executive director of The Christie 
from 1st April 2012 with an expiry date 
of 31st March 2015. He is a qualified 
chartered accountant and currently 
works as North West Practice Senior 
Partner at Deloitte LLP.  He has more 
than 30 years experience in 
professional services, with 15 years in 
corporate finance and tax. Pat is also a 
trustee of both Manchester City 
Football Club’s City in the Community 
and the Andrew Flintoff (AF) 
Foundation.

Barrie Bernstein
Barrie Bernstein was appointed as a 
non-executive director of The Christie 
from 1st April 2012 with an expiry date 
of 31st March 2015. He was managing 
director and then chairman of 
Bernstein Group PLC, the UK’s largest 
independent kitchen manufacturer and 
retired in 2002. He was chairman of 
Britannia Building Society from 1999 to 
2004 and chairman of Rochdale 
Development Agency from 1993 to 
2007. Barrie was a non-executive 
director of B.A. Management from 
1992 to the present and is also 
chairman of Bright Futures Educational 
Trust. Barrie has also held several other 
non-executive and chair posts across 
the public and private sector between 
1999 and the present.



77

Board of directors

List of attendance of directors at 
board meetings, non-executive 
committees of the board and the 
council of governors

Board of 
directors

Audit 
committee

Quality 
assurance 
committee

Charitable 
funds 
committee

Remuneration 
committee

Council of 
governors

Out of 10 Out of 5 Out of 5 Out of 4 Out of 1 Out of 4

Jim Martin  
(to 31st May 2011)

2 (out of 2) n/a n/a 0 (out of 0) 0 (out of 0) 1 (out of 1)

Lord Keith Bradley 10 n/a 4 4 1 4

Caroline Shaw 10 n/a n/a 3 n/a 4

Dr Chris Harrison 10 n/a 4 1 n/a 4

Ian Moston 10 5 n/a 4 n/a 4

Roger Spencer 9 n/a n/a 3 n/a 3

Jane Sykes  
(to 31st May 2011)

2 (out of 2) 1 (out of 1) 1 (out of 1) 0 (out of 0) n/a 1 (out of 1)

Jackie Bird  
(from 1st June 2011)

7 (out of 8) 2 (out of 3) 4 (out of 4) 4 n/a 2 (out of 3)

Lee Childs 10 5 4 3 1 2

Bill Farndon 10 5 4 4 1 4

Jenni Murray 8 3 2 1 1 0

Sir Duncan Nichol 8 4 3 1 1 1

Following a review of the quality assurance 
committee in December 2010 it was agreed the 
Chairman and Chief Executive would not be 
members of the committee but would be invited 
to meetings at the request of the committee
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A review has been conducted to see how the board has 
complied with its adoption of the NHS Foundation Trust 
Code of Governance. Details of how they have applied these 
principles are set out below, together with what work is 
taking place to maintain compliance.

A. Directors

Throughout the year the directors have 
conducted themselves as an effective 
board and have maintained a clear 
balance between executive and 
non-executive directors.

B. Governors

The council of governors has been 
effective in carrying out its role as 
defined in the constitution and in the 
code of governance. A joint governor-
board of director workshop was held 
which focused on the Trust’s 20:20 
Vision strategy engagement process 
and ways in which the board and 
council could support the process. 
Governors have been active during the 
year through their committees and 
other working groups.

C. Appointment, resignation and 
term of office

 – Jim Martin retired from the Trust as 
Chairman on 31st May 2011 and 
was replaced by Rt Hon Lord Keith 
Bradley on 1st June 2011 leaving a 
vacancy in our non-executive 
directors

 – Jane Sykes was the acting director 
of nursing and governance from 1st 
August 2010 to 31st May 2011. 
Jackie Bird was appointed as the 
new director of nursing and quality 
and took up her post on 1st June 
2011

 – the council approved the potential 
extension to Bill Farndon’s post for 
three months from 1st April 2011 to 
ensure appropriate non-executive 
director cover while two posts are 
being recruited

 – all non-executive directors are 
appointed for a fixed term of three 
years

 – executive directors’ contracts of 
employment do not contain an 
expiry date

 – all governors are appointed for a 
term of three years

 – Patrick Loftus and Barrie Bernstein 
appointed as non-executive directors 
from 1st April 2012 to 3 years
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D. Information, development  
and evaluation

 – an integrated performance and 
quality report that includes quality, 
performance and financial 
information is provided to the board 
and is published monthly

 – evaluation of the performance of 
the board, its principal committees 
and individual directors is carried out 
annually

 – governors receive the agenda for 
each board meeting a week before 
each meeting and the chief 
executive’s report and a summary 
performance report after each 
meeting. Additional information is 
available on the website and on 
request from any executive director

 – new governors receive training to 
aid their understanding of The 
Christie’s activities and their roles 
and responsibilities as governors. 
Induction training is offered for all 
new governors. Monthly training 
sessions are provided on a variety of 
relevant topics. This was introduced 
during 2010 and the sessions 
constantly evolve following governor 
feedback on their content 

E. Director remuneration

 – the remuneration of executive 
directors is reviewed annually using 
published data and the advice of an 
independent remuneration 
consultant when appropriate

 – the remuneration of executive 
directors is approved by the 
remuneration committee which 
comprises all the non-executive 
directors

 – remuneration of senior 
management is subject to agenda 
for change and is not recommended 

by the remuneration committee
 – the council of governors 

recommended there be no salary 
increase for the chairman and 
non-executive directors during 
2011/12

F. Accountability and audit

 – the board of directors receives a 
comprehensive report of the 
financial position every month which 
provides a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the 
Trust’s position and prospects

 – the Trust uses its audit and quality 
assurance committees to review the 
systems of internal control to 
safeguard investment, assets, 
patient safety and service quality 
and to ensure compliance with legal 
duties 

 – the audit committee, led by a 
non-executive director with recent 
and relevant experience, carries out 
the role defined in its terms of 
reference to ensure appropriate 
financial reporting and internal 
control

G. Relations with stakeholders

 – the board of directors continues to 
support the public governors in their 
engagement with members and 
patients following publication of the 
NHS White Paper ‘Equity and 
excellence – liberating the NHS’

 – the board of directors is currently 
reviewing the organisation’s key 
stakeholders 

The Christie is satisfied that it complies, 
or is undertaking action  
to maintain compliance, with the 
provisions of the code.
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Details of senior employees’ remuneration and pension 
benefits can be found in the two tables in this remuneration 
report and are subject to audit.

The accounting policies for pensions 
and other retirement benefits are set 
out in note 1.3.1 to the financial 
statements.

Salary and pension entitlements of senior managers - remuneration

2011/12 2010/11

Name and Title Salary 
(bands of 
£5000) 
£000

Other 
remuneration 
(bands of 
£5000)  
£000s

Benefits 
in kind 
rounded 
to nearest 
£100

Salary 
(bands of 
£5000) 
£000s

Other 
remuneration 
(bands of 
£5000)| 
£000s

Benefits 
in kind 
rounded 
to nearest 
£100

C Shaw* 
Chief Executive

230-235 0 0 205-210 0 0

I Moston* 
Director of Finance and 
Business Development

140-145 0 0 125-130 0 0

A Norman  
Director of Nursing and 
Governance until 31/7/10

0 0 0 30-35 0 0

J Sykes  
Acting Director of Nursing and 
Governance 1/8/10 - 31/5/11

25-30 0 0 50-55 0 0

J Bird  
Director of Nursing and Quality 
from 1/6/11

95-100 0 5,000 N/A N/A N/A

C Harrison  
Medical Director

200-205 0 0 180-185 15-20 0

R Spencer* 
Chief Operating Officer and 
Deputy Chief Executive

145-150 0 0 130-135 0 0

J Martin  
Chairman until 30/5/11

5-10 0 0 40-45 0 0

K Bradley  
Chairman 1/6/11 - 31/3/12 
Non-executive 1/4/11 - 30/5/11  

35-40 0 0 15-20 0 0
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L Childs  
Non-executive

15-20 0 0 15-20 0 0

W Farndon  
Senior Non-executive Director

15-20 0 0 15-20 0 0

D Nichols  
Deputy Chairman non-
executive

10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0

J Murray  
Non-executive from 1/12/10

10-15 0 0 10-15 0 0

Y Ejo  
Non-executive 1/3/10 – 30/11/

0 0 0 5-10 0 0

Band of highest paid director’s 
total remuneration (£000)

230-235 205-210

Median total remuneration 23,573 23,563

Ratio 9.9 8.8

*Salaries include payment for additional 
responsibilities undertaken during the period  
1st October 2010 to the 31st December 2011 

Benefits in kind relate to the provision of lease cars

Salary and pension entitlements of  
senior managers – pension benefits

Name Real 
increase in 
pension at 
age 60 
(bands of 
£2500) 
£000s 

Real 
increase in 
pension 
lump sum 
at age 60 
(bands of 
£2500)  
£000s

Total 
accrued 
pension at 
age 60 as 
at 31 March 
2012 
(bands of 
£5000)  
£000s

Lump sum 
at age 60 
related to 
accrued 
pension at 
31 March 
2012 (bands 
of £5000)  
£000s

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 31 
March 2012 
£000s 

Cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value at 31 
March 2011 
£000s 

Real 
increase in 
cash 
equivalent 
transfer 
value  
£000s 

Employers 
contribution 
to 
stakeholder 
pension 
£000s 

C Shaw 0-2.5 0-2.5 60-65 185-190 978 807 146 0

I Moston 0-2.5 2.5-5.0 30-35 100-105 516 401 103 0

C Harrison 0-2.5 0-2.5 60-65 185-190 1,188 1,057 98 0

R Spencer 0-2.5 0-2.5 40-45 125-130 718 606 93 0

J Sykes 0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35 95-100 607 508 14 0

J Bird 0-2.5 5.0-7.5 40-45 130-135 730 592 100 0

As non-executive members do not receive  
pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries  
in respect of pensions for non-executive members
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value 
(CETV) is the actuarially assessed 
capital value of the pension scheme 
benefits accrued by a member at a 
particular point in time. The benefits 
valued are the member’s accrued 
benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme. A 
CETV is a payment made by a pension 
scheme, or arrangement to secure 
pension benefits in another pension 
scheme or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme and chooses 
to transfer the benefits accrued in their 
former scheme. The pension figures 
shown relate to the benefits that the 
individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership 
of the pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to which 
the disclosure applies. The CETV 
figures and the other pension details 
include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or 
arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension 
scheme. They also include any 
additional pension benefit accrued to 
the member as a result of their 
purchasing additional years of pension 
service in the scheme at their own cost. 
CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed 
by the Institute and Faculty of 
Actuaries.

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV 
effectively funded by the employer. It 
takes account of the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, 
contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension 
scheme or arrangement). Updated 
common market valuation factors  
were issued in December 2011  
and have been used to produce  
31st March figures.
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Statement of the Chief Executive’s 
responsibilities as the accounting 
officer of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust 

The NHS Act 2006 states that the 
Chief Executive is the accounting 
officer of the NHS foundation trust. 
The relevant responsibilities of the 
accounting officer, including their 
responsibility for the propriety and 
regularity of public finances for which 
they are answerable, and for the 
keeping of proper accounts, are set out 
in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum 
issued by the Independent Regulator of 
NHS Foundation Trusts (“Monitor”). 

Under the NHS Act 2006, Monitor has 
directed The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust to prepare for each financial year 
a statement of accounts in the form 
and on the basis set out in the 
Accounts Direction. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis and must 
give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust and of its income and 
expenditure, total recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial 
year. 

In preparing the accounts, the 
Accounting Officer is required to 
comply with the requirements of the 
NHS Foundation Trust Annual 
Reporting Manual and in particular to: 
 – observe the Accounts Direction 

issued by Monitor, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure 

requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent 
basis; 

 – make judgements and estimates on 
a reasonable basis; 

 – state whether applicable accounting 
standards as set out in the NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting 
Manual have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material 
departures in the financial 
statements; and 

 – prepare the financial statements on 
a going concern basis

The accounting officer is responsible 
for keeping proper accounting records 
which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial 
position of the NHS foundation trust 
and to enable him/her to ensure that 
the accounts comply with requirements 
outlined in the above mentioned Act. 
The Accounting Officer is also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets 
of the NHS foundation trust and hence 
for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities. 

To the best of my knowledge and 
belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in Monitor’s 
NHS Foundation Trust Accounting 
Officer Memorandum. 

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive
28th May 2012
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Scope of responsibility

As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for maintaining a sound 
system of internal control that supports 
the achievement of the NHS 
foundation trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the 
public funds and departmental assets 
for which I am personally responsible, 
in accordance with the responsibilities 
assigned to me. I am also responsible 
for ensuring that the NHS foundation 
trust is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are 
applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set 
out in the NHS Foundation Trust 
Accounting Officer Memorandum.

The purpose of the system of 
internal control

The system of internal control is 
designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 
policies, aims and objectives; it can 
therefore only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the 
risks to the achievement of the policies, 
aims and objectives of The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust, to evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised 
and the impact should they be realised, 
and to manage them efficiently, 
effectively and economically. The 
system of internal control has been in 
place in The Christie NHS Foundation 
Trust for the year ending 31st March 
2012 and up to the date of approval of 
the annual report and accounts.

Capacity to handle risk

Leadership and accountability 

The board of directors, led by myself as 
Chief Executive, has overall 
responsibility for risk management 
processes. I have delegated 
responsibility for the coordination of 
risk management systems and 
processes to the director of nursing 
and quality. She discharges her 
responsibilities through the governance 
team, which includes lead officers for 
the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
essential standards of quality and 
safety, National Health Service 
Litigation Authority (NHSLA) risk 
assessment standards, the board 
assurance framework, the risk register 
and the incident reporting 
management system. She coordinates 
the governance and risk management 
arrangements undertaken within the 
organisation through performance 
review meetings with all operational 
divisions and the risk and quality 
governance committee. 

Risks associated with information 
systems and processes are the 
responsibility of the director of finance 
and business development at board 
level and the deputy chief information 
officer who acts as the senior 
information risk owner. The risk 
management strategy (September 
2011) provides a framework for 
managing risks across the organisation 
which is consistent with best practice 
and Department of Health guidance. 
The strategy provides a clear, 
structured and systematic approach to 
the management of risks to ensure that 
risk assessment is an integral part of 
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clinical, managerial and financial 
processes at all levels across the 
organisation. The strategy sets out the 
role of the board and standing 
committees together with individual 
responsibilities of the Chief Executive, 
executive directors, managers and all 
staff in managing risk. In particular the 
risk and quality governance committee 
through its sub committees of patient 
safety, patient experience and clinical 
and research effectiveness, provide the 
mechanism for managing and 
monitoring risk throughout the Trust 
and reporting through to the board. 

The board receives its assurances on 
the risk management and governance 
arrangements in place through the 
quality assurance and audit 
committees. Both of these are non-
executive board committees and each 
is chaired by a non-executive director. 
All non-executive directors have 
independent access to the internal and 
external auditors. 

Training and learning 

Christie staff are well trained and 
equipped to manage risk in a number 
of ways appropriate to their authority 
and duties. Risk management training 
is provided for all staff through our 
comprehensive induction programme. 
In addition there is specific tailored 
training for individual roles and agreed 
with staff through personal 
development plans. Regular risk 
management awareness training 
continues for all staff through our 
corporate essential training 
programme. This includes key risk areas 
such as health and safety, moving and 
handling, infection prevention and 
control, incident reporting and 

investigation and complaints handling. 

The organisation aims to ensure that it 
learns from internal and external 
incidents and shares good practice 
through a range of mechanisms 
including governance meetings, team 
briefings, action plans arising from 
external reviews including the NHSLA 
risk assessment standards, the Royal 
Colleges, peer review and PEAT 
inspections. The board of directors also 
reviews relevant reports from the CQC, 
Monitor and the Department of 
Health.

The risk and control framework

Internal assurance process 

The risk management strategy aims to 
control, manage and mitigate risk. It 
sets out a system for continuous 
improvement via risk management 
which extends to all areas of the 
organisation. It aims to reduce clinical 
and non clinical risks. Risk 
management is integral to Trust 
business and embedded in the culture 
of the Trust. Individual and 
organisational learning from incidents, 
mistakes, accidents and near misses is 
a key component of the Trust’s risk 
management strategy to ensure 
continual improvement. Risks are 
quantified using the Australia/New 
Zealand risk management standard 
4360:2004 which measures risk using 
a combination of consequence (also 
described as impact or severity) and 
the likelihood (or probability or 
frequency) of an event occurring. In 
year the organisations highest risks 
have been the achievement of the 
62-day cancer waiting time standard 
and the impact on Trust income due to 
the introduction of PbR (payment by 

results) tariff for radiotherapy and 
chemotherapy and critical care. 

The key controls and mitigation for non 
achievement of the 62-day target has 
been engaging and working with other 
providers who send patients to us on 
this pathway and the local cancer 
network. We are following the advice 
and guidance of the National Cancer 
Director and the Department of Health 
team and are reporting to the regulator 
regularly our compliance with the 
measures he has set out. The key 
controls and mitigation around the 
impact on Trust income of the 
introduction of the PbR tariff for 
radiotherapy and chemotherapy 
includes meetings with the department 
of health, membership on national 
costing groups by finance and clinical 
staff in order to influence tariff as well 
as undertaking benchmarking with 
other cancer centres. In relation to 
critical care tariff we are negotiating 
with other providers and 
commissioners.

The Trust uses Datix to support its risk 
management process. This database 
encompasses incidents, formal and 
informal complaints, litigation details 
and risks. All staff has a role in 
identifying risks and helping to reduce 
their impact. 

The key risks for the organisation are 
reported in the integrated performance 
and quality report and are reviewed 
formally by the risk and quality 
governance committee and the board 
of directors every month. Identified 
risks are reported using the Trust’s 
integrated performance and quality 
reporting structures and are reviewed 
at divisional, management and board 
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meetings. Managers systematically 
assess risk in their areas of 
responsibility. All risk assessments are 
documented and risks recorded on the 
risk register. Once analysed the higher 
scoring risks are managed by higher 
levels in the organisation. Risk control 
measures are identified and where 
resources may be required to control 
the risk; business cases developed to 
achieve this are treated as a priority. 

The risk and control framework is 
based on a robust board reporting 
process which ensures that information 
is presented to the board in a timely 
manner and in an appropriate format. 
The board assurance framework 
provides an immediate means of 
alerting the board to areas of concern 
or failures of control, enabling the 
board to ensure that the appropriate 
management resource is committed to 
resolving such issues. The reporting 
process includes the corporate plan 
which identifies the strategic objectives 
of The Christie. Progress towards their 
achievement is presented to the board 
twice per year. 

The board assurance framework is 
regularly reviewed and updated from 
the corporate plan and is presented to 
the board at the start of the year and 
reviewed by the audit, quality 
assurance and board of directors 
during the year. Each objective is 
allocated to either the audit or quality 
assurance committee. The presentation 
of the assurance framework has been 
improved to assist the board to judge 
the effectiveness of control measures 
intended to reduce the risks to the 
organisation in achieving its principal 
objectives. The audit and quality 
assurance committees examine issues 

at random and in depth to ensure that 
the system accurately describes risk 
and controls.

External assurance process

The Christie works with a number of 
partner organisations as shown below, 
to ensure that risks to The Christie are 
identified, assessed and appropriate 
action is undertaken:
 – frequent correspondence and 

dialogue with NHS North West and 
NHS Greater Manchester PCT 
cluster, the lead primary care trust 
for cancer services throughout 
2010/11, and the Greater 
Manchester and Cheshire Cancer 
Network

 – working closely with The Christie 
Commissioning Advisory Group 
(CCAG)

 – working with The University of 
Manchester and The University of 
Salford and a number of other 
academic institutes and professional 
bodies to ensure training and 
education is delivered in line with 
national standards and the academic 
expectations of relevant bodies

 – working with other acute trusts in 
the cancer network on the delivery 
of safe chemotherapy and 
radiotherapy treatment

 – working with our private patient 
joint venture partner Health 
Corporation of America to 
continually develop private patient 
services at The Christie

The organisation’s response to national 
alerts and governance action is 
managed through the patient safety 
committee and management board 
and reported to the board of directors. 
We are a level 2 compliant organisation 
as assessed by NHSLA in 2010. We 

have produced a detailed action plan 
to achieve the current level 3 criteria at 
our next assessment. 

The Christie also engages with public 
and NHS stakeholders in the following 
way:
 – public: council of governors and 

committees of governors, members’ 
meetings, local public engagement 
meetings, Local Information 
Networks (LINks) and Patient 
surveys (both internal and external), 
suggestion schemes and the patient 
comment system

 – NHS: The Christie Commissioning 
Advisory Group (currently led by 
NHS Greater Manchester PCT 
cluster), the Greater Manchester and 
Cheshire Cancer Network, PCT 
representation on the drugs 
management committee and 
patient/user input into capital 
planning

The foundation trust is fully compliant 
with the registration requirements of 
the Care Quality Commission and was 
subjected to an unannounced visit in 
October 2011 where the Trust was 
found to be compliant with the 
outcomes reviewed. As an employer 
with staff entitled to membership of 
the NHS Pension Scheme, control 
measures are in place to ensure all 
employer obligations contained within 
the Scheme regulations are complied 
with. This includes ensuring that 
deductions from salary, employer’s 
contributions and payments into the 
Scheme are in accordance with the 
Scheme rules, and that member 
Pension Scheme records are accurately 
updated in accordance with the 
timescales detailed in the Regulations. 
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Control measures are in place to ensure 
that all the organisation’s obligations 
under equality, diversity and human 
rights legislation are complied with. 

The foundation trust has undertaken 
risk assessments and Carbon Reduction 
Delivery Plans are in place in 
accordance with emergency 
preparedness and civil contingency 
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 
weather projects, to ensure that this 
organisation’s obligations under the 
Climate Change Act and the 
Adaptation Reporting requirements are 
complied with.

Review of economy, efficiency  
and effectiveness of the use  
of resources

During the year the board and its 
assurance committees have reviewed 
the policies, procedures and control 
mechanisms related to our private 
patient joint venture and adjusted 
these based on actual experience. Our 
forward plans for 2012/13 include a 
significant review of these by our 
internal audit team. The opinion of the 
Director of Internal Audit for 2011/12 is 
that significant assurance can be given 
that there is a generally sound system 
of internal control designed to meet 
the organisation’s objectives, and that 
controls are generally being applied 
consistently. During 2011/12 The 
Christie has built on the existing 
arrangements and has seen further 
improvements to governance and risk 
management systems and in the 
reporting mechanisms to the board of 
directors. These include the effective 
monitoring of our achievements of the 
key corporate objectives for 2011/12 
including:
 – continuing to address the difficulties 

associated with the 62-day cancer 
waiting time target

 – a review of the divisional structures, 
ensuring clear accountability 
arrangements are in place for 
performance and risk management 
within all divisions

 – continuing to develop the 
performance reports to board 
ensuring clarity when presenting 
quality and safety information

 – our continuing board development, 
focusing on delivering our five year 
strategy and corporate objectives for 
2011/12
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Annual quality report

The directors are required under the 
Health Act 2009 and the National 
Health Service (quality accounts) 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) to 
prepare quality accounts for each 
financial year. Monitor has issued 
guidance to NHS foundation trust 
boards on the form and content of 
annual quality reports which 
incorporate the above legal 
requirements in the NHS Foundation 
Trust Annual Reporting Manual.

The quality report presents a balanced 
view and is based on accurate data. 
The board of directors is assured of this 
through the Trust’s governance 
processes and leadership by the 
executive team. Systems are in place to 
collect, validate and analyse all data 
using the appropriately skilled team. 
This may be the information or 
performance team, infection control 
team, internal audit, the governance 
team or the UK cancer information 
team. 

Our annual quality reports bring 
together reports on quality of care 
contained in the quality accounts 
section of our monthly integrated 
performance and quality report. The 
monthly reports are considered by the 
senior clinicians and managers of the 
organisation at the monthly 
management board and by the board 
of directors. The quality report has 
been received by the quality assurance 
committee and has been approved by 
the management board. The 
preparation of quality accounts has 
been led by the medical director.

Review of effectiveness

As accounting officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal 
control. My review of the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control is 
informed by the work of the internal 
auditors, clinical audit and the 
executive managers and clinical leads 
within the NHS foundation trust who 
have responsibility for the development 
and maintenance of the internal 
control framework. I have drawn on 
the content of the quality report 
attached to this Annual Report and 
other performance information 
available to me. 

My review is also informed by 
comments made by the external 
auditors in its management letter and 
other reports. I have been advised on 
the implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control by the board, 
the audit committee and the quality 
assurance committee and a plan to 
address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system 
is in place.

Conclusion

As accounting officer and based on the 
information provided above I am 
assured that no significant internal 
control issues have been identified.

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2012
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Independent auditor’s report to 
the council of governors of The 
Christie NHS Foundation Trust

I have audited the financial statements 
of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 
for the year ended 31st March 2012 
under the National Health Service Act 
2006. The financial statements 
comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Statement 
of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity, the 
Statement of Cash Flows and the 
related notes. These financial 
statements have been prepared under 
the accounting policies set out in Note 1 
in the notes to the accounts. 

I have also audited the information in 
the remuneration report that is 
described as having been audited. 

This report is made solely to the council 
of governors of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with 
paragraph 24(5) of Schedule 7 of the 
National Health Service Act 2006. My 
audit work has been undertaken so 
that I might state to the council of 
governors those matters I am required 
to state to it in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, I do not 
accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Foundation 
Trust as a body, for my audit work, for
this report or for the opinions I have 
formed.

Respective responsibilities of the 
accounting officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the 
statement of accounting officer’s 
responsibilities, the accounting officer 
is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. 

My responsibility is to audit the 
financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law, the Audit Code for NHS 
Foundation Trusts and International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require me to 
comply with the Auditing Practice’s 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial 
statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements sufficient to 
give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an 
assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Trust’s 
circumstances and have been 
consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made 
by the Trust; and the overall 
presentation of the financial 
statements. 
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In addition, I read all the financial and 
non-financial information in the annual 
report to identify material 
inconsistencies with the audited 
financial statements. If I become aware 
of any apparent material misstatements 
or inconsistencies I consider the 
implications for my report.

Opinion on financial statements

In my opinion the financial statements:
 – give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust’s affairs as at 31st 
March 2012 and of its income and 
expenditure for the year then 
ended;

and
 – have been properly prepared in 

accordance with the accounting 
policies directed by Monitor as being 
relevant to NHS Foundation Trusts

Opinion on other matters

In my opinion:
 – the part of the remuneration report 

subject to audit has been properly 
prepared in accordance with the 
accounting policies directed by 
Monitor as being relevant to NHS 
Foundation Trusts; and

 – the information given in the Annual 
Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements

Matters on which I report by 
exception

I report to you if, in my opinion the 
annual governance statement does not 
reflect compliance with Monitor’s 
requirements. I have nothing to report 
in this respect.

Certificate

I certify that I have completed the audit 
of the accounts of The Christie NHS 
Foundation Trust in accordance with 
the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 and the Audit 
Code for NHS Foundation Trusts issued 
by Monitor.

Julian Farmer
Officer of the Audit Commission
28th May 2012

Audit Commission
2nd Floor
Aspinall House
Aspinall Close
Middlebrook
Horwich
Bolton
BL6 6QQ



Account of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2011-12

FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS

THE CHRISTIE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST

These accounts for the year ending 31 March 2012 have been prepared by The Christie 
NHS Foundation Trust under paragraphs 24 and 25 of Schedule 7 to the National Health 
Service Act 2006, in the form which Monitor, the Independent Regulator of NHS 
Foundation Trusts has, with the approval of the Treasury, directed.
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Signed

Caroline Shaw
Chief Executive 
28th May 2012
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Account of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2011-12

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the Year Ending  31 March 2012

Note 2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000

Operating income 3 185,308 190,015

Operating expenses 4 (189,259) (178,700)

Operating surplus (3,951) 11,315

Finance costs

Finance income 8.1 117 92
Finance expense - financial liabilities 8.2 (894) (471)
Finance expense - unwinding of discount on provisions 17 (2) (3)
PDC dividends payable (2,143) (2,282)

Net finance costs (2,922) (2,664)

Share of profit/ (loss) of associates/ joint ventures accounted for 
using the equity method 3,578 (751)

Corporation tax expense 0 0

Surplus/ (deficit) from continuing operations (3,295) 7,900

Surplus/ (deficit) of discontinued operations and the gain/ (loss) on 
disposal of discontinued operations 0 0

Surplus for the year (3,295) 7,900

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation gains/ (losses) on property, plant & equipment 6,979 (5,449)
Revaluation gains/ (losses) on intangible assets 0 0
Fair value gains/ (losses) on available for sale financial 
investments 0 0
Actuarial gains/ (losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 0 0
Other recognised gains and losses 0 0
Other Reserve Movements 0 0

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,684 2,451

The notes on pages 5 to 35 form part of these accounts.

The year on year comparison is impacted due to the change in accounting treatment of IAS20 see 
accounting policies 1.6 and 1.8 and also note 3.2 and 25.
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Account of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2011-12

Statement of Financial Position as at  31 March 2012

Note
31 March 

2012
31 March 

2011
1 April 

2010
Re-stated Re-stated

£000 £000 £000

Non Current Assets
Intangible assets 9 284 814 1,001
Property, plant & equipment 10 142,528 145,379 135,671
Investments in jointly controlled operations 11 5,096 1,058 0

Total non-current assets 147,908 147,251 136,672

Current assets
Inventories 12 1,680 1,602 1,660
Trade and other receivables 13 12,915 21,971 10,865
Other financial assets 13.4 160 220 250
Non current assets held for sale and assets in 
disposal groups 10.7 150 302 0
Cash and cash equivalents 14 39,357 21,135 30,704

Total current assets 54,262 45,230 43,479

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 15.1 (19,918) (18,407) (23,179)
Borrowings 16 (1,151) (972) (223)
Provisions 17 (389) (168) (282)
Other liabilities 15.2 (797) (944) (1,958)
Tax payable 15.1 (1,847) (1,788) 0

Total current liabilities (24,102) (22,279) (25,642)

Total assets less current liabilities 178,068 170,202 154,509

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15.1 0 (210) (135)
Borrowings 16 (20,079) (17,309) (4,257)
Provisions 17 (452) (467) (95)
Other liabilities 15.2 (8,381) (6,744) (7,001)

Total non-current liabilities (28,912) (24,730) (11,488)

Total assets employed 149,156 145,472 143,021

Financed by taxpayers' equity

Public dividend capital 24 61,116 61,116 61,116
Revaluation reserve 24,477 17,809 23,382
Income & expenditure reserve 63,563 66,547 58,523

Total Taxpayers' Equity: 149,156 145,472 143,021

Chief Executive: Date: 

The accounts on pages 1 to 35 were approved by the board on 28th May 2012 and signed on its 
behalf by:
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28th May 2012
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Account of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2011-12

Statement of changes in taxpayers' equity  31 March 2012

Minority 
interest

Public 
dividend 
capital

Revaluation 
reserve

Donated asset 
reserve

Income & 
expenditure 

reserve

Total reserves

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2011 as previously 
stated

0 61,116 17,809 0 66,547 145,472

Prior period adjustment 0 0 0 0 0 0
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2011 - restated 0 61,116 17,809 0 66,547 145,472

Surplus for the year 0 0 0 0 (3,295) (3,295)
Revaluation gains/ (losses) and impairment losses on 
intangible assets

0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation gains/ (losses) and impairment losses 
property, plant and equipment

0 0 6,979 0 0 6,979

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 (124) 0 124 0

Public dividend capital received 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other transfers between reserves 0 0 (187) 0 187 0

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2012 0 61,116 24,477 0 63,563 149,156

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2010 as previously 
stated

0 61,116 18,971 49,280 13,269 142,636

Prior period adjustment 0 0 4,411 (49,280) 45,254 385
Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2010 - restated 0 61,116 23,382 0 58,523 143,021

Surplus (deficit) for the year 0 0 0 0 7,900 7,900
Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses on 
intangible assets

0 0 0 0 0 0

Revaluation (losses) and impairment losses property, 
plant and equipment

0 0 (5,449) 0 0 (5,449)

Transfer of the excess of cost depreciation over 
historical cost depreciation to the Income and 
Expenditure reserve

0 0 (124) 0 124 0

Public dividend capital received 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other transfers between reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0

Taxpayers' equity at 31 March 2011 0 61,116 17,809 0 66,547 145,472

The notes on pages 5 to 35 form part of these accounts.
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Account of The Christie NHS Foundation Trust 2011-12

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ending  31 March 2012

Note 2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus (3,951) 11,315
Depreciation and Amortisation 4.1 9,000 8,149
Impairments 4.1 10,357 6,198
Reversal of Impairments (40) (150)
Transfers from donated asset reserves 3.2 0 0
Amortisation of grants 0 0
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 9,063 (11,256)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (78) 58
Increase/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 3,585 (868)
Increase/(Decrease) in other liabilities 1,489 (2,082)
Increase/ (decrease) in provisions 204 255
Increase/ (decrease) in tax payable 59 111
Loss on disposal of Property, Plant & Equipment 4.1 65 208

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 29,753 11,938

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 117 92
Purchase of financial assets - The Christie Clinic joint venture (460) (1,768)
Sale of financial assets 100 230
Purchase of intangible assets (96) (7)
Sales of intangible assets 0 0
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (11,285) (31,263)
Sales of property, plant and equipment 268 6

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities (11,356) (32,710)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received 24 0 0
Loans received 16 4,000 14,000
Loans Repaid 16 (912) 0
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (20) (18)
Capital element of PFI obligations (117) (208)
Interest paid (836) (380)
Interest element of finance lease (4) (4)
Interest element of PFI obligations (54) (87)
PDC Dividend paid (2,232) (2,100)
Receipts for donated Property, Plant & Equipment 0 0
Receipts for donated intangible assets 0 0

Net financing (175) 11,203

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 14 18,222 (9,569)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 14 21,135 30,704

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 14 39,357 21,135

The notes at pages 5 to 35 form part of these accounts.
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The Christie NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2011/12

Notes to the Accounts
1. Accounting Policies

Monitor has directed that the financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting 
requirements of the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual which shall be agreed with HM Treasury. 
Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2011/12 NHS 
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual issued by Monitor. The accounting policies contained in that 
manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting 

1.1 Accounting Conventions

These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the 
revaluation of tangible non current assets at their value to the business by reference to their current costs. NHS 
foundation trusts in compliance with HM Treasury's Financial Reporting Manual are not required to comply with 

1.1.1 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Activities are considered to be 'acquired' only if they are acquired from outside the public sector.  Activities are 
considered to be 'discontinued' only if they cease entirely.  They are not considered to be 'discontinued' if they 

1.1.2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Trust’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources.  The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, that 
are considered to be relevant.  Actual results may differ from those estimates.  The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are continually reviewed.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which 

Where the Trust has made such judgements and estimates these are referred to in the relevant notes and 

a) Segmental reporting - see note 2
b) Pension scheme valuation - actuarial valuations have been used in in the valuation of the scheme - see note 
c) The ill health retirement benefit is based on figures provided by the Pensions Agency - see note 17
d) Other provisions - see note 17
f) The figures relating to the joint venture are based on audited accounts and management estimations 
g) Due to the early closure of the accounts, accruals have been used based on the best estimate known at the 
h) Non current PPE asset valuation is based on the District Valuers valuation.
i) The valuation for the Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander investment is based on an update on 3rd November 
2011, from the Administrators in relation to the projected dividend  - see note 13.4
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1.2 Income

Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.  The main source of income for the Trust is from 
commissioners for healthcare services.  Income relating to patient care spells that are part-completed at the 
year-end are apportioned across the financial years on the basis of length of stay at the end of the reporting 

Where income is received for a specific activity (treating Research & development as one activity) that is to be
delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.

Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been
met and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.

1.3 Expenditure on employee benefits

1.3.1  Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is 
received from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end 
of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry-

Pension costs - NHS Pension scheme

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.  Details of the 
benefits payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.  The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS 
employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England 
and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share 
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that 
“the period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 

a) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme 
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates. 
The last formal actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending 
31 March 2004. Consequently, a formal actuarial valuation would have been due for the year ending 31 March 
2008. However, formal actuarial valuations for unfunded public service schemes have been suspended by HM 
Treasury on value for money grounds while consideration is given to recent changes to public service pensions,
and while future scheme terms are developed as part of the reforms to public service pension provision. 
Employer and employee contribution rates are currently being determined under the new scheme design.
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b) Accounting valuation

A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting 
period. Actuarial assessments are undertaken in intervening years between formal valuations using updated 
membership data are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. However, 
as the interval since the last formal valuation now exceeds four years, the valuation of the scheme liability as at 
31 March 2012, is based on detailed membership data as at 31 March 2010 updated to 31 March 2012 with 
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms 
part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually.  These 
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website.  Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery 

c) Scheme provisions 

The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative 
guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that 

The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and 
of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of 
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme 

With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional 
tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as 

Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and 
are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. 
From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) will be used to replace the Retail Prices Index (RPI).

Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently 
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity.  A death gratuity of twice final year’s 
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the 
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.

Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run by 
the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) 

1.3.2  Expenditure on other goods and services

Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is 
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses 
except where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
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1.4 Property, Plant & Equipment (PPE)

1.4.1 Recognition

PPE is capitalised where:
 -  it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
 -  it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
 -  it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 
 -  the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
 -  individually have a cost of at least £5,000;  or
 -  form a group of assets which individually have a cost of more than £250, collectively have a cost of at least 
£5,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
 - form part of the initial setting-up cost of a new building or refurbishment of a ward or unit, irrespective of their 

1.4.2 Valuation

PPE assets are stated at the lower of replacement cost and recoverable amount.  On initial recognition the 
assets are measured at cost (for leased assets, fair value) including any costs such as installation directly 
attributable to bringing them into working condition. The carrying values of PPE assets are reviewed for 
impairment in periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be 
recoverable. The costs arising from financing the construction of PPE is not capitalised but charged to the 

All land and buildings are restated to current value using professional valuations in accordance with IAS16 
every five years, with an interim valuation every three years. If the fair value of a revalued asset differs 

Valuations are carried out by professionally qualified valuers in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual. This years valuation was undertaken by Mrs S Hall 

The valuations are carried out primarily on the basis of Depreciated Replacement Cost of a Modern Equivalent 
Asset for specialised operational property and Existing Use Value for non-specialised operational property.  
The value of land for existing use purposes is assessed at Existing Use Value.  For non-operational properties 

Assets in the course of construction are valued at cost and are valued by professional valuers as part of the 
five or three-yearly valuation or when they are brought into use.

Operational equipment is valued at net current replacement cost. Equipment surplus to requirements is valued 
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1.4.3  Subsequent expenditure

Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable 
cost is added to the asset’s carrying value. Where subsequent expenditure is simply restoring the asset to the 
specification assumed by its economic useful life then the expenditure is charged to operating expenses.

1.4.4  Depreciation

PPE assets are depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives.  The estimated useful lives and  residual values are reviewed each 
year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.  Assets held under finance leases 

No depreciation is provided on freehold land and assets surplus to requirements.

Assets in the course of construction and residual interests in on-Statement of Financial Position PFI contract 
assets are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use or reverts to the Trust, respectively.

Equipment is depreciated on historic cost for low value and/or short life assets and on current cost for other 
equipment assets evenly over the estimated life of the asset.

1.4.5  Revaluation and impairment

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, 
and to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case 

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an available balance for 
the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.

the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to 
the income & expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to operating 
expenses: and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment.

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’.

1.4.6  De-recognition

Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘Held for Sale’ once all of the following criteria are met;

 -  the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
    customary for such sales;

 -  the sale must be highly probable i.e.:

● management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
● an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
● the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
● the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as ‘Held for Sale’; and
● the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant 
     made to it.
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Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their ‘fair 
value less costs to sell’. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the 
‘fair value less costs to sell’ falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale 

PPE which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as ‘Held for Sale’ and instead is 
retained as an operational asset and the asset’s economic life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when 

1.5 Intangible Assets

1.5.1  Recognition

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided 
to, the Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Where internally generated assets are 

Intangible assets are capitalised when they are capable of being used in a Trust's activities for more than one 
year; they can be valued; and they have a cost of at least £5,000.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and similar items are not 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at historical cost.  Internally-generated assets are 
recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

● the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use
● the intention to complete the intangible asset and use it
● the ability to use the intangible asset
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits
● the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the intangible asset and use it
● the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the 
relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. 

1.5.2  Measurement

Intangible non current assets held for operational use are valued at historical cost.  The carrying value of 
intangible assets is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full year following acquisition and in other 
periods if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred 
from the date when the criteria above are initially met.  Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be 
recognised, the expenditure is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) in the period in 
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1.5.3  Amortisation

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their expected useful economic lives or, in the 
case of software licences, over the term of the licence where this is shorter.

1.6  Donated assets

Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. 
The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposes a condition that the 
future economic benefits embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in 
which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the 
The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of 

1.7  Private Finance Initiative (PFI) transactions

PFI transactions which meet the IFRIC 12 definition of a service concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s 
FReM, are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the Trust. The underlying assets are 
recognised as PPE at their fair value. An equivalent financial liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 17.

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the liability, a finance cost and the 
charges for services. The finance cost is calculated using the effective interest rate for the scheme.

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is charged to Finance Costs in 

Where the balance of the risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property are borne by the PFI operator, the 
PFI payments are recorded as an operating expense. Where the Trust has contributed land and buildings, a 
prepayment for their fair value is recognised and amortised over the life of the PFI contract by charge to the 
SOCI. Where, at the end of the PFI contract, a property reverts to the Trust, the difference between the 
expected fair value of the residual on reversion and any agreed payment on reversion is built up over the life of 

1.8  Government grants

Government grants are grants from Government bodies other than income from primary care trusts or NHS 
trusts for the provision of services. . Where a grant is used to fund revenue expenditure it is taken to the 

1.9 Research
The revenue costs of personnel, consumables, etc. engaged in research and development activities is shown 
as direct expenditure of the Trust. Some of these activities are funded through charitable sources and therefore 
an amount corresponding to the expenditure charged to the SOCI is included in operating income from 

Research and development expenditure is charged against income in the year in which it is incurred, except 
insofar as development expenditure relates to a clearly defined project and the benefits of it can reasonably be 

Expenditure so deferred is limited to the value of future benefits expected and is amortised through the income 
and expenditure account on a systematic basis over the period expected to benefit from the project.  It is 
revalued on the basis of current cost. The amortisation is calculated on the same basis as depreciation, on a 

Expenditure which does not meet the criteria for capitalisation is treated as an operating cost in the year in 
which it is incurred.  Where possible NHS foundation trusts disclose the total amount of research and 
development expenditure charged in the SOCI separately. However, where research and development activity 

1.10 Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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1.10.1  The Trust as lessee

Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is 
recorded as PPE and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both are recognised is the lower 
of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant periodic rate of interest on 

The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is 
discharged, cancelled or expires. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance 
cost. The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is 

Operating leases

Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straight-
line basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and 

Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the 
classification for each is assessed separately.

1.10.2  The Trust as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the Trust’s net 
investment in the leases.  Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant 
periodic rate of return on the Trust’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

1.11 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities

IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39, which refer to financial instruments, require disclosure of the role that financial 
instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its 

The Trust is not exposed to significant financial risk factors arising from financial instruments.  Because of the 
continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with local primary care trusts and the way those 
primary care trusts are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business 
entities.  Financial assets and liabilities are generated by day to day operational activities rather than being held 

Market risk is the possibilty that financial loss might arise as a result of changes in such measures as interest 
rates and stock market movements. The Trust's transactions are almost all undertaken in sterling and so it is 
not exposed to foreign exchange risk. It holds no significant investments other than short-term bank deposits. 
Other than cash balance, the Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest and the 

Liquidity risk is the possibility that the Trust might not have the funds available to meet it's commitments to 
make payments.  Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of 
funding from an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.  NHS foundation trusts are required to comply 
with the Prudential Borrowing Code made by Monitor, the Independant Regulator of foundation trusts, and 

1.12 Provisions
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The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount at the balance 
sheet date on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where the 
effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using HM 

1.12.1  Clinical negligence costs

The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual 
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims.  Although the NHSLA is 
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust.  The total 

1.12.2  Non-clinical risk pooling

The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme.  Both are 
risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHSLA and, in return, receives 
assistance with the costs of claims arising.  The annual membership contributions, and any 'excesses' payable 

1.13 Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, except for pharmacy stocks which are 
valued at average cost.  This is considered to be a reasonable approximation to current cost due to the high 

1.14 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more 
than 24 hours.  Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition 
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.15   Public dividend capital

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over 
liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is 

A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as PDC dividend. The charge is 
calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust 
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Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all liabilities;
(i) less net book value of donated assets
(ii) plus the value of any deferred income balance that funds a donated asset (to avoid the potential to double 
count donated assets as a reduction in relevant net assets where a donated asset is associated with a defrred 
(iii) less net cash balances in Government Banking Service accounts (excluding cash balances in GBS account 
that relate to ashort term working capital facility).
(iv) less/ plus PDC dividend receivables/ payables.

1.16   Contingencies

Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or 
more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in note 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in note 18, unless the probability of a transfer of 
economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:

● possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of one
    more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

● present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic benefit
    will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

1.17   Corporation tax

Under s519A ICTA 1988 the Trust is regarded as a Health Service body and is, therefore, exempt from taxation 
on its income and capital gains. Section 148 of the 2004 Finance Act provided the Treasury with powers to 
disapply this exemption. Accordingly the Trust is potentially within the scope of corporation tax in respect of 
activities which are not related to, or ancillary to, the provision of healthcare and where the profits exceed 
£50,000 pa. Activities such as staff and patient car parking and sales of food are considered to be ancillary to 

1.18   Value Added Tax (VAT)

Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and 
input tax on purchases is not recoverable.  Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category 
or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets.  Where output tax is charged or input VAT is 

1.19   Foreign exchange

The functional and presentational currencies of the Trust are sterling.

A transaction which is denominated in a foreign currency is translated into the functional currency at the spot 
exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

Where the Trust has assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency at the Statement of Financial 

• monetary items (other than financial instruments measured at ‘fair value through income and expenditure’) 
are translated at the spot exchange rate on 31 March;
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost are translated using the spot exchange rate at 
• non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at fair value are translated using the spot exchange rate at the 

Exchange gains or losses on monetary items (arising on settlement of the transaction or on re-translation at the 
Statement of Financial Position date) are recognised in income or expense in the period in which they arise.
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Exchange gains or losses on non-monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the same manner as other 

1.20   Losses and Special Payments

Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for 
the health service or passed legislation.  By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise.  They are 
therefore subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments.  They are divided 

Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the SOCI on an accruals 
basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had theTrust not been 
bearing its own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).  Note 21 

1.21   Consolidation - Joint ventures

Joint ventures are separate entities over which the Trust has joint control with one or more other parties. The 
meaning of control is to exercise control or power to influence so as to gain economic or other benefits. Joint 

Valuatation of the investment in the Joint Venuture is recognised at cost and the carrying amount increased or 
decreased to recognise The Christie's share of its profit or loss.

1.22   Accounting standards
 
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued a number of new accounting standards for 
implementation in future years. We have considered these and it is unlikely that they will have a material impact 
IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosures - amendment & transfers of financial assets published in October 
IFRS 9  Financial Instruments: Financial assets and Financial liabilities published in October 2010.
IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements published in May 2011.
IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements published in May 2011.
IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities published in May 2011.
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement published in May 2011.
IAS 12  Income taxes amendment published December in 2010.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements, on Other Comprehensive Income published in June 2011.
IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements  published in May 2011.
IAS 28 Associates and Joint Ventures published in May 2011.

No accounting standards in issue have been adopted early.
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2.1   Operating segments

3. Operating income 

2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000

Income from activities 3.1 140,841 137,271
Other operating income 3.2 44,467 52,744

185,308 190,015

3.1 .1  Income from activities by type

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Elective income 26,820 26,093
Non Elective income 10,378 10,723
Outpatient income 11,508 12,229
A&E income 0 0
Other types of activity* 92,135 83,669
PBR clawback 0 0
Private patient income 0 4,557

Total 140,841 137,271

*Other includes chemotherapy and radiotherapy day treatments.  The increase reflects growth in activity.

Under IFRS 8, the Trust is required to disclose financial information across significant operating 
segments which reflect the way the management runs the organisation. A significant segment is 
one that represents more than 10% of the income or expenditure of the entity.

The Trust operates with one significant segment, being the provision of healthcare services and, 
as such, has not disclosed a breakdown of the income, expenditure and net assets beyond what 
is shown in these accounts.

Of the total shown above all income, except income from private patients, relates to 
mandatory services

Private patient  income generated directly by the Trust ceased on 14 September 2010.  From 15 
September 2010 all private patient activity was novated to The Christie Clinic.
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3.1.2    Private patient income cap

2011-12 2010-11
Recalculated 

base year
£000 £000 £000

Private patient income (includes income from joint venture) 10,708 8,485 5,520
Total patient related income 140,841 137,271 58,842
Proportion (as percentage) 7.6% 6.2% 9.4%

3.1.3   Income from activities by source

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

NHS Foundation Trusts 725 622
NHS Trusts 209 257
Strategic Health Authorities 4,127 4,315
Primary Care Trusts 132,989 125,428
Department of Health 0 0
NHS Other 2,791 2,092
Non NHS:
      - Private patients 0 4,557
      - Macmillan income 0 0

               
Total 140,841 137,271

3.2   Other Operating Income

2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000
Research and development 10,543 9,816
Education and training 4,443 4,334
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure** 6,697 18,450
Non-patient care services to other bodies 1,379 1,342
North West Medical Physics 6,084 5,824
Joint venture income* 7,129 3,928
North West Cancer Intelligence Services 1,506 1,718
Income in respect of staff costs 1,307 867
Estates recharges 299 366
Clinical excellence awards 1,029 989
Catering 745 763
Creche services 587 512
Property rentals 544 526
Car parking 292 274
Pharmacy sales 260 677
Courses 460 944
Profit on disposal of land & buildings 347 0
Other 816 1,414

Total 44,467 52,744

Section 44 of the 2006 Act requires that the proportion of private patient income to the total patient related 
income of NHS Foundation Trusts should not exceed its proportion whilst the body was an NHS Trust in 2002/03.  
Private patient income calculated against the PPI cap is a combination of Income received from The Christie 
Clinic in relation to services provided to it and the proportion of the surplus the trust receives from The Christie 
Clinic.

Private patient  income generated directly by the Trust ceased on 14 September 2010.  From 15 September 
2010 all private patient activity was novated to The Christie Clinic.

*Joint venture income relates to services provided to The Christie Clinic via Service Level Agreements, property 
rental income and other contractual payments.
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4.  Operating Expenses

4.1   Operating expenses comprise:

2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000

Services from Foundation Trusts 3,287 3,018
Services from NHS Trusts 675 1,249
Services from PCTs 207 209
Services from other NHS bodies 1,895 1,802
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies 0 0
Executive directors' costs 1,070 953
Non-executive directors' costs 114 127
Staff costs 91,368 87,433
Drug costs 38,245 36,971
Supplies and services - clinical 13,099 11,730
Supplies and services - general 1,831 1,582
Establishment 2,637 2,537
Research & development 2,969 3,337
Transport 516 108
Premises 7,707 7,888
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables 534 52
Other impairment of financial assets 0 0
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 8,374 7,955
Amortisation of intangibles 626 194
Non current asset impairments 10,357 6,198
Non current asset reversal of impairments 0 0
Audit fees 66 69
Other auditor's remuneration 2 0
Insurance & clinical negligence 761 618
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment** 0 208
Legal fees & insurance 488 488
Consultancy costs 1,796 2,134
Redundancy & termination benefits 492 1,118
Losses, ex gratia and special payments* (39) 41
Other 182 681

Total 189,259 178,700

Research & development costs as above 2,969 3,337
7,574 6,479

Total Research & Development expenditure 10,543 9,816

4.2   Audit fees
2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000

Audit services - statutory audit 51 50
Audit services - audit related regulatory reporting 15 19

Total 66 69

4.3   Other auditor remuneration

The fees paid or payable to the external auditor for non audit services are made up as follows;

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Benchmarking review 2 0

Total 2 0

There is no specified limitation of the auditors liability in the Trust's contract with its external auditors, the 
Audit Commission.

*Total losses reported in this note are prepared on an accruals basis and therefore do not compare to 
note 21. Further information is provided in note 13.4 regarding the loss incurred with Kaupthing Singer & 
Freidlander.
** Loss on disposal relates to disposal of protected assets.

Research & development staff costs previously shown within research & development expenditure are 
now disclosed within staff costs. 

Research & development employee costs included in staff costs
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5.   Operating leases

5.1   NHS FT as lessee

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments 415 276
Contingent rents 0 0
Less Sub-lease payments received 0 0

415 276
Total future minimum lease payments
Payable:
Not later than 1 year 258 234
Later than 1 year not later then 5 years 235 469
Later then 5 years 0 0

Total 493 703

5.2   NHS FT as lessor
2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000
Recognised as income
Rents 1,978 951
Contingent Rents 0 0

Total 1,978 951

Receivable:
Not later than 1 year 1,852 1,943
Later than 1 year not later then 5 years 7,258 7,237
Later then 5 years 22,968 24,772

Total 32,078 33,952

The Trust also has given a 3 year lease to the NHS Blood Transfusion Service for use of the Photophoresis Unit.

The Trust has granted a number of leases to the University of Manchester at the Withington site.  

The Trust has a lease arrangement with Siemens Medical Diagnostics Limited for the provision of immunological, 
haematological and chemistry analytical services.   There is also a lease for a gamma camera which was 
extended for an additional year.

The Trust entered into an agreement with The Christie Clinic whereby the joint venture leases from the Trust part 
of the new patient treatment centre for 20 years, effective from 15 September 2010.  
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6.   Employee costs and numbers

6.1  Employee expenses

2010-11
Re-stated

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Salaries and wages 77,374 69,285 8,089 74,186
Social security costs 5,371 5,371 0 4,776
Pension costs - defined contribution plans 
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions 
 - Directors 105 105 0 99
 - Other staff 8,315 8,315 0 7,649
Pension costs - other contributions 0 0 0 0
Termination benefits 492 492 0 1,118
Agency/ contract staff 1,273 0 1,273 1,676

Total 92,930 83,568 9,362 89,504

Capitalised staff costs are excluded from this note and total £202k (2010/11: £252k)

6.2   Average numbers of persons employed

2010-11
Re-stated

Total
Permanently 

Employed Other Total
wte wte wte wte

Medical and dental 201 121 80 196
Administration and estates 678 671 7 668
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 175 174 1 165
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 621 614 7 604
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 524 521 3 485
Bank and agency staff 34 0 34 49

Total 2,233 2,101 132 2,167

Capitalised staff numbers are excluded from this note and total 4 wte (2010/11: 5 wte)

6.3   Employee Benefits

6.4   Staff exit packages

Exit package cost band
Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed

Total number 
of exit 
packages by 
cost band

Number of 
compulsory 
redundancies

Number of 
other 
departures 
agreed

Total number of 
exit packages 
by cost band

<£10,000 2 10 12 0 4 4
£10,000    -   £25,000 2 12 14 2 1 3
£25,001    -   £50,000 0 5 5 6 1 7
£50,001    -   £100,000 0 1 1 1 0 1
£100,001  -  £150,000 0 0 0 0 1 1
£150,001  -  £200,000 0 0 0 0 1 1
£200,001  -  £250,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£250,001  -  £300,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£300,001  -  £350,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£350,001  -  £400,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
£400,001  -  £450,000 0 0 0 0 1 1

Total number of exit packages by type 4 28 32 9 9 18

Total resource cost (£000's) 47 451 498 331 798 1,129

The one item noted in the £400,001 - £450,000 category for 2010-11 relates to a permanent injury benefit.

2011/12 2010/11 

The Trust has made the following termination payments to staff during the year, the total cost of these is shown within operating expenses.

2011-12

2011-12

This relates to non-pay benefits which are not attributable to individual employees. There were no such benefits this year.
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6.5   Early Retirements due to ill-health

7.1   Better Payment Practice Code - measure of compliance

Number £000 Number £000

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 33,468 79,221 33,271 97,867
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 32,517 77,014 32,735 95,657

Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 97% 97% 98% 98%

Total NHS trade invoices in the year 2,297 18,452 1,850 25,444
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 2,159 17,450 1,719 23,660

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target 94% 95% 93% 93%

7.2.   The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000

Amounts included within other interest payable arising from claims made 
under this legislation from claims made by small businesses under this 
legislation 0 0

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation 0 0

The Trust has paid 87% of its trade payables within this new target (2010-11: 90%).

2011-12

During 2011/12 there were three early retirements (2010/11, three) from the Trust on the grounds 
of ill-health.  The estimated additional pension liabilities of these ill-health retirements will be 
£391,081 (2010/11 £185,708).  The cost of these ill-health retirements will be borne by NHS 
Pensions.

2010-11

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or 
within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later.

The DH requested that from 21.10.08 all NHS foundation trusts paid trade payables within 10 days of 
receipt of goods or a valid invoice . 
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8.   Finance costs and finance revenue

8.1   Investment revenue

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Interest on loans and receivables 117 92
Interest on available for sale financial assets 0 0
Interest on held-to-maturity financial assets 0 0
Other gains (investment properties) 0 0

Total 117 92

8.2   Finance costs
2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000

Interest on loans and overdrafts 836 380
Interest expense under finance leases 4 4
Interest on obligations under PFI contracts 54 87
Interest on late payment of commercial debt 0 0
Other interest expense 0 0

Total interest expense 894 471

Other finance costs 0 0

Total 894 471
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 9.    Intangible assets

 9.1 Intangible assets 2011-12 Software 
purchased

Software 
Internally 

generated
Licences and 

trademarks Patents
Development 
Expenditure Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2011 1,956 0 0 0 0 1,956
Additions - purchased 96 0 0 0 0 96
Additions - government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers (to)/from NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 2,052 0 0 0 0 2,052
Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2011 1,142 0 0 0 0 1,142
Charged during the year 626 0 0 0 0 626
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers to NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2012 1,768 0 0 0 0 1,768

Net book value at 31 March 2011 814 0 0 0 0 814

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2012 145 0 0 0 0 145
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2012 96 0 0 0 0 96
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2012 43 0 0 0 0 43

Net book value at 31 March 2012 284 0 0 0 0 284

Software licences purchased are stated at their depreciated historic cost and are not revalued. 

 9.2 Intangible assets 2010/11 Software 
purchased

Software 
Internally 

generated
Licences and 

trademarks Patents
Development 
Expenditure Total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Gross cost at 1 April 2010 1,949 0 0 0 0 1,949
Additions - purchased 7 0 0 0 0 7
Additions - government granted 0 0 0 0 0 0
Additions - Donated 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers (to)/from NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluations 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversals of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2011 1,956 0 0 0 0 1,956
Amortisation
Accumulated amortisation at 1 April 2010 948 0 0 0 0 948
Charged during the year 194 0 0 0 0 194
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassified as held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transfers to NHS bodies 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated amortisation at 31 March 2011 1,142 0 0 0 0 1,142

Net book value at 31 March 2010 1,001 0 0 0 0 1,001

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2011 491 0 0 0 0 491
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2011 265 0 0 0 0 265
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2011 58 0 0 0 0 58

Net book value at 31 March 2011 814 0 0 0 0 814
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10.    Property, Plant and Equipment
10.1    Property, Plant and Equipment 2011-12

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant & Transport Information Furniture Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology & fittings
dwellings & payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2011 17,942 95,725 0 20,924 40,708 0 5,600 0 180,899
Additions - purchased 0 4,064 0 3,262 1,091 0 359 0 8,776
Additions - donated 0 (664) 0 0 660 0 310 0 306
Impairments (2,932) (545) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,477)
Reclassifications 0 17,362 0 (22,856) 5,051 0 443 0 0
Revaluation 43 5,022 5 0 0 0 0 0 5,070
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale (111) 0 5 0 0 0 0 0 (106)
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (975) 0 0 0 (975)
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 14,942 120,964 10 1,330 46,535 0 6,712 0 190,493

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 0 9,333 0 0 22,486 0 3,701 0 35,520
Charged during the year 0 3,641 0 0 3,818 0 915 0 8,374
Impairments 0 10,357 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,357
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 (43) 0 43 0 0
Revaluation 0 (5,386) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,386)
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 (910) 0 0 0 (910)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 0 17,945 0 0 25,351 0 4,659 0 47,955

Net book value at 1 April 2011 17,942 86,392 0 20,924 18,222 0 1,899 0 145,379

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2012 14,247 60,973 0 1,330 10,514 0 1,264 0 88,328
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 77 0 0 0 77
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 826 0 0 0 826
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2012 695 42,046 0 0 9,767 0 789 0 53,297

Net book value at 31 March 2012 14,942 103,019 0 1,330 21,184 0 2,053 0 142,528

10.2    Property, Plant and Equipment 2010/11
Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant & Transport Information Furniture Total

excluding construction machinery equipment technology & fittings
dwellings & payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2010 23,391 72,931 314 19,153 36,776 0 5,411 0 157,976
Additions - purchased 0 753 0 17,320 2,871 0 717 0 21,661
Additions - donated 0 16 0 7,805 492 0 (148) 0 8,165
Impairments (5,449) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,449)
Reclassifications 0 22,241 0 (23,354) 1,493 0 (380) 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 (314) 0 0 0 0 0 (314)
Disposals 0 (216) 0 0 (924) 0 0 0 (1,140)
Gross cost at 31 March 2011 17,942 95,725 0 20,924 40,708 0 5,600 0 180,899

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2010 0 0 0 0 19,399 0 2,906 0 22,305
Charged during the year 0 3,152 12 0 3,996 0 795 0 7,955
Impairments 0 6,198 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,198
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Transferred to disposal group as asset held for sale 0 0 (12) 0 0 0 0 0 (12)
Disposals 0 (17) 0 0 (909) 0 0 0 (926)
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2011 0 9,333 0 0 22,486 0 3,701 0 35,520

Net book value at 1 April 2010 23,391 72,931 314 19,153 17,377 0 2,505 0 135,671

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2011 17,252 46,751 0 16,758 10,024 0 915 0 91,700
Net book value - finance lease at 31 March 2011 0 0 0 0 87 0 0 0 87
Net book value - PFI lease at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 944 0 293 0 1,237
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2011 690 39,641 0 4,166 7,167 0 691 0 52,355

Net book value at 31 March 2011 17,942 86,392 0 20,924 18,222 0 1,899 0 145,379

Land and buildings were revalued as at 31 March 2012.  The valuation exercise was carried out by an independent professional valuer.  Independent valuations have 
not been undertaken for the remaining classes of PPE as their carrying amount is deemed to be the fair value. 
The Christie Charitable Fund has provided funding for assets donated in year.
Within donated assets is £8,082k for buildings for a finance lease in respect of the Oldham satellite (2010/11: £7,703k) and the Salford satellite £6,191k (2010/11 £0).  
The trust holds a 40 year lease for the use of part of the building  located on land owned by Pennine Acute NHS Trust and which was paid for in full up front.  For the 
Salford satellite, which was similarly paid for in full up front, the trust has entered into a 60 year lease with Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust.

Land was revalued as at 31 March 2011.  The valuation exercise was carried out by an independent professional valuer.  Dwellings are now being marketed for sale as 
at 31 March 2011.  Independent valuations have not been undertaken for the remaining classes of PPE as their carrying amount is deemed to be the fair value. 

The Christie Charitable Fund has provided funding for assets donated in year.
Within donated assets is £7,703k for buildings for a finance lease in respect of the Oldham satellite (2009/10: £7,865k).  The trust holds a 40 year lease for the use of 
part of the building  located on land owned by Pennine Acute NHS Trust and which was paid for in full up front. 

A full independent valuation of the Trust's land and buildings was requested outside of it's approved cycle to enable these assets to be restated in light of the significant 
changes in market conditions seen since April 2008.

There are no restrictions placed on the use of the trust's donated assets as part of the offer of funding.
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 10.3   Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

The net book value of land and buildings at 31 March 2012 comprises:

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Freehold 103,688 96,631
Long leasehold 14,273 7,703
Short leasehold 0 0
Total 117,961 104,334

10.4   Protected and non protected assets

Total Land 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings Dwellings 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Net book value at 31 March 2012
- Protected assets 97,696 9,183 88,513 0
- unprotected assets 20,265 5,757 14,508 0

117,961 14,940 103,021 0

Net book value at 31 March 2011
- Protected assets 83,483 11,027 72,456 0
- unprotected assets 20,851 6,913 13,938 0

104,334 17,940 86,394 0

All other assets totalling £24,566k (2010/11: £41,045k) are unprotected.

The definition of a protected asset is defined within the Trust's letter of authorisation.

 10.5   Economic Lives of Non-current Assets

Min Life Max Life
Intangible assets Years Years
Software licences 2 5

Property, Plant and Equipment
Buildings excl. dwellings 5 74
Dwellings 14 39
Plant & machinery 1 15
Information technology 1 10

10.6   Impairments
Impairments charged in the year to the Statement of Comprehensive Income

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
Intangible 

assets
£000 £000 £000 £000

Impairments arose from:
Loss or damage from normal operations 0 0 0 0
Loss as a result of catastrophe 0 0 0 0
Abandonment in the course of construction 0 0 0 0
Unforeseen obsolescence 0 0 0 0
Over-specification of assets 0 0 0 0
Changes in market price 8,707 0 11,647 0

5,127 0 0 0
Other (specify) 0 0 0 0
Reversal of impairments 0 0 (150) 0
Total 13,834 0 11,497 0

10.7   Non-current assets held for sale

The Trust held £150k non current assets held for sale at 31 March 2012 (£302k at 31 March 2011). These assets were all dwellings.

2011-12

Write down to depreciated replacement costs on 
bringing a new asset into use

2010-11

The £5.1m write down incurred has arisen from the independent valution of the new Salford satellite building which was completed and brought 
into use in 2011-12.
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10.    Property, Plant and Equipment
10.8    Net book value of assets held under finance leases 2011-12

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant & Transport Information Furniture PFI Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology & fittings arrangements
dwellings & payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2011 0 0 0 0 124 0 0 0 2,381 2,505
Additions - purchased 0 0 0 0 (2) 0 0 0 96 94
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 122 0 0 0 2,477 2,599

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2011 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 1,144 1,164
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 412 437
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 45 0 0 0 1,556 1,601

Net book value at 1 April 2011 0 0 0 0 104 0 0 0 1,237 1,341

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 77 0 0 0 921 998
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net book value at 31 March 2012 0 0 0 0 77 0 0 0 921 998

10.9    Net book value of assets held under finance leases 2010/11

Land Buildings Dwellings Assets under Plant & Transport Information Furniture PFI Total
excluding construction machinery equipment technology & fittings arrangements
dwellings & payments

on account
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Cost or Valuation at 1 April 2010 0 0 0 0 79 0 0 0 2,381 2,460
Additions - purchased 0 0 0 0 28 0 0 0 0 28
Additions - donated 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Gross cost at 31 March 2011 0 0 0 0 107 0 0 0 2,381 2,488

Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2010 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 0 732 736
Charged during the year 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 412 428
Impairments 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reclassifications 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Revaluation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2011 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 1,144 1,164

Net book value at 1 April 2010 0 0 0 0 75 0 0 0 1,649 1,724

Net book value - purchased at 31 March 2011 0 0 0 0 104 0 0 0 1,237 1,341
Net book value - donated at 31 March 2011 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net book value at 31 March 2011 0 0 0 0 87 0 0 0 1,237 1,324
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11.   Investments

11.1   Investment in joint venture

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Carrying value at 1 April 2011 1058 0

Acquisitions in year 460 1,809
Share of profit/ (loss) 3,578 (751)
Impairments 0 0

Carrying value at 31 March 2012 5,096 1,058

11.2   Disclosure of aggregate amounts for assets and liabilities of jointly controlled operations

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Current assets 2,144 2,728
Non current assets 3,417 1,741

Total assets 5,561 4,469

Current liabilities (1,498) (1,451)
Non current liabilites 476 (1,857)

Total liabilites (1,022) (3,308)

Operating income 18,514 3,120
Operating expenditure (14,936) (3,871)

Surplus/ deficit for the year 3,578 (751)

12.   Inventories

2011-12 2010-11
Inventories £000 £000

Raw materials & Consumables 1,680 1,602
Work in progress 0 0
Finished goods 0 0

Total 1,680 1,602

Inventories recognised in expenses 22,079 20,415
Write down of inventories recognised as an expense 84 72
Reversal of any write down of inventories resulting in a 
reduction of recognised expenses 0 0

Total 22,163 20,487

On 15 September 2010 the Trust entered into an LLP agreement with HCA international Limited to establish 
The Christie Clinic LLP.  The acquisitions in year reflect the proportionate share of the Trust's equity 
investment.  The profit reflects the contractual share in the second accounting period of the LLP. The 
2010/11 figures reflect one off set up costs of the JV.

The figures in the note above are based on the audited acccounts of The Christie Clinic LLP to the end of 
December 2011 and the management accounts for the three months to the end of March 2012.  The 
proportion of the aggregate amounts reflects the contractual arrangements as set out in The Christie Clinic 
LLP.
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13. Trade and Other Receivables and Financial Assets

13.1   Trade and Other Receivables

2011-12 2010-11 2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000 £000 £000

NHS receivables - revenue 1,927 1,224 0 0
Other receivables with related parties 459 204 0 0
Non-NHS trade receivables - revenue 4,210 4,224 0 0
Non-NHS trade receivables - capital 0 0 0 0
Provision for impairment of receivables (641) (113) 0 0
Finance lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Operating Lease receivables 0 0 0 0
Prepayments 1,133 1,090 0 0
Accrued income 3,942 6,762 0 0
PDC dividend refund 7 0 0 0
Charitable fund receivables 1,878 8,580 0 0

Trade and other receivables 12,915 21,971 0 0

13.2   Provision for impairment of receivables 
2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000

At 1 April 113 112
Increase in provision 534 52
Amounts utilised (6) (31)
Unuses amounts reversed 0 (20)
At 31 March 641 113

13.3   Analysis of impaired receivables 

Ageing of impaired receivables 2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Up to three months 518 32
In three to six months 60 53
Over six months 63 28

641 113

Ageing of non impaired receivables past their due date. 2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Up to three months 4,065 3,755
In three to six months 130 9
Over six months 20 6

4,215 3,770

The increase in provision relate to disputed contractual transactions with The Christie Clinic.

Current Non-current
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13.4   Other Financial Assets

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

160 220

14.   Cash and cash equivalents

31 March 
2012

31 March 
2011

£000 £000

Balance at 1 April 21,135 30,704
Net change in the year 18,222 (9,569)

Balance at 31 March 2011 39,357 21,135

Broken down into:

Cash at commercial banks and in hand 38 53
Cash with the Government Banking Service 39,319 21,082
Cash and Cash Equivalents as in SoFP 39,357 21,135

The Trust invested £1m in a term deposit account with Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander in 2008, prior to the bank being put into 
administration.  Based on the Administrator's assessment in 2008/09 this asset was initially impaired to £500k (50p in the £ recovery) at 
31 March 2009.  The Administrator has since improved his assessment of the potential recovery and at 31 March 2012 this stands at 
£790k (79p in the £ recovery).   The total of declared and received dividends at 31 March 2012 amounts to £630k (63p in the £).  The 
£160k is the Administrator's assessment of the outstanding valuation yet to be received via dividends.   
Since the 1 April 2012 the Administrator has paid a further dividend of 10p and improved his assessment of further potential recovery  to 
81p in the £.
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15.1   Trade payables and other current liabilities

2011-12 2010-11 2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated

£000 £000 £000 £000

Receipts in advance 2,290 1,923 0 0
NHS payables revenue 1,868 1,615 0 0
Amounts due to related parties 1,091 1,160 0 0
Trade payables capital 1,141 3,344 0 0
Other trade payables 0 0 0 0
Other payables 8,164 4,572 0 0
Accruals 5,364 5,711 0 210
PDC dividend payable 0 82 0 0

19,918 18,407 0 210

Taxes payable 1,847 1,788 0 0

Total Trade and Other Payables 21,765 20,195 0 210

15.2  Other Liabilities

2011-12 2010-11 2011-12 2010-11
Re-stated Re-stated

£000 £000 £000 £000

Deferred Income 797 944 8,381 6,744

Total Other Liabilities 797 944 8,381 6,744

Current Non-current

The trust received a government grant for £4.2m to support the construction of a new clinical trials unit in the Oak Road patient treatment 
centre.  The grant agreement was entered into on 29 June 2010 and the terms and conditions of the deed binds the parties for a period of 40 
years from that date.  This was originally shown as deferred income in 2010/11.  With the adoption of IAS 20, this was restated as income in 
2010/11. 

Amounts due to related parties includes £1,066k (2010/11: £999k) outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2012.

Non current deferred income relates to research and development funds received to undertake clinical trials and other research projects 
which last in excess of one year.

Current Non-current
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16.   Borrowings

16.1   Borrowings 2011-12 2010-11 2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000 £000 £000

Bank Overdraft 0 0 0 0
Loan from Foundation Trust Financing Facility 911 738 19,177 16,262
Finance Lease Liabilities 21 20 42 64
Obligations Under PFI contracts 219 214 860 983

Total 1,151 972 20,079 17,309

Loan from Foundation Trust Financing Facility

16.2   Prudential borrowing limit

The Trust is required to comply and remain within a prudential borrowing limit. This is made up of two elements:

Financial Ratios Actual Limits Actual Limits

Minimum dividend cover 6.8 >1x 7.3 >1x
Minimum interest cover 17.4 >3x 23.2 >3x
Minimum debt service cover 7.5 >2x 10 >2x
Maximum debt service to revenue 1.1% <2.5% 0.9% <2.5%

£000 £000
Long Term borrowing set by Monitor 38,500 38,900
Working capital facility 10,000 10,000
Total Prudential Borrowing Limit 48,500 48,900
Actual borrowing in year long term 21,230 18281
Actual borrowing in year working capital 0 0

Further information on the NHS foundation trusts Prudential Borrowing Code and Compliance Framework can be found on the 
website of Monitor, the independent regulator of foundation trusts.

2011/12 2010/11

The table below sets out the trust's approved borrowing limit and the actual borrowing taken out. 

Current Non-current

The trust had an application for a £21m loan to support its investment in new buildings to improve patient access to services 
approved by the foundation trust financing facility. The loan was drawn down over two years with £3m drawn down in 2009/10, £14m 
in 2010/11 and the final tranche of £4m drawn down in 2011/12.  

Repayment of the loan principle commenced from 15th September 2011 on a bi-annual basis. The loan is charged at a fixed interest 
rate of 4.2% pa. The final repayment date is 15th March 2034.

The Trust has a Tier 1 long term borrowing limit which is based on our annual plan and in accordance with the tier 1 ratio set by 
Monitor.

2. The amount of any approved working capital facility.

1 .The maximum cumulative amount of long term borrowing that enables the NHSFT to remain within the limit set by Monitor.
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 17.   Provisions for liabilities and charges

31 March 2012 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

Pensions relating to former directors 0 0 0 0
Pensions relating to other staff 10 10 80 78
Personal injury claims 64 78 0 0
Other 315 80 372 389

Total 389 168 452 467

Pensions Pensions Personal Other Total
relating to relating to injury

former other claims
directors staff

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

At 1 April 2011 0 88 78 469 635
Change in discount rate 0 0 0 0 0
Arising during the year 0 9 50 235 294
Utilised during the year 0 (10) (50) (17) (77)
Reversed unused 0 0 (14) 0 (14)
Unwinding of discount 0 3 0 0 3

At 31 March 2012 0 90 64 687 841

Expected timing of cash-flows:
Not later than 1 year 0 10 64 315 389
Later than 1 year not later then 5 years 0 40 0 88 128
Later then 5 years 0 40 0 284 324

0 90 64 687 841

£392k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority as at 31 March 2012 in respect of the clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust (£470k 
at 31 March 2011).

Current Non-current

The above provision for personal injury is based upon information supplied by the NHS Litigation Authority. The associated contingent liability is shown 
under note 18.1.

The other provision includes a liability for an ill-health retirement based on a personal injury claim of £410k.
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18.   Contingencies at 31 March

18.1 Contingent Liabilities
 2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000

Personal injury claim (29) (21)

(29) (21)

18.2 Contingent Assets

The Trust has no contingent assets at the balance sheet date.

19.   Capital commitments

The contingent liability relates to personal injury claims based upon information supplied by the NHS 
Litigation Authority 

The Trust had  not entered into any contract capital commitments as at 31 March 2012 (£3,481k contracted 
at 31 March 2011).
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20.   Lease obligations

20.1    Finance lease obligations

Amounts payable under finance leases:

31 March 2012 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year 24 24 21 20
Between one and five years 44 68 42 64
After five years 0 0 0 0
Less future finance charges        (5) (8) 0 0

Present value of minimum lease payments 63 84 63 84

Included in:
  Current borrowings 21 20
   Non-current borrowings 42 64

63 84

20.2    Private Finance Initiative lease obligations

Amounts payable under PFI leases:

31 March 2012 31 March 2011 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

Within one year 267 268 219 214
Between one and five years 685 685 556 530
After five years 325 496 304 453
Less future finance charges        (198) (252) 0 0

Present value of minimum lease payments 1,079 1,197 1,079 1,197

Included in:
  Current borrowings 219 214
   Non-current borrowings 860 983

1,079 1,197

The finance lease obligations relate to the following private finance initiative schemes;

PFI 1. Provision of an Energy Management Service

Contract Start date: September 2003
Contract End date: August 2019

PFI 2. Provision of the Trust's clincial information system.

Contract Start date: December 2003
Contract End date: March 2013 - extension from March 2012

31 March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2011
£000 £000 £000 £000

PFI 1 PFI 2 Total Total

Within one year 864 504 1,368 1,473
2nd to 5th years 3,456 0 3,456 3,635
6th to 10th years 1,224 0 1,224 3,194

5,544 504 6,048 8,302

31 March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2012 31 March 2011

PFI 1 PFI 2 Total Total
Commitments in respect of the lease rentals of the PFI

£000 £000 £000 £000
Rentals due;
Within one year 171 96 267 268
2nd to 5th years 685 0 685 685
6th to 10th years 325 0 325 496

1181 96 1277 1449
less interest element (198) 0 (198) (252)

Net rentals due 983 96 1,079 1,197

20.4 Imputed finance lease obligations under 'on-SoFP' PFI commitments comprise:

Present value of minimum lease 
paymentsMinimum lease payments

Present value of minimum lease 
paymentsMinimum lease payments

20.3 The Trust is committed to make the following payments for the service element of on-SoFP PFI's obligations  until the commitment 
expires:
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21.   Losses and special payments

22.    Related Party Transactions

Ashton, Leigh & Wigan PCT
Bolton PCT
Bury PCT
Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale PCT
Manchester PCT
Oldham PCT
Salford PCT
Stockport PCT
Tameside & Glossop PCT
Trafford PCT
London Strategic HA
NW Strategic HA
Pennine Acute Trust
Western Cheshire PCT
Central & Eastern Cheshire PCT
Derbyshire County PCT
East Lancashire Teaching PCT

A separate Trustees Report and Accounts for the Christie Charitable Fund can be obtained from the Finance 
Department on 0161 918 7340.

There were 34 cases of losses and special payments (2010/110: 82 cases) totalling £143k (2010/11: £170k) paid during 
2011/12.

Note:  The total costs included in this note are on a cash basis and will not reconcile to the amounts in the notes to the 
accounts which are prepared on an accruals basis.

The Christie NHS Foundation Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.

During the year none of the Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties related to them has 
undertaken any material transactions with The Christie NHS Foundation Trust.

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party.  During the year The Christie NHS Foundation Trust has had a 
significant number of material transactions £6.0m (2010/11: £2.3m) with the Department, and with other entities for 
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department.  These entities are listed below:

The Trust has also received revenue (£6.4m) and capital monies (£0.3m) from The Christie Charitable Fund, for which 
the Trust is the sole corporate trustee and for which the Trust Board are responsible for the managment and 
accountability. 

The Christie Clinic LLP is a related party to the trust with net income/expenditure transactions totalling £6.7m and net 
receivables/payables totalling £1.5m. The Christie Clinic LLP is also a related party to HCA International Limited.

Other bodies within the Whole Government Accounts (WGA) boundary the Trust has had material transactions with are 
the NHS Pensions Scheme and the National Insurance Fund.
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23.   Financial instruments

IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39 require disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the 
period in creating or changing the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.  Because of the 
continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with local Primary Care Trusts and the way 
those Primary Care Trusts are financed, the Trust is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities.  Also financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing 
risk than would be typical of the listed companies to which IAS 39 mainly applies.  The Trust has 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and liabilities are generated by 
day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the Trust in 
undertaking its activities.

Liquidity risk

The Trust's net operating costs are incurred under annual service agreements with local Primary Care 
Trusts, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament.  The Trust has achieved a 
risk ratio for liquidity of 5 as defined by Monitor's compliance framework. This illustrates the liquidity 
risk to the Trust is low.

Interest-Rate Risk

All of the Trust's financial assets and financial liabilities carry nil or fixed rates of interest, the Trust is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant interest-rate risk. 

Foreign Currency Risk

The Trust has negligible foreign currency income or expenditure.
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 23.1   Financial Assets
2011-12 2010-11

£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0
NHS receivables 4,468 2,243
Non-NHS receivables 7,237 18,638
Cash at bank and in hand 39,357 21,135
Non current assets held for sale 150 302
Other investments 0 0
Other financial assets 160 220

Total at 31 March 51,372 42,538

23.2    Financial Liabilities

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

Embedded derivatives 0 0
NHS payables 3,870 2,215
Non-NHS payables 13,758 14,188
Borrowings 20,088 17,000
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations 1,142 1,281
Provisions under contract 0 0
Other financial liabilities 0 0

Total at 31 March 38,858 34,684

23.3    Maturity of financial liabilities

2011-12 2010-11
£000 £000

In one year or less 18,779 17,375
In more than one year but not more than five years 4,243 4,239

In more than five years 15,836 13,070

Total 38,858 34,684

The items listed above are classified as loans and receivables. Book value is equal to fair value.

The items listed above are classified as other financial liabilities. Book value is equal to fair value.
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24.  Movement in Public Dividend Capital
31 March 2012 31 March 2011

£'000's £'000's
Public dividend capital at start of period 61,116 61,116
New public dividend capital received 0 0
Public dividend capital repaid in year 0 0
Public dividend capital repayable 0 0
Public dividend capital written off 0 0
Other movements in public dividend capital in year 0 0

61,116 61,116

25.  Prior Period Adjustments

26.   Events after the reporting period

There were no post balance sheet events requiring disclosure.

The Trust has made a prior year adjustment so as to restate the 2010-11 comparatives for the change in accounting policy 
with regard to implementing International Accounting Standard 20 (IAS 20) 'Accounting for Government Grants and 
Disclosure of Government Assistance' . 
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Recommendation Actions required 

(specify “none”, if none 
required)

Action 
by date

Person 
responsible 

(Name and 
grade)

Comments/
action status

(Provide examples of 
action in progress, 
changes in practices, 
problems encountered 
in facilitating change, 
reasons why 
recommendation has 
not been actioned etc)

Change 
status 

(see key)

1. Creation of ILT referral form Creation of form and 
circulation

January 
2012

Hamid 
Sheikh 
(consultant)

In progress 3

2.  Improved communication 
between surgeons and oncologists

Presentation of data to 
surgeons and discussion 
in CSG

March 
2012

Hamid 
Sheikh 
(consultant)

In progress 2

3. Prophylactic antibiotics with  
chemotherapy

Add to Christie DG 
guidelines and circulate

December 
2011

Maggie 
Harris 
(consultant)

Actioned

3.1 Further investigation should 
be undertaken in collaboration 
with UHSM to ascertain why 
only 69% patients who had 
stent were referred for RT 

Collaboration with UHSM 
to develop a referral 
proforma for patients 
with bronchial stent with 
lung cancer

March 
2013

2

Clinical Audit Action Plan

Project title

Audit into the use of bronchial stents in 
lung carcinoma patients

Action plan lead

Name: Dr M Harris
Title: Consultant clinical oncologist
Contact: Drs Joanna Coote, Helen 
Lander and Hamid Sheikh

Ensure that the recommendations 
detailed in the action plan mirror those 
recorded in the “Recommendation” 
section of the report. The “Actions 
required” should specifically state what 
needs to be done to achieve the 
recommendation. All updates to the 
action plan should be included in the 
“Comments” section.
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3.2 Communication between 
hospital trusts, documentation 
of outcomes of stent insertion 
(facilitating follow-up audits) 
and referral processes could all 
be improved by development 
of a simple proforma kept in 
both Christie and UHSM notes. 
This could act as a direct 
referral letter for RT treatment 
and be completed on discharge 
from UHSM

3.3 The potential benefits (or 
not) of offering prophylactic 
antibiotics to patients receiving 
chemotherapy after stenting 
should be discussed within the 
lung disease orientated group 
and guidelines revised if felt 
appropriate

Discussion at the lung DG 
meeting as to the role of 
prophylactic antibiotics in 
patients with a bronchial 
stent undergoing 
chemotherapy

March 
2013

2

3.4 There should be a 
presumption for RT following 
stent insertion as first priority 
treatment. Any decision for 
alternative treatment that 
delays RT should be clearly 
justified in case notes

3.5 Documentation of WHO PS 
and TNM staging of patients 
with NSCLC is currently not 
complete

This will be improved with 
the introduction of 
standardised front-sheets 
as part of the clinical 
outcomes project

3

3.6 A reminder should be 
issued among the lung team as 
to the potential role of ILT in 
treating poor performance 
status patients

3.7 Results of this audit should 
be shared with The Christie 
lung team and cardiothoracic 
surgery department, UHSM

3.8 Re-audit Confirm start date with 
clinical audit department 
or re-register if changes 
to audit methodology

October 
2012

1
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Clinical Audit Action Plan

Project title

HIV testing in HIV related malignances 
(11/633)

Action plan lead

Name: E Kaczmarski
Title: Consultant microbiologist

Ensure that the recommendations 
detailed in the action plan mirror those 
recorded in the “Recommendation” 
section of the report. The “Actions 
required” should specifically state what 
needs to be done to achieve the 
recommendation. All updates to the 
action plan should be included in the 
“Comments” section.

Recommendation Actions required 

(specify “none”, if none 
required) 

Action by 
date

Person 
responsible 

(Name and 
grade)

Comments/action 
status 

(Provide examples of 
action in progress, 
changes in practices, 
problems encountered in 
facilitating change, 
reasons why 
recommendation has not 
been actioned etc)

Change 
status 

(see key)

1. All patients with AIDS-defining 
cancer to have history 
documented and HIV test 
performed

Assessment of 
familiarity of specialist 
treatment groups with 
guidelines being 
ascertained 

July 2012 Drs Makin 
and 
Kaczmarski

Specialist treatment 
groups have been 
contacted by Dr 
Makin 
Responses awaited

2. Patients with other cancer 
diagnoses known to be 
associated with increased HIV 
prevalence to have history 
documented and HIV test 
performed

Assessment to gain 
better understanding 
of barriers to 
implementing 
guidelines being 
explored with clinicians

July 2012 Drs Makin 
and 
Kaczmarski

Specialist treatment 
groups have been 
contacted by Dr 
Makin 
Some initial 
responses indicate 
hesitancy about 
broaching difficult 
issues. Further 
responses awaited
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3. Patients found to be HIV +ve 
should be referred for shared care 
with an HIV specialist

September 
2012

Drs Makin 
and 
Kaczmarski

Acceptability and 
feasibility of this 
needs Christie 
clinician buy in

4. Management of patients with 
HIV should be in accordance with 
BHIVA guidelines

September 
2012

Drs Makin 
and 
Kaczmarski

Acceptability and 
feasibility of this 
needs Christie 
clinician buy in

5. Re-audit three months after December 
2012

Dr Labari
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